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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Youzan Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “Youzan” or “We ") collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make this report or any statement
herein misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A E

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

MEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2021 2020 Changes
“EZ-F C"Z°EZE b= 1
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARETT %
Revenue Wz 1,569,991 1,820,723 (13.8)%
Gross profit EF 952,263 1,082,084 (12.0)%
Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%) 60.7 59.4
Loss before tax PRIQATE 1B (3,251,782) (592,282) 449.0%
Loss for the year rFEEBE (3,293,020) (545,653) 503.5%
Loss attributable to owners KNABEE AELEE
of the Company (2,509,498) (294,671) 751.6%
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KBERFE-RETER
depreciation and amortization HiERIEE REER)
(unaudited) (876,549) (319,764) 174.1%
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year B EE B BUBRS
(unaudited) R f1E REBER) (904,037) (303,921) 1975%
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS MR AEE
As at 31 December
nr+ZB=+—H
2021 2020 Changes
—E-—F —Z-EF 13
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARETT %
Current assets BB E 4,903,752 8,107646 (39.5)%
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,969,223 4,104,834 (52.0/%
Total assets BERLE 6,872,975 12,212,480 (43.7)%
Current liabilities Gk II=RE 5,097,324 7,058,846 (27.8)%
Non-current liabilities FERBas 438,828 523,635 (16.2)%
Total liabilities BREEHE 5,536,152 7582,381 (27.0)%
Net current (liabilities)/assets nE (BR) /EEFE (193,572) 1,048,800 (118.5)%
Equity attributable to owners KAB BB NELEDR
of the Company 1,346,466 3,858,795 (65.1)%
Non-controlling interests JEEE IR (9,643) 771,304 (101.3)%
Total equity R AB R 1,336,823 4,630,099 (71.1)%
FEERERAT —S-—EER 005



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, and
| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all shareholders
and express my appreciation to all the staff of the Group for
their unremitting efforts.

2021 is a year full of challenges. The continuous epidemic
impacted the economic development of China and the world,
slowed down the growth of consumer goods retail sales in
China, and brought significant challenges to the operation
of offline stores in China. However, digital commerce is still
moving on and remained as the driving force of our economic
development and the improvement of efficiency in the coming
years.

As a merchant service company, Youzan's mission is to “help
every merchant who values products and services success
in commerce”. We intend to help a rich number of Youzan
merchants to succeed in commerce firstly through direct SaaS
products and services, then after reaching a certain scale, to
integrate with data intelligence technology to provide more
simple and inclusive products and services to help more
merchants to succeed in commerce going forward. Against
such mission, we are persistent in achieving this long term path.
As for the short-term implementation strategy, we would like to
share with all of you our following thoughts.

1. For business, we focus on “expanding all-industry value”
and "deeply exploring vertical industries”.

All-industry value: The “social e-commerce” business
focusing on Youzan WeiMall is a matured business.
We will continue to give full play of the advantages of
comprehensive products, system stability and leading
experience to provide merchants with private domain
operation solutions, including products and operation
services, in various industries, and help them to connect
to multiple platforms such as WeChat and Xiaohongshu,
bring business volume up through social connections,
and increase the single customer value and repurchase
rate through membership operations;
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
THERE=

Vertical industries: The vertical business represented
by new retail has escorted over 1,000 companies very
closely in 8 major industries and multiple sub-sectors in
the past few years and has precipitated solutions that
represent the “best practices” in different industries.
In view of this, new retail will continue its rapid growth
in the next year or two and help more customers to
succeed in commerce. We believe this is the best
solution for retail industry to enter the inventory
market amid a slowdown in growth of total retail sales
of consumer goods. With multi-channel marketing,
promotion and distribution, and membership operation
as the three major growth engines, we will continue
to create incremental value in an all-round way and
facilitate retail digital upgrade from public domain to
private domain, from in-store to out-store, and from
front-end to back-end. In the local life service sector, we
will also implement the same strategy in two vertical
businesses, namely Youzan Beauty and Youzan Education,
to help merchants making successes in the beauty and
education industries.

In the past three decades, the operation focus of China's
retail is “emphasising on the production, circulation
and marketing of merchandise”, and the core of retail
informatisation is the informatisation of merchandise
(ERP). The operation focus of future retail will surely be
“concentrating on customer service, repurchase and
fission”, and the stress of future retail digitalisation will
be on those customers who are “SCRM". For anyone
who can better integrate the new SCRM based on
the social relationship chain with the existing ERP to
help merchants upgrading their operating modes and
complete customer closed loop operation, they are the
best merchant service providers.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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For operation, we go back to business “fundamentals” by
constructing and stringently practicing” the principles of
operation and management” that are in line with industry
characteristics.

1) Formulating product design and research and
development investment plans according to
operating plans, and clarifying the timetable for
business to achieve “positive operating cash
flow"” and “complete recovery of investment and
profitability”.

2) Building up the commercialisation capability to
continuously improve the operation efficiency for
the marketing and sales system.

3) While providing higher value through in-depth
services and operations, able to obtain reasonable
returns at the same time.

4) Dynamically balancing the long-term investment in
the middle- and back-ends.

In future, we will pay more attention to the fundamentals
in regular patterns and principles of business operation,
and specify output while investing. With the control over
the pace of investment in innovative business, we will
focus our energy and resources on what can create value
and return for customers.

For organisation, we comprehensively improve per capita
output by focusing on building up capability to improve
organisational efficiency and organisational capability.

In 2022, we set for ourselves the eight-word forward
policy: Be Stable To Grow, Be Precipitated In Ability ((2%E
B > JJUBRBE 7J). Youzan people are no longer obsessed
with high-speed growth but going for steady progress to
ensure even more stable growth, as well as maintaining
continuous accumulation of individual and organisational
capabilities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

Finally, | would like to express my gratitude to all of you for
your trust and supervision in the past. During the process, we
have made proud achievements, but also blessed with ample
experience and lessons learned. What is more important than
achievements and lessons is we have really made the goal of
“turning invigoration into harvest and growing up in adversity”,
because it is still too remote to achieve our goals but we
endeavour and soldier on.

Heartfelt thanks to all of you!

Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, the PRC, 29 March 2022
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ABOUT YOUZAN
FRBEE

The Company is an innovative investment holding company
with limited liability committed to providing online and offline
e-commerce solutions which also known as SaaS (Software
as a Service) and various payment services for merchants.
Our Group consists of the Company, Shenzhen Zhongchuang
Internet Service Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen
Innovationpay Co., Limited) and its subsidiaries, Country Praise
Enterprises Limited ("CPE") and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“CPE Group”) and Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Youzan
Group”). We are principally engaged in the merchant service
and payment service business in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). As of 31 December 2021, our operation consists
of five operating segments, namely (i) merchant services —
provision of a variety of SaaS products and comprehensive
services in the PRC through Youzan Group; (i) third party
payment services; (i) Onecomm - provision of third party
payment system solutions and sales of integrated smart point
of sales devices; (iv) general trading and (v) others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our business is divided into five core segments: social
e-commerce, new retail, beauty industry, education and global
market.

The social e-commerce business provides merchants with
private domain operation solutions in various industries,
helping merchants to build online stores through all channels,
supporting mini-programme stores such as WeChat, Alipay,
Baidu, QQ, Xiaohongshu, Weibo stores and H5 stores that is
browser accessible. For merchants who are using our social
e-commerce solutions, they can carry out refined membership
operations to increase consumer unit price and repurchase rate.
Through the sharing and fission tools we provide, merchants
have benefited business volume increase in social e-commerce.
We attach great importance to help merchants to build their
abilities to acquire traffic through content platforms, and help
merchants to expand business and customer acquisition
scenarios through connecting with more content platforms.
Merchants can use our products and services to sell in live
streaming on WeChat video accounts, Weibo, Xiaohongshu and
other platforms, and improve their operation efficiency. The live
streaming on WeChat witness significant increase in transaction
volume and have gradually become an important channel for
merchants to operate private domain traffic.

In May 2021, we upgraded our retail business to a business
brand named “Youzan New Retail”: through the tri-growth
engines, multi-channel marketing, promotion and distribution
and membership operation, can create incremental value and
facilitate the digital upgrading of retail in an all-round way from
public domain to private domain, from in-store to out-of-store
and from front-end to back-end. Youzan New Retail focuses on
8 major industries and multiple sub-sectors, including clothing
and footwear, department store, maternal and infant, bakeries,
beverages, pharmaceuticals, beauty and home appliances,
and accompanies over 1,000 companies very closely. It has
precipitated product and service solutions that represent the
“best practices” in different industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB

Youzan Beauty achieved a rapid growth in 2021. By the end of
2021, there are more than 5,000 paying merchants in Youzan
Beauty. Youzan Beauty has served merchants under the sub-
divisions of beauty industry, including beauty and body beauty,
aesthetic medicine, health care, manicure and eyelash art and
hair styling. We have in-depth knowledge and understanding
of the business scenarios of merchants in the beauty industry,
and provide leading-standard software products and one-stop
solutions in the beauty and nail art sectors. We have built a
matured and large-scale direct sales team and channel partner
network in the beauty industry, laying a solid foundation for
expanding in the beauty industry market.

Youzan Education provides integrated business management
solutions for educational institutions. Under the impact of
the dual reduction policy in 2021, Youzan Education has
actively adjusted its development direction, and mainly served
educational institutions of children’s quality education and
adult’s vocational training. It continuously optimised marketing
scenarios focusing on improving the functions of educational
affairs, student management and home-school services, and
upgraded the multi-campus management capabilities for chain
institutions. In addition to improving product capabilities, Youzan
Education also continued to upgrade the service content of its
offline education and training institutions to help education and
training institutions increasing student enrollment volume. In
2021, the number of educational and training institutions using
Youzan Education nearly doubled year-on-year, among which
the proportion of chain customers increased and has captured
regional leading customers in the art, sports and camps sub-
sectors.

AllValue, an international business product, is a one-stop cross-
border e-commerce SaaS tool for building independent website.
It provides independent systems and merchant services for
cross-border e-commerce sellers, helping them to quickly build
consumer-direct e-commerce websites, carry out advertising
and social marketing, operate private domain traffic and connect
to global payments and logistics. It enhances the contribution
of single customer value and accelerates new growth in the
international market by using the tools and methods of refined
customer operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

We provide merchants of different capacities with matching
products and services to better meet their business needs.
Chain merchants can subscribe chain products to improve
the operational efficiency of headquarters and chain
stores. Merchants with personalised needs can subscribe
our standardised SaaS products and realise customised
development based on the PaaS capabilities of Youzan Cloud.
In 2021, there were around a hundred merchants using our
customised services, covering multiple sub-sectors including
beauty, transportation, department store, apparel, fast-
moving consumer goods, food, maternal and infant and
baking. The customisation covers multiple areas, such as,
store transactions, store upgrade, membership marketing and
data empowerment. In order to improve our ability to provide
integrated solutions for large-scale retailers, we launched the
K100 plan to provide integrated solutions to deeply explore
leading merchants in the industry, these services include
standard Saa$S, system customisation and operation consulting
services covering seven major industries, such as apparel,
beverages, beauty and fast-moving consumer goods.

In 2021, we launched WowShop, a SaaS product, which is a
digital marketing tool for small businesses for all industries and
mainly focuses on merchants with physical stores in lower
tier cities. It helps merchants with marketing in customer
acquisition, membership management and store operation, so
as to achieve business growth. WowShop has served a total
of 10,000 paying merchants, including retail merchants such as
fresh fruit, supermarkets and maternal-and-infant stores, as well
as catering merchants including light meal, tea and cake baking.

In 2021, in order to meet merchants’ expanding operation
needs, we have also launched new SaaS products one after
another, including Youzan WeCom Assistant, Youzan Salespeople
Assistant and Youzan CRM.
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Youzan WeCom Assistant is a private domain traffic operation
solution applied to WeCom, empowering merchants in
customer solicitation, activation and operation. Merchants can
accumulate customer assets in WeCom and drive activeness
and conversion rate of customers. In 2021, there were more
than 1,500 merchants adopted Youzan WeCom Assistant for
private domain traffic operations.

Youzan Salespeople Assistant is a solution empowering
salespeople of merchants. It helps salespeople building up
private domain customer base and increase sales efficiency to
achieve sales growth for both salespeople and merchants.

Youzan CRM is a multi-channel customer management solution
which helps merchants to integrate and process data from
multi-channel marketing, private domain operation as well as
multi-platform business and build up a customer operation
system. By leveraging years of accumulated data capabilities,
Youzan CRM helps merchants to set customer levels and
rights intelligently, and realises automated marketing according
to customer labels, which improves merchants’ precision
management of customers.

In 2021, Youzan Cloud published the independent vertical
industry solution of “Youzan Hotel” together with “Smart
Oder”, a hotel PMS system service provider. Youzan Hotel is
an in-depth integration of cooperation partner and Youzan Cloud
PaaS capabilities, and it is also a milestone in the continuous
exploration of Youzan Cloud PaaS on the industry paths.
On the basis of retaining the existing capabilities of Youzan
WeiMall, Youzan Hotel has expanded hotel management, room
type management, sales plans, room rate calendars, hotel
packages, hotel decoration and construction, and new media
channels such as Douyin/Xiaohongshu. In addition, Youzan
Hotel cooperates with template market developers to provide
Youzan Hotel a variety of hotel and homestay decoration
templates, which not only can quickly build a personalised
store for merchants with online booking functions and brand
message, but also possess the ability to operate multi-format
e-commerce.
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We continue to optimise our merchant service solutions and
meet the online and offline operation needs of merchants by
providing a series of value-added services.

In 2021, Youzan Guarantee has been upgraded to a new brand
named “Youzan Worry-free Shopping” to help merchants
solving the problems of pre-sale trust and aftersale guarantee
in private domain scenarios, support distribution, intra-city retail,
live streaming and other scenarios, and facilitate merchants
to improve transaction conversion, realised cost reduction and
efficiency improvement.

The distribution market connects merchandise providers
“suppliers” and traffic providers “distributors”, facilitating
suppliers to increase the channels for promotion and customer
acquisition and increasing sales, and helping distributors to
enhance traffic monetisation efficiency by obtaining more
merchandises. The transaction value in the distribution market
continued to grow yearon-year in 2021.

Advertising service is a value-added service provided by
Youzan for merchants, which helps merchants to obtain brand
exposure, fans and orders through the precise deployment of
advertisements, and helps merchants to enhance conversion
efficiency from public domain to private domain by integrating
the private domain operation solutions provided by Youzan.
Youzan Advertising has developed rapidly, serving more than
1,000 brand merchants, helping merchants to realise closed-
loop operations from advertising to transactions, and improving
long-term ROL.

We continue to expand the ecosystem and cooperate with
partners to provide more value to merchants.
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In 2021, Youzan App Market continued to explore new demands
of various operation scenarios such as new retailers on the
basis of meeting the demands of existing merchants, develop
industry and scenario solutions, provide merchants with more
abundant and high-quality application solutions, and create a
rich supply market covering 7 major sub-markets, 27 secondary
categories, over 500 application tools and more than 2,000
store decoration templates. With the continuous growth and
enrichment of applications and demands, as well as efficiency
improvement in matching supply and demand of platform, the
subscriptions in the plug-in market, mini-game market and
template market have all increased significantly yearon-year.

Youzan Service Market provides one-stop private domain
integrated operation services for merchants. In 2021, the
services we provided for merchants were divided into 5
categories, including decoration shooting, store operation,
marketing promotion, live streaming, corporate training and
customer service. By the end of 2021, more than 600 service
providers have entered our Service Market.

In 2021, Youzan Cloud released the “Cloud Development”
platform, which standardises product design, application
development and after-sales operation and maintenance.
Developers can configure rich component libraries simply by
writing core business logic codes, then Youzan Cloud automates
the development of all underlying technologies, making
application development faster, more flexible and more stable.

We launched the ONE strategy in May 2021, and cooperated
with some system service providers to provide online and
offline data integration services for merchants. In 2021, tens
of service providers established cooperation through the
ONE strategy, including Burgeon in the retail ERP sector and
Xiaoguanijia in the education sector. We are willing to work with
more partners to serve merchants and help them carrying out
digital upgrade.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the gross merchandise
volume generated by the merchants through Youzan's solutions
reached approximately RMB98.3 billion, of which the gross
merchandise volume from channels other than Kuaishou
increased by approximately 30% vyear-on-year as compared
with that of 2020. The proportion of gross merchandise
volume of store SaaS business increased significantly to 28%,
representing a year-on-year increase of over 100%. The average
annual sales of a single merchant exceeded RMB1.1 million,
representing a continuous increase year-on-year.

We have 88,395 paying merchants, of which approximately 66 %
are those subscribing for e-commerce SaaS; approximately 34 %
are those subscribing for store SaaS, including Youzan Retail,
Youzan Chain, Youzan Beauty, Youzan Education and WowShop
etc.; representing over a doubled growth yearon-year. The
number of new paying merchants in 2021 were 47686.

We consider our employees as our most important assets
and competitive advantage. We highly value the contribution
of every employee and we are dedicated to develop a
sound organisation enabling outstanding talents to become
successful. By the end of 2021, we have 4,494 employees,
with 42% in sales, 37% in product and technology, 15% in
service and operation and 6% in management and support. Our
sales teams are deployed in eight cities including Hangzhou,
Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Wuhan, Nanjing and
Chengdu. We have set up a KA sales team in 2021 to provide
new retail solutions for merchants in the fashion, department
stores, fast-moving consumer goods, maternal-and-infant,
pharmaceuticals and other industries.
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DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

1.

Reasonably investing in sales and R&D as well as strictly
and precisely controlling expenses to achieve the primary
business goal of 2022 to increase per capita output as
well as improve operating cash flow and operation result.

Serving more merchants through all-industry products,
providing in-depth industry solutions through vertical
industry products, so as to create a more efficient sales
system and acquire new paying merchants focusing on
target customer base.

Focusing on understanding customer needs, creating
more explicit value for merchants through products and
services, enhancing merchant satisfaction, and optimising
the structure of merchants to achieve higherquality
retained revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2021, the Group’'s revenue was approximately
RMB1,569,991,000 (2020: approximately RMB1,820,723,000),
representing a decrease of about 13.8% as compared to 2020,
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue for
merchant solutions.

The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown by major
products and services for the years indicated.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020 Changes

—E-—F TECEF b= ]

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

AR®Fx AREFIT %

Subscription Solutions ke 973,813 1,047,951 (7.1)%
Merchant Solutions R BR R 2 584,778 757511 (22.8)%
Others Hith 11,400 15,261 (25.3)%
Total i 1,569,991 1,820,723 (13.8)%
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Revenue (Cont'd)
Subscription Solutions

Revenue from subscription solutions primarily include
subscription fees for SaaS products and a per-transaction
cloud service fee for each extra order beyond a pre-specified
order number threshold that consumers made to such
merchants through SaaS products. Revenue generated from
subscription solutions was approximately RMB973,813,000
(2020: approximately RMB1,047951,000), represented a year
on-year decrease of 71%, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in cloud service fees to approximately
RMB94,983,000 (2020: approximately RMB225,909,000).
Apart from cloud service fees, revenue from other subscription
solutions increased by 6.9%.

Merchant Solutions

The Group offers merchant solutions which comprise
comprehensive value-added services addressing merchant
needs that arise in daily operations. Revenue from merchant
solutions mainly include transaction service fee charged for
transaction service, service fees charged for Youzan Distribution,
Youzan Worry-free Shopping (formely known as “Youzan
Guarantee”), as well as Youzanke. Transaction service fee and
service fees for Youzan Distribution, Youzan Worry-free Shopping
and Youzanke are determined with reference to the GMV
generated by merchants through solutions.

In 2021, revenue from merchant solutions was approximately
RMB584,778,000 (2020: approximately RMB757511,000),
representing a decrease of 22.8%, which was primarily due to
the decrease in revenue generated from transaction services
to approximately RMB302,969,000 (2020: approximately
RMB431,882,000) since Hangzhou Youzan Technology Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Youzan"), one of the Group’s subsidiary, ceased its
transaction service in February 2021.

Others

In 2021, revenue from other businesses was approximately
RMB11,400,000 (2020: approximately RMB15,261,000),
representing a decrease of 25.3%, mainly due to the decrease
in the revenue from providing catering services which were
ceased since May 2021.
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Cost of Sales tHE RS
The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs by nature ~ NERZEFIIFIREE M E 29 B4R
for the years indicated. 4o
For the year ended 31 December
HE+-A=t+—HLEE
2021 2020 Changes
:g:_ﬁ — 7 _Z E @mg
Percentage Percentage
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) %
ARETR %  ARETE 15t % %
Staff costs AIH% 173,618 28.1% 156,845 21.2% 10.7%
Server and SMS costs PR 28 RRSMSRE 2 11,488 18.1% 106,448 14.4% 4.7%
Transaction costs RBHAE 233,974 379% 422,465 572% (44.6)%
Costs of goods sold HEERMA 6,754 1.1% 7101 1.0% (4.9)%
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets ~ FAEEERE 7475 1.2% 7369 1.0% 14%
Technology services expenses B AR 21,874 3.5% 10,844 15% 101.7%
Contracted customer services TNRFREEY
expenses 7298 1.2% 7841 1.1% (6.9)%
Taxes and surcharges MRIE RN 8,335 1.3% 7067 1.0% 179%
Insurance premium costs RRERA 22,075 3.6% - 0.0% 100.0%
Others Hith 24,837 4.0% 12,659 1.6% 96.2%
Total st 617,728 100.0% 738,639 100.0% (16.4)%
In 2021, the Group's cost of sales was approximately RZ-ZT_—F > AEBHEHERETN AR A

RMB617728,000 (2020: approximately RMB738,639,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 16.4%, which was
mainly because transaction costs decreased by 44.6% from
approximately RMB422,465,000 in 2020 to approximately
RMB233,974,000 in 2021, due to Hangzhou Youzan ceased
its transaction service in February 2021. Meanwhile the
decrease of cost of sales was partially offset by the following
factors: (i) staff costs increased by 10.7% from approximately
RMB156,845,000 in 2020 to approximately RMB173,618,000
in 2021 due to the increase in staff numbers, (i) insurance
premium costs increased by approximately RMB22,075,000
since the Group started to purchase freight insurance from
insurance institutions and provide to merchants who registered
with Youzan Worry-free Shopping from December 2020, and
(i) technology services expenses increased by 101.7% from
approximately RMB10,844,000 in 2020 to approximately
RMB21,874,000 in 2021, primarily attributable to the business
expansion of customised services.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

In 2021, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB952,263,000 (2020: approximately RMB1,082,084,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 12.0%, due to the
decrease of gross profit from subscription solutions as well as
the decrease of gross profit from merchant solutions.

In 2021, the Group's gross profit margin increased from 59.4%
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For the year ended 31 December
H#E+_-_A=1+—HILEE
2021 2020

& T
Gross Gross
profit profit
margin margin
RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%)
ARBTT EME% ARET T EMEY
Subscription Solutions B SNES 696,684 71.5% 796,548 76.0%
Merchant Solutions HER: P ES 255,520 43.7% 282,776 373%
Others Hith 59 0.5% 2,760 18.1%
Total Hast 952,263 60.7% 1,082,084 59.4%

Subscription Solutions SRR F

In 2021, the gross profit of subscription solutions was
approximately RMB696,684,000 (2020: approximately
RMB796,548,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
12.5%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in the revenue of cloud service fees. Apart from cloud
service fees, the gross profit from other subscription solutions
increased by 5.4%.

In 2021, the gross profit margin of subscription solutions
decreased from 76.0% in 2020 to 71.5% in current year,
primarily due to the decrease in the revenue of cloud service
fees.
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Merchant Solutions

In 2021, the gross profit of merchant solutions was
approximately RMB255,520,000 (2020: approximately
RMB282,776,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
9.6%, which was mainly due to the increase in insurance
premium costs since the Group started to purchase freight
insurance from insurance institutions and provide to merchants
who registered with Youzan Worry-free Shopping from
December 2020.

In 2021, the gross profit margin of merchant solutions increased
from 37.3% in 2020 to 43.7% in current year, mainly due to the
increase in the gross margin of transaction services benefited
by cost structure optimization, partially offset by the decrease
in the gross margin of Youzan Worry-free Shopping since the
revenue generated by provision of service under Youzan Worry-
free Shopping decreased whilst the insurance premium costs
increased.

Others

In 2021, other gross profit was approximately RMB59,000
(2020: approximately RMB2,760,000), and the gross profit
margin decreased from 18.1% in 2020 to 0.5% in 2021.

Expenses and others

In 2021, the Group recorded a 22.7% yearon-year increase
in selling expenses to approximately RMB959,106,000 (2020:
approximately RMB781,882,000). The increase was mainly due
to the increase in sales personnel which led to the increase in
sales staff costs and travelling expenses, and the increase in
channel commission expenses.

In 2021, the Group recorded a 38.9% yearon-year increase in
administrative expenses to approximately RMB335,312,000
(2020: approximately RMB241,438,000). It was mainly due to
the increase in management and functional support personnel
which led to the increase in administrative staff costs and the
increase in legal and professional fees for the listing application
of Youzan Technology Inc.

In 2021, the Group recorded a 36.9% yearon-year increase in
other operating expenses to approximately RMB609,294,000
(2020: approximately RMB445,165,000). It was mainly due
to the increase in research and development in new retail
business by launching four new products such as VWowShop,
Youzan CRM, Youzan WeCom Assistant and Youzan Salespeople
Assistant in 2021.
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Expenses and others (Cont'a)

In 2021, the Group recorded a 14.6% vyearon-year decrease
in equity-settled share-based payments to approximately
RMB53,130,000 (2020: approximately RMB62,197,000).

In 2021, the Group recorded a 17.1% yearon-year decrease in
investment and other income to approximately RMB63,786,000
(2020: approximately RMB76,937000). It was mainly due to
the receipt of one-off compensation income of approximately
RMB5,327000 in 2020 and the decrease in government grants
in 2021.

In 2021, the Group recorded other net losses of approximately
RMB2,186,924,000 (2020: other net gains of approximately
RMB1,569,000). It was mainly due to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill and
intangible assets of approximately RMB2,184,139,000 in 2021.

In 2021, the Group recorded a 18.8% vyearon-year decrease
in finance costs to approximately RMB22,642,000 (2020:
approximately RMB27886,000). It was mainly due to the
decrease in interest on other loan from Baidu which were
settled in May 2020, partially offset by the increase in the
interests expense of lease liabilities in relation to leases of
office promises.

The Group also presents alternative performance measurement
indicators. Adjusted performance is an alternative performance
measurement indicator which is used to align internal and
external reporting, identify and quantify items that the
management considers to be significant and reflect how the
management assesses period-on-period performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Non-HKFRS measures

IFERMBFHRSLERGE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HILEE

2021 2020
g —ZTTEZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Loss from operations S ESIE (3,252,681) (563,235)
— Equity-settled share-based payments —REEBE RO 78 53,130 62,197
— Depreciation of property, — X B REREITE
plant and equipment 21,528 19,192
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FRAEEENE 53,372 47445
— Amortization of intangible assets —mIE EE 124,964 193,143
— Other losses/(gains), net —HEs48, (Ks) > 358 2,186,924 (1,569)
— Investment and other income —KEREMIEA (63,786) (76,937)
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KRR ERIENITER
depreciation and amortization (unaudited) BIHRIES 18 R ER) (876,549) (319,764)
2021 2020
-5 —Z=-ZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®BTT
Loss for the year KEERIE (3,293,020) (545,653)
- Equity-settled share-based payments —RREEBE RO TR 53,130 62,197
— Amortization of intangible assets —mFEEEH 124,964 193,143
— Impairment of goodwill —EERE 1,622,083 1,047
— Impairment of intangible assets —EBEEERE 459,553 -
— Impairment of property, plant and —E B E R EM
equipment and right-of-use assets ERESERE 102,503 -
— Listing and other one-off expenses - REM—KMER 45,495 14,316
- Adjusted for tax on non-HKFRS —IEE B IR SR
adjustments (unaudited) FBETHRFEAE
CRiREIZ%) (18,745) (28,971)
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year KAERFEEIFESBHBRS
(unaudited) BB CREER) (904,037) (303,921)

Note: These unaudited non-HKFRS measures should be considered
in addition to, not as a substitute for, measures of the Group's
financial performance prepared in accordance with HKFRS. In
addition, these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Annual Impairment Test - CGU

The Company has engaged an independent professional valuer
to assess the recoverable amounts the Group’s cash generating
units (“CGU") as at 31 December 2021, for the purpose
of annual impairment test in accordance with accounting
standards.

Cash generating unit

REELE

FEREANR - REEEEN
RABDEZEBUFXEEEMUN GRS
EEBA (ReEELEM) R T " —
TZR=t+—BzZARIkEE  LARE
ReEEEMNFERERR-

Valuation date

MG EAEH

Third party payment services (“CGU A")
FZFEZORE ((REeEEEEMNAL
Merchant services (“CGU B")

ERRT (BREESENIB))

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method, which is defined as the present value of the future
cash flow expected to be derived from the cash generating
units. When conducting the valuation, the valuer has taken into
account factors including but not limited to expected revenue
of each cash generating units provided by the management,
expected cost and other expenses of each cash generating
units, capital expenditure, operation plan, discount rate

31 December 2021
—E-H+HA=+—H
31 December 2021
B -F+ZA=+—H

REELBEUZAWOIEREEERMIR
REMBEAABERECREE  £HRE
BEEEABPELEEREEEBMUZRK
RERBZRE -ETHER HEMEE
k#EZRNZ BEEARIBAEEERM
WEREELEEMUNTRERAWA S TBHARAE
REAMFAS  BEARFH  BEE REEH
ABENMER - RTEERREHNT SR
AEERRRRRRGEEFED S - NETEE

calculated by the valuer, the current conditions of the market & sTHEIPARANSENT !
and the Group and estimated trend in the future provided by an
industry expert, etc. The parameters adopted in the valuation
process were as follows:
Budgeted
revenue CAGR
in the 5-year Terminal Pre-tax
forecast growth rate  discount rate
R FMBE
FERI PRy FEHA
EEEERE
ERE KEBIERE GRS
CGU A
HWEEFEAA 11.75% 2.22% 20.70%
CGUB
HREES BB 11.67% 2.22% 19.16%
FEAEERAT —S-—FER 025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying amount of
approximately RMB762,288,000 (2020: RMB762,288,000) had
been allocated to Third Party Payment Services CGU (CGU A).
Computer software was allocated to this CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rates used to discount
the forecast cash flows for CGU A is 20.70% (2020: 20.1%).
As at 31 December 2021, in CGU A within third party payment
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated based
on value in use exceeded carrying value by approximately
RMB125million (2020: RMB71 million). The pre-tax rates used
to discount the forecast cash flows of CGU A change from
20.70% to 22.86% (2020: 20.1% to 22.5%) would remove the
remaining headroom.

CGU B in 2020

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,622,083,000 had been allocated to
Merchant Services CGU (CGU B). E-commerce applications,
distribution network and trademarks are allocated to this CGU.

In 2020, the pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash
flows for CGU B is 20.5%. As at 31 December 2020, in CGU
B within merchant services segment, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use exceeded carrying value (after
gross up adjustment of goodwill attributable to non-controlling
interests) by approximately RMB1,215 million. The pre-tax
used to discount the forecast cash flow of CGU B change from
20.5% to 24.4% would remove the remaining headroom.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CGU B in 2021

Due to the challenging market competition in the e-commerce
platform industry and the continuing impact brought by the
unexpected prolonged COVID-19 pandemic, the Group's
merchant services segment recorded significant losses for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and the business performance
did not achieve the expected results.

Based on the past business performance and market
change, the management considers that the future growth
of the Group's merchant services will be subject to various
uncertainties, including but not limited to the expected growth
rate of China’s economy and the consumer market, the growth
prospects of the Group's targeted merchant base, the Group's
ability to identify and provide new services for the changing
market demand, and the intensive competition within the
industry.

The evolving regulatory requirements and fast-changing market
environment on operating e-commerce and service platforms
in the PRC also present challenges to the market in which the
Group operates.

All of the aforesaid factors would lead to a downward
adjustment of the value in use of the Group's CGU B. Based on
the above market development, the management has prepared
cash flow forecast derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by the directors for the next five years.

As a result, impairment losses of RMB1,622,083,000,
RMB459,553,000, RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000 were
recognized for CGU B's goodwill, intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Although the Group has recognised the impairment of goodwill
and relative assets for CGU B, the Group has also actively
taken measures to improve operating cash flow and operating
performance by establishing a more efficient sales system and
performing strict and precise cost control, and increase per
capita output by rationally arranging sales and R&D investment,
which is intended to stabilize and enhance the future business
performance of CGU B.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning, aged 39, joined the Company in April 2018.
He was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company in May 2018 and was further
appointed as the chairman of the Board in February 2021. Mr,
Zhu is the founder and the chief executive officer of Youzan
Group (comprising Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries) and is responsible for
formulation of the overall development planning and business
strategies as well as the daily management of Youzan Group. He
is one of the pioneer user experience designers in China. Before
establishing Youzan Group, Mr. Zhu was a product experience
planner of Alipay and an interaction designer of Baidu and has
profound experience in the realm of internet, including but not
limited to online payment, e-business, internet communities
and online search services. He graduated from Henan Radio &
Television University with a diploma. He is also the executive
officer of China Prepay Group Limited (“China Prepay”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Cui Yusong, aged 35, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
technology officer of the Company in May 2018. Mr. Cui is the
co-founder and the chief technology officer of Youzan Group. Mr.
Cui is responsible for technology reserve, artificial intelligence
and product strategic planning as well as management of the
research and development (“R&D") team of Youzan Group.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Mr. Cui served in a number of
R&D or R&D management positions in Alipay, Alibaba Cloud
and Taobao. Mr. Cui graduated from Shaoxing University with
a bachelor degree in management. He is also the technology
officer of China Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

028

BITES

KREXRE 3955 RZE— N\EFELNAME
REBRZE—NFHEEZEAER
BHTEEREEHTE IR —
FCREE— TP EAABEEETIR KL
SHEEER (RHEENEBRAR (FITE
Qima Holdings Ltd.) XEKM B A HMK) <~
B AREENTE TasFEEEE
ErEREEERIREFHEBUKBEE
Bo-maPhERREZAPERETMz—o
ERIEEEEF  KRTEGHRESZNE
EnBRREAMKEERERAM RE
s (BEEARRGE LN - BETH
B -EBMETERE LERRS) B ELE
K -FEEXENTHEEESRAZLES
BEZZ - HARETLAATEEEZENW
J& /A B]China Prepay Group Limited (I China
Prepay |) Z¥\1TE ©

EEMEE 355 RS- N\FENFMA
KRB MR ZE—N\NFHEBEZEAR
REMTESREERMNE - EXLEARE
BEBECZHAABARBERME &4
SEERFEEREMEE ATSER
EmREAIULRAERHEBRZKEER-
MABBEER EXLEBNZNE M
EENRAERETETHEXAZEEEN
floEftERBENBEIESRR AR
BETBG - HRANTETAARABES
E /B /A SIChina Prepay 2 i E ©

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENESREIEE Y BRETS

Mr. Yu Tao, aged 34, joined the Company in April 2018. He was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company in May 2018 and was further appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in February 2021. Mr.
Yu graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor degree in
accounting and is a member of each of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada. Mr. Yu joined Youzan Group in 2014 as
the chief financial officer and is responsible for financial planning
and management, investment and investor’s relations of Youzan
Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he worked in Ernst &
Young, Shantui Equipment Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd. and Alipay.
Mr. Yu is also the financial officer of China Prepay, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, aged 40, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
service officer of the Company in May 2018. She is responsible
for management of the help center, talent development
and organisation operation. Ms. Ying graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University with a bachelor degree in
economics and a master degree in engineering, majoring in
science management and engineering. Ms. Ying joined Youzan
Group in 2014 as chief service officer and is responsible for
the management of client services and contract compliance
of Youzan Group. Ms. Ying is also the service officer of China
Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Ms. Ying worked in Lexmark
Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FJEB3TENH# GRII) BIEAE),
Huarun Sun Hung Kei Real Estate (Hangzhou) Co. Ltd. (FEE#T
EBEEME () BEAE)and Tang Shuo Education (ERE%

B).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 59, has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2003.

Dr. Fong has over 25 years of extensive experience in various
sectors of the financial industry including direct investment,
project and structured finance and capital markets, having
worked for KPMG, the American International Group in Asia,
and the ING Group in Beijing and Hong Kong. In his last position
within the ING Group, he served as a Director of the Baring
Capital (China) Management Limited that managed ING Beijing
Investment Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Fong has been the Chief Financial Officer of Citychamp
Watch & Jewellery Group Limited, a company listed on the
HKSE, since September 2004 and Company Secretary since
February 2007 He has also served as Director of its subsidiary,
Bendura Bank Liechtenstein, since September 2016. Besides,
he served as a Non-independent Non-executive Director of
Cordlife Group Limited, a company listed on the Singapore
Exchange from January 2019 to November 2021.

Dr. Fong holds a Bachelor's degree, majoring in Management
Sciences (Economics) from the Lancaster University, United
Kingdom. He also holds three Master's degrees including a
Master of Business Administration from the Warwick University,
United Kingdom, a Master’s degree in Investment Management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
and a Master's degree in practicing accounting from the
Monash University, Australia. He has a Doctorate in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a Juris Doctor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a CFA charter holder, a member of the Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts, a fellow of the CPA (Australia), a fellow of the
HKICPA, a member of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants, Australia, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors.

Dr. Fong attended executive courses in Harvard Business
School, Said Business School of Oxford University, and Lee
Kuan Yew School of Public Policy of National University of
Singapore.
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Mr. Deng Tao, aged 67 has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since May 2018. He obtained
his bachelor degree at the Beijing Foreign Studies University
and his executive master of business degree at the China
Europe International Business School. Mr. Deng has more
than 26 years of working experience in human resources
management. He commenced his career of human resources
by working in a Chinese joint venture company established by
Hewlett-Packard Company in 1984 and served in that company
for around 11 years. He then successively served in a number of
human resources managerial positions in different multinational
companies including but not limited to Maersk Line Limited,
Allied Signal Inc., AstraZeneca Plc, Whirlpool Corporation and
Google. Mr. Deng joined the Company on 8 May 2018.

Mr. Li Shaojie, aged 44, has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since March 2022. He
obtained his bachelor's degree at Henan University. Mr. Li
founded and managed Henan Rich Flag Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* (AR ZEEFEBKMBRAE)in 2007 and is
currently the chairman of Rich Flag Sci & Tech Group Co., Ltd.*
GRIEREEEAR/AS]) . Mr. Li has about 20 years of ample
experience in Internet brand marketing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Guan Yu, joined Youzan Group in July 2016 and served
as the chief marketing officer of the Company, responsible
for the overall market strategy, business decision-making,
business growth, sales channels establishment, sales strategy
formulation and business objectives advancement. Prior to
joining Youzan Group, she was the general manager of the
Internet division of Artron (Culture) Group and Artron. Net and
participated in the preparation and establishment of the Palace
Museum Cultural Relics Protection Foundation. She graduated
from the University of Bath in United Kingdom with a master
degree in economics.
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Mr. Huan Fang, joined Youzan Group in September 2018
and served as the chief operating officer of the Company,
responsible for business data assessment, product
commercialization, market investment, sales channel policy,
resources allocation, etc. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he was
the deputy president of Hillhouse Capital Group, responsible
for the investment in high technology, enterprise services,
artificial intelligence and intelligent manufacturing, leading/
participating in over 20 projects with an investment amount
of more than US$1 billion. The typical cases include Youzan
Group, NIO INC, YITU, Horizon Robotics and other well-known
technology companies. He graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in energy and
power engineering and finance.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Xia, is currently the director of securities affairs of
the Company. She served as the investment director of Beijing
Shangyin Investment Consultancy Co., Limited (F$R&%E JER)
KEZHBIRAR) from March 2010 to June 2018. Ms. Han
graduated from Renmin University of China in June 2020 with a
master of business administration degree. Ms. Han possesses
experience in financial and operational management and is
familiar with the daily operations, internal management and
financial management of the Group. Ms. Han was appointed as
a company secretary of the Company on 18 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is a senior manager of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. He has over 9 years
of experience in corporate secretarial field. Mr. Cheng is
an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng graduated from the University
of Queensland in Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
in finance in December 2010. Mr. Cheng was appointed as a
company secretary of the Company on 24 December 2021.
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The Directors present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 17 August
1999 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). Its shares have
been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 April 2000.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The Group's operation consists of five operating segments,
which are (i) merchant services — provision of a variety of SaaS
products and comprehensive services in the PRC through
Youzan Group; (ii) third party payment services; (ii) Onecomm —
provision of third party payment system solutions and sales of
integrated smart point of sales devices; (iv) general trading and
(v) others.

An analysis of our Group’s revenue, segment result and assets
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in notes 8
and 12 respectively to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

CUSTOMERS & SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 5% (2020: less than 5%), while the five largest
suppliers of our Group accounted for approximately 54.3%
(2020: 43.6%) of our Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier of our Group accounted for approximately 18.9%
(2020: 13.8%) of our Group's total purchases. As far as the
Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their associates, or
any shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's share capital) had a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers and suppliers of
our Group.
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RESULTS

Details of our Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out on pages 141 to 142 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
(2020: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB711,527000 (2020:
approximately RMB1,751,530,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no bank borrowings
(2020: Nil).

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITY

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 51 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Details
of contingent liability of the Group are set out in note 50 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no pledge of assets
(2020: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC,
its transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in Renminbi. The Group monitors its foreign
currency risks and will consider hedging significant currency
exposures should the need arises.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, details of material
investments or acquisition of capital assets please refer to note
25 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Details of material investments or acquisition of capital
assets after the reporting period are set out in note 54 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 629 (2020: 426)
trademarks registered, of which all trademarks have been
approved. At the same time, the Group had 52 software
copyrights (2020: 132) and 9 patents (2020: 15) in the PRC.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has 4,494 employees
(2020: 3,603). Employees are remunerated according to their
performance and work experience. In addition to basic salaries
and retirement scheme, staff benefits include performance
bonus, share options and share awards etc.. The Directors
believe that good quality of its employees is a company asset
which affects growth and improves profitability. The Group
recognizes the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance
their skills and knowledge.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no material
outstanding litigation.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 44 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the directors confirm that the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2021, there were no outstanding
convertible bonds.

WARRANTS

As at 31 December 2021, there were no outstanding warrants.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Options Scheme

The Company adopted one share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), namely the share option scheme adopted on
12 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme 2019").
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Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2019 during

the year ended 31 December 2021:

Share Option Scheme 2019
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Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercise
Position held Asat  Grant during during during during Asat Exercise  Exercisable Exercisable
within the Company  Date of grant 112021 the year theyear  theyear the year 31122021 price HKS ~ from until
|
RZBZ-% -
REQFREZEE  RHA8 -A-B ERR EREN  EREE ERGE T2RST-R i@ ATk Az
[Note 1) (Note 1)
(3t1) (K1)
Name of Selected Directors
EREELY
Mr. Zhu Ning Executive Directorand ~ 9.9.2019 100,000,000 - - - - 100,000,000 HK$100 1 July 2020 30 June 2024
chief executive officer
RERE ATESRERYAE W “F-TELA-E ZEIRERA=TH
Mr. CuiYusong Executive Director 99.2019 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 HK$0.90 1 July 2020 30 June 2024
ERALE EGEE 08T “F-FELA-B TETREAASTA
Mr. YuTao Executive Director 9.9.2019 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000 HKS0.90 1 July 2020 30 June 2024
AEkE anEs 090Ar “ECSEtE-H  ZERIMERAZHA
Ms.Ying Hangyan Executive Director 992019 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000 HKS0.90 1 July 2020 30 June 2024
33 EGEE 08T “FEELA-E ZEIRENA=tA
Subtotal 9.9.2019 150,000,000 - - - - 150,000,000
gt
Qther employees (include 9.9.2019 150,154,000 - (2,750,000) - 16,600,000) 140,804,000 HKS0.75 1 July 2020 30 June 2024
2 senior management
of the Groupl
AHES (BEFEEDL 05En “ECRFtA-B ZECMERASHE
BREREAS)
Total 300,154,000 - (2,750,000) - 16,600,000) 290,804,000
5
Note 1: Vesting schedule
W1 BEEEXR
1July 2020 2%
“ZTZEEA-H
1 July 2021 25%
“ZT-EtE-H
1July 2022 25%
“ZTTETE-H
1 July 2023 26%
Z2Z-EtE-H

Details of the Share Option Schemes are set out in Note 48(a)

to the consolidated financial statement.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the “Adoption Date”) aimed
to recognise the contributions by eligible persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Adoption Date unless early terminated by the
Board. For details of these share awards, please refer to Note
48 to the consolidated financial statement.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 47 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 146 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders. However, the
Company’'s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately RMB6,098,424,000 may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has placed new
shares under general mandate during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-Laws and the laws in Bermuda in relation to the
issue of new shares by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’'s subsidiaries and associates are
set out in notes 23 and 24 respectively to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Details of the Group's Share Option Schemes and Share
Award Scheme are set out in note 48 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 53 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, other than the
continuing connected transactions of the Group set out below
which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,
no related party transactions disclosed in note 53 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in
Chapter 14A of the listing Rules with respect to the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions entered into
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Loan Agreement 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into a
loan agreement (the "“Loan Agreement 2022") with
Youzan Technology, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to extend the unsecured loan
facility up to HK$480 million granted to Youzan Technology
(inclusive of the principal loan amount and interest),
subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.

Major terms
Date:
Lender:

Borrower:

Loan amount:

Terms:

Interest rate:

Repayment
terms:

Other terms:

040

31 December 2021
The Company

Youzan Technology, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability.

Not exceeding HK$480,000,000 at
any time every year, inclusive of the
principal loan amount and interest.

From 1 January 2022 (the “Loan
Effective Date”) until 31 December
2024.

Youzan Technology shall pay interest
on any outstanding principal amount
of the loan at the interest rate of 2%
per annum above the Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate as quoted by The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited (“Prime Rate")
from time to time, which shall be
calculated and charged on a monthly
basis.

Youzan Technology shall fully repay
any outstanding principal and any
accrued but unpaid interest and any
other monies due under the Loan
Agreement 2022 on the expiry of the
term.

The Company has the sole discretion
to refuse to advance any part of the
loan if the Company is not satisfied
with the use of the loan specified in
the notice of drawdown issued by
Youzan Technology.
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Proposed annual cap amounts for the Loan Agreement
2022

The proposed annual caps in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Loan Agreement 2022 for each
of the three financial years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 is HK$480,000,000, HK$480,000,000 and
HK$480,000,000 respectively. The aforementioned annual
caps are determined with reference to, among others,
the current business plan of Youzan Technology Group.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Youzan Technology
is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
which was owned as to 51.90% by the Company.
Whitecrow Investment Ltd. is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and it holds more than 10% in Youzan
Technology as at the date of this report. Therefore, Youzan
Technology is a connected subsidiary of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Reasons for and benefits of entering into the Loan
Agreement 2022

To facilitate Youzan Technology Group’'s business
expansion, which includes product development,
marketing and the sales, the Company expected that
a HK$480,000,000 annual cap for the Loan Agreement
2022 is appropriate, after considering the business
development plan of Youzan Technology.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the Loan Agreement 2022
has been entered into after arm’s length negotiations and
are on normal commercial terms and which are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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Internal Control Measures
The Company has established the following internal
control measures in relation to the Loan Agreement:

(i) Designated personnel from finance department will
perform regular check to review and assess whether
the loan is provided in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreement; (i) The audit
committee will review the report prepared by the
management of the Company based on the continuing
connected transactions conducted at least twice a year;
and (iii) The independent non-executive Directors and
external auditors will review and report on the continuing
connected transactions pursuant to Rule 20.53 and 20.54
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The 2020 Third Party Payment Services
Framework Agreement

2020 Third Party Payment Services Framework
Agreement

Date: 12 March 2020

Parties: (i) Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Gaohuitong”); and

(i) Hangzhou Youzan

Terms: The 2020 Third Party Payment Services
Framework Agreement is of a term
commencing from the date on which
the conditions precedent contained in
such framework agreement were fulfilled
(i.e. 12 May 2020)) and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Scope of Beijing Gaohuitong shall provide
services: the following types of third party
payment services to Hangzhou Youzan
subject to the terms and conditions
of the third party payment services

framework agreement:
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PEAEERRAT

SRS —FER

offline integrated payment
transactions services, including
but not limited to, point of
sales-based business handling
services for bank cards for offline
transactions;

online payment services for
“WeiMall", including but not
limited to express checkout,
Wechat Pay and Alipay services;

cross-border RMB payment
settlement services for “WeiMall”
overseas merchants;

physical and virtual prepaid cards
services for merchants of Youzan

Group; and

other payment related services.
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Pricing policy
and payment
terms:

The service fee under the third
party payment services framework
agreement is determined principally
by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the upstream channel
costs and operating costs incurred
in relation to the provision of the
similar payment services by Beijing
Gaohuitong and (ii) the quotation
arrangement of similar payment
services by Beijing Gaohuitong to
independent third parties. In any
event, the service fee charged under
the third party payment services
framework agreement shall not (i) be
less favourable than those available to
independent third parties for similar
guotation arrangement of similar
payment services provided by Beijing
Gaohuitong; or (ii) be lower than the
upstream channel costs and operating
costs incurred in relation to the
provision of similar payment services
by Beijing Gaohuitong plus a markup
of 20%.

Under the terms of the third party
payment framework agreement,
the upstream channel costs and
operating costs incurred in relation
to the provision of payment services
will be payable by the end users
directly to Beijing Gaohuitong and the
remaining service fee will be payable
by Hangzhou Youzan. The end users
of the internet payment services have
entered into separate agreements
with Beijing Gaohuitong in relation to
the payment of the service fees.
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Proposed caps:  The annual caps in respect of BEfR: BEZT-_-_F+=H

Reasons for and
entering into
the 2020 Third
Party Payment

Framework
Agreement:

PEAEERRAT

the transactions contemplated
under the 2020 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement”) for each of the
three years ended 31 December
2022 is RMB80,000,000,
RMB110,000,000 and
RMB150,000,000 respectively.

Following the integration of
Youzan Group's “WeiMall"”
and its other ancillary and
specialised e-commerce
platforms with the Group's
third party payment services
infrastructure, the Group has
been providing third party
payment services on all online
stores opened with “WeiMall”
as the platform’s authorised
payment service provider since
2017

The Directors consider that the
terms of the 2020 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement (including the
proposed annual caps) and
the transactions contemplated
thereunder are on normal
commercial terms after arm'’s
length negotiations and in the
ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, fair
and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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Advertising Service Framework Agreement
The Services Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Hangzhou Youzan (an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Services Framework Agreement with Hangzhou
Aiguang Network Information Service Co., Ltd.
(“Hangzhou Aiguang Network”), pursuant to which
Hangzhou Youzan shall provide various services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network, including but not limited
to workplace leasing, computer and server leasing,
customer service advisory, administrative management
consulting and other services. The major terms of the
Services Framework Agreement are as follows:

Date: 31 July 2020
Parties: () Hangzhou Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

Terms: The Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from 1
August 2020 and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
the following types of services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network subject
to the terms and conditions of the
Services Framework Agreement:

Scope of
services:

1. Workplace leasing services
Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
office space and equipment for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network's
staff to carry out its day-to-day
business activities;
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Pricing policy

and payment

terms:

FEEEARAT T —FEER

Computer and server leasing
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
computer and server facilities for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network to
carry out its day-to-day business
activities;

Customer service advisory
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall assist
Hangzhou Aiguang Network in
resolving customer enquiries;

Administrative management
consulting services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
consultation services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network concerning
administrative management
issues;

Other services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
other miscellaneous services
to Hangzhou Aiguang Network
pertaining to its day-to-day
operations.

Workplace leasing services

The service fee was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to and shall not be lower
than the quotations obtained (from
time to time) from Independent Third
Parties in relation to similar services
provided by them.
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Proposed annual
caps:

Computer and server leasing
services, customer service advisory
services, administrative management
consulting services and other service.

The service fees was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the operating costs
incurred in relation to the provision of
the services by Hangzhou Youzan to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network and (ii)
the service fees of similar services
provided by the Group (including
Hangzhou Youzan) to Independent
Third Parties (if any).

The service fees shall not be lower
than (i) the service fees charged to
Independent Third Parties for similar
services provided by the Group
(including Hangzhou Youzan) and (ii)
the operating costs incurred in relation
to the provision of the services
by Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network plus a markup of
5%.

The proposed annual caps in respect
of the transactions contemplated
under the Services Framework
Agreement for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2022 is
RMB9,100,000, RMB29,000,000 and
RMB29,000,000 respectively.
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The Advertising Service Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Tianjin Youzan Information Technology
Co., Ltd. ("Tianjin Youzan") (an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the Advertising
Service Framework Agreement with Hangzhou Aiguang
Network, pursuant to which Tianjin Youzan shall provide
advertising services to Hangzhou Aiguang Network. The
major terms of the Services Framework Agreement are
as follows:

Date:

Parties:

Terms:

Scope

of

services:

Pricing
and

policy
payment

terms:

PEAEERRAT

SRS —FER

31 July 2020
(i)  Tianjin Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

The Advertising Service Framework
Agreement is of a term commencing
from 1 August 2020 and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Tianjin Youzan shall provide advertising
services to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network subject to the terms and
conditions of the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement. Pursuant to
the agreement, Tianjin Youzan will
assist Hangzhou Aiguang Network
or its designated third parties in
obtaining traffic for its shopping
platform.

The service fees for the service
contemplated under the Advertising
Service Framework Agreement are
determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations between the
parties with reference to the service
fees of similar services provided by
the Group (including Tianjin Youzan) to
Independent Third Parties.

EEIRBIELR 5%

A TECEFLRA=+—H ' XZ
BEEERMARRAR (REEE))
(FRABZzEEIIFEEWBAT) &
PO B2 2L M A8 5T 3L & &5 RS HE 2R 19
FEIL R2EERANNE RS
BIRHESRT - BSRBERGZ
ZEBEFRAT

B “ECZEtYRA=1—H

EIEba i il XEEE, &

(i) HUNSEBE

FH BERBERBHZZEHRE
AV Rl =V i
E__F+”A=+—HL
(BEERMA) °

BHE&EE: RRAEEERMAMNERES

REBRSRY HERETE

ERBERBZZ RRKIE

troREBmHE R2BEERT

PIMERERIEEE

FoTAEBYT AR

%
=
%0

EERBERHHEE T HE
TZRBZBBEDERH
& - AINARSERER (BEX
ERB) MBI = HRHE
BRRH 2 RBERCATH
EREBEE-

049



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEUREE

050

In any event, the service fees
charged under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement shall not be
lower than the service fees charged
to Independent Third Parties for
similar services provided by the Group
(including Tianjin Youzan).

Proposed annual The proposed annual caps in respect
caps: of the transactions contemplated
under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement for each
of the three years ending 31
December 2022 is RMB10,000,000,
RMB29,000,000 and RMB29,000,000
respectively.

As at the date of signing the Services Framework
Agreement and the Advertising Service Framework
Agreement, Hangzhou Aiguang Network was held
(through contractual arrangements) as to 100% by Guang
Holdings Limited (“Guang Holding”). Guang Holdings,
in turn, was owned as to approximately 48% by Mr. Zhu
Ning and his associates.

Mr. Zhu Ning is an executive Director and substantial
Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Zhu Ning is a
connected person of the Company. Therefore, the
transactions contemplated under both the Services
Framework Agreement and the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Reasons For and Benefits of Entering into The Services
Framework Agreement and The Advertising Service
Framework Agreement

The Company considers that the provision of services
to Aiguang Group, which the Group owns a minority
interest, could foster business integration between the
Group and Aiguang Group, which in turn is ultimately
beneficial to the value of the Group.

The Directors consider that the terms of the Services
Framework Agreement (including the proposed annual
caps) and the Advertising Service Framework Agreement
(including the proposed annual caps) and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are on normal commercial
terms after arm’s length negotiations and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation from Auditor of the Company and the
Independent Non-executive Directors in relation to the
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’'s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group as mentioned above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor's
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered

into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined
in the Listing Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing the transactions on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions
involve the provision of goods or services by the
Group;

3. were entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing

the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap.
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Placing of
New Shares Under General Mandate on 17 April
2020

On 17 April 2020, a total of 1,240,000,000 Shares have been
placed by the placing agents to not fewer than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.64 per Share under general mandate
(the "Placing of New Shares”). The following table sets forth
the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Placing of New
Shares as of December 31, 2021.

A_E_EFNA+EHIIRE—RE
EEMIRNEEZFEMIERREZ
&

A TE_EFENBE+tEtH O EEREE
BiE—RIEREESRRKRH0.64BTZ
BEEBRAARA LR ANLARE ARE S H
1,240,000,0008% B¢ 15 (TBC&E#MARH1) o F
R EE_E_—F+_A=+—H=XK
NEEREFHRM ZERIERR

Expected
timeframe for
Original allocation of Remaining Remaining utilising the
the net proceeds as disclosed in Actual use of net  balance of net Actual use of net  balance of net remaining
the announcement dated proceeds up to proceeds as at proceeds up to proceeds as at unused net
8 April 2020 and 17 April 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2021  Proceeds
HECZ-ZE RZEZZE HE_Z—_-& RZEZ-& BRBRTAD
ARA_Z_ZF£MAN\BR +ZB=+-Hz +=ZB=+—-Hz +ZB=+—-Hz +ZB=+—-Bz FRFREHES
“E_ZENA+tRAZAR FIERIEEEZ FIERIEREZ FIERIESEZ FIERIEREZ 382 TREAE R
PR E ZFIeRIBREZ RIADE BERAR BT ARER BERAR B T AR ER #E
() Approximately HK$705.4 Approximately Approximately Approximately Nil N/A
million will be used for HK$615.22 HK$90.18 million HK$90.18 million
system upgrade, product million was used to be used for the was used for the
development and marketing for the original original purpose original purpose
expenses purpose
#7705,400,0008 TCAR R MF  £9615,220,000%7c  #990,180,000%87T  £990,180,0008T & TEH
R ERREREHES RERREA RERRRHA RERRE A
(Il Approximately HK$78.7 million  Approximately Approximately Approximately Nil N/A
will be used as general HK$62.66 million HK$16.04 million HK$16.04 million
working capital of the Group was used for the to be used for the was used for the
original purpose original purpose original purpose
#4978,700,0008 TAEAEEZ  #62,660,00087T  #16,040,00087T  #916,040,00087T & TEH
—REEEE RERREA RERRRHA RE AR

FEEEARAT T —FEER
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Exercise of
Warrants

In June 2020, a total of 520,000,000 Warrent Shares have
been issued and the net proceeds from the exercise of
Warrant Shares received by the Company, after deducting all
related costs, fees, expenses and commission, amount to
approximately HK$374,400,000.

TERRIEREE ZFTRIEFE

RIEZZEFXA ARBEZETAEH
520,000,000 58 Bg #58 B& 19 > I HO BRFA
BEEERES - EBER -HIRESR AQE
T EB IR BB DTSN FRENS
374,400,000 77, °

Expected
timeframe for
Original allocation of the net Remaining Remaining utilising the
proceeds as disclosed in the Actual use of net  balance of net Actual use of net  balance of net remaining
announcement dated 6 February proceeds up to proceeds as at proceeds up to proceeds as at unused net
2015 31 December 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2021  Proceeds
HEZZ”-ZH RIEZEE BHEZZ—_-& RZEZ-F RGBT
BA-F—-REZRAAHZ +ZB=+—-Hz +ZB=+—-Bz +ZBA=+—-Hz +ZB=+—-Hz HRHAERES
NEMRBZPIEIEREZ FIRREEEZ FIERIEEEZ FIRRIBEEZ FIRRIBEEZ B2 TR
Fia ERAE B T AEER BRAR BT AR #E
Approximately HK$374.4 million will be  Approximately Approximately Approximately Nil N/A
used as general working capital and as HK$259.55 HK$114.85 HK$114.85
funds for future business development million was used million to be used million was used
for the original for the original for the original
purpose purpose purpose
#)374,400,0008 TR AE—REEE  £9259,550,0008 T #9114,850,0008 T #114,850,00087c & B
ERAREBERESR RERRSE RERERHA RERREE
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to bye-law 178 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
the directors, managing directors, alternate director, auditors,
secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own willful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty
respectively, and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or
for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any
bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or
for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which
any moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or
for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation
thereto, except as the same shall happen by or through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

Such provision was in force during the year. In addition, the
Company has also maintained directors and officers liability
insurance during the year.
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EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 January 2022, the Placing was completed in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement. A
total of 810,792,000 Placing Shares have been successfully
placed by the Placing Agent to not fewer than six Placees at
the Placing Price of HK$0.385 per Placing Share pursuant to
the Placing Agreement. The net proceeds from the Placing
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs,
fees, expenses and commission, amount to approximately
HK$309.01 million. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the Placing for the following purposes: (i) system
upgrade, product development and marketing expenses; (ii)
additional funding for potential strategic investments and
acquisitions; and (iii) general working capital of the Group.

On 22 February 2022, the board passed a resolution to grant
additional 350,846,480 new allocated Shares of the Company
to 716 employees of the Group. The new allotted shares will be
issued to the trustee at HK$0.28 per share of the Company. On
2 March 2022, the related shares are issued. The awards are
subject to certain vesting conditions and will fully vested on 30
September 2023 or attainment of certain key performance index
targets, whichever earlier. Details are set forth in the Company's
announcement dated on 22 February 2022.

Besides on the above event, further events after the reporting
period are set out in note 54 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Ning
Mr. Cui Yusong
Mr. Yu Tao
Ms. Ying Hangyan
Mr. Guan Guisen'
(resigned on 17 February 2021)
Mr. Cao Chunmeng?
(resigned on 24 December 2021)
Mr. Yan Xiaotian®
(resigned on 24 December 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao
Mr. Li Shaojie
(appointed on 18 March 2022)
Mr. Gu Jiawang*
(resigned on 24 December 2021)
Mr. Xu Yanging®
(resigned on 24 December 2021)

Note 1:  Mr. Guan Guisen resigned as executive Director in order
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Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note b5:

to devote more time to his proceeding and his personal
commitments and matters concerning his roles and
capacities outside of the Group. Details are set forth in the
Company's announcement dated 17 February 2021.

Mr. Cao Chunmeng resigned as executive Director due to
other business engagement which requires more of his
dedication.

Mr. Yan Xiaotian resigned as executive Director due to
other business engagement which requires more of his
dedication.

Mr. Gu Jiawang resigned as independent non-executive
Director due to other business engagement which requires
more of his dedication.

Mr. Xu Yanging resigned as independent non-executive
Director due to other business engagement which requires
more of his dedication.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Ning, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Mr. Cui Yusong, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Mr. Yu Tao, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, an executive director, has renewed a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 May 2021.

Mr. Fong Chi Wah, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 19 December 2021. Dr. Fong Chi
Wah has served on the Board for more than 10 years but he has
never held any executive or management position in our Group
nor has he throughout such period been under the employment
of any member of our Group. Dr. Fong has demonstrated
his ability to provide an independent view to the Company’s
matters. The Directors noted the positive contributions Dr. Fong
made to the development of the Company. Dr. Fong Chi Wah
has given the confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of GEM Listing Rules to the Company.

The nomination committee of the Company has assessed and is
satisfied of the independence of Dr. Fong. The Board considers
that the long services of Dr. Fong would not affect his exercises
of independent judgments, notwithstanding his years of service
as an independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the
Board is of the view that Dr. Fong is able to continue to fulfill his
roles as required.
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Mr. Deng Tao, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 8 May 2021.

Mr. Li Shaojie, the independent non-executive director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with Company for a term of
three years commencing from 18 March 2022.

In accordance with bye-laws 99 and 102(B) of the Bye-Laws,
Dr. Fong Chi Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and Mr. Li Shaojie will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM") and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company which is not determinable by
our Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EFERBREITHRAERAAEHHE
EECEE YRR « MR IR B &1

aa HYRE I ik

A _E T F+_B=+—H EFEKX
NERBITBABR AR BN E A8 H
=B (TR RFBHKRIAE KRG EXVE) ~ 5
D ABRIR D RERET  BEE()IREES
T HAE & B EXVER B 7 R8N B E A A
BRI zERIORE (BIEIRIEES
KEAE RO BRMEXRINERRATEZ
@K A) ; FiNRIBEES KSRGS
352MF iR E B AZMKPME LMz
KA HiRIEBEGEM EHREIES 465
.67 BRESETESFR S ZHRTEEH
BARBI RPN #maRAT -

Long Position in Shares
RiRHRZEE

Interest in
underlying Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares shares in shares Shareholding
2= MM zER | RERRMZ#ER MRERD Z 4a kR T DLE
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.01%
FEEELT .
Mr. Zhu Ning 1,440,601,703 100,000,000 1,903,771,804 11.03%
KESE (Note 1) (Note 4)
(FFsET) (FfzE4)
363,170,101
(Note 2)
(Mf5%2)
Mr. Yu Tao - 15,000,000 15,000,000 0
fUEE (Note 5} 0.09%
(MF3E5)
Mr. Cui Yusong 241,885,127 20,000,000 261,885,127 152%
=Ry /Nt (Note 3) (Note 5) ’
(FF5E3) (FF5E5)
Ms. Ying Hangyan 852,000 15,000,000 15,852,000 0.09%
fEM ez - (Note 5) '
(M$5E5)
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Note 1: The shares are held by Whitecrow Investment Ltd.
(“Whitecrow"). Whitecrow is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Ning.

Note 2: The shares are held by Youzan Teamwork Inc. (“Youzan
Teamwork”). Youzan Teamwork is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. As at 31
December 2021, Youzan Teamwork was owned as to 8% by
Mr. Zhu Ning, and 18% by Whitecrow.

Note 3: The shares are held by V5.Cui Investment Ltd. (“V5.Cui”).

V5.Cui is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by Mr.
CuiYusong.

Note 4: The Company granted the share options under New Share

Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise price
of HK$1.00.

Note 5: The Company granted the share options under New Share

Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise price
of HK$0.90.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

FEAEEAMRAT —T—FERH

MizE1 : 5% F B EWhitecrow Investment Ltd.
(F'Whitecrow J) ¥75 ° Whitecrow 2 A 5 /8
BERZHEFEMRIIZEBRAR  THEAE
HEI00%NERHES ©
MizE2 © % RE 15 HYouzan Teamwork Inc. (MYouzan
Teamwork J) ¥ 75 ° Youzan Teamwork % i 5%
BELBEEFAMMIIZERAT R _T
——fF+Z"H=-+—H"Youzan Teamwork
HABLERFRBEHSY RN EZ R
WhitecrowiF A E18% 2 iR {5 ##m o
MizE3 : X HEPRIDHAVE.Cui Investment Ltd. (MV5.
Cuil) B VB CuAREBRELZEERM
BRI ZBRAB WHERNEAEIONE
mER °
fisrd - K RBNR ZE—NFNANBERBEMER
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WHEZZ_NMFEA=+H R17HEE
#1.00/87T
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INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO RIBGEF R SR ) AT IREN
AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS R EERR

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2021, there was R FXFIiREEN R _TE_—F+_H
no other person (other than a director or chief executive of the =-+—H > #&ZAXABRIEFEF REAGHRAG
Company) who had any interests and short positions in the 5336fF%‘BHEFHIECMPTCER > B & EH M

shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in AL (KABERHESTEASRIN K
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO. KABHRMD RBERG P HEETAER

Bk o
Name of Number of interest %
Substantial Shareholders Capacity in shares Shareholding
TERRLE & RRNzEZHE T
Whitecrow Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,440,601,703 (L) 8.35%
(Note 2) (PifzE2) BELBEAA
Double Peace Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,440,601,703 (L) 8.35%
REHEEER
Tricor Equity Trustee Limited Tdru‘stee 1,440,601,703 (L) 8.35%
REEA
Poyang Lake Investment Beneficial owner 1,036,766,038 (L) 6.01%
Limited (Note 3) (Hf{5£3) BB
Tencent Holdings Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,036,766,038 (L) 6.01%
(Note 3) REHEERR
EERERAT
(hEX)
Ward Ferry Management Investment manager 952,708,000 (L) 5.17%
(BVI) Limited REEEA
UBS Group AG Interests of controlled corporation 1,262,937788 (L) 732%
IHRERBRAR REGEEER 552,749,030 (S) 3.20%
Kontiki Capital Management Investment manager 864,504,000 (L) 5.01%
(HK) Limited REBEA
Haitong International Capital Person having a security interest in Shares 1,440,601,703 (L) 8.35%
__(HK) Limited BREREREEA
BRERME (FA) BRAR
Haitong International Interests of controlled corporation 1,441,853,703 (L) 8.35%
Securities Group Limited REH ARG
(Note 4)
BEERESEAERAT
(Fizk4)
Haitong International Holdings | Interests of controlled corporation 1,441,853,703 (L) 8.35%
Limited (Note 4) REREEE R
BERRERERAR
(Hi5x4)
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation 1,441,853,703 (L) 8.35%
(Note 4) SEEE ik
BEESRHERAT
(Fi5¥a)
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

(L): long position; (S): short position.

Whitecrow is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Double
Peace Limited. Mr. Zhu Ning is the settlor of a discretionary
trust which holds the entire issued share capital of Double
Peace Limited. Tricor Equity Trustee Limited holds the entire
issued share capital of Double Peace Limited as trustee of the
discretionary trust.Whitecrow.

Poyang Lake Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Tencent Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
700), which is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Poyang Lake Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Note 4: Among the 1,441,853,703 Shares interest held by Haitong

International Securities Group Limited (“Haitong Group”),
1,440,601,703 Shares interest were held by its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, Haitong International Capital (HK)
Limited (“Haitong HK"), and 1,252,000 Shares interest
were held by its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Haitong
International Securities Company Limited (“Haitong
International Securities”). Haitong HK and Haitong
International Securities are both wholly-owned by Haitong
International (BVI) Limited (“Haitong BVI"), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Haitong Group.

Haitong Group is owned as to 64.40% by Haitong
International Holdings Limited (“Haitong Holdings"”), which
is in turn wholly-owned by Haitong Securities Co., Ltd.
(“Haitong Securities”). By virtue of the SFO, Haitong BVI,
Haitong Group, Haitong Holdings and Haitong Securities are
deemed to be interested in the same parcels of Shares in
which Haitong HK and Haitong International Securities are
interested in.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of financial position of our
Group is set out on pages 355 and 356 of this annual report.
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AUDITORS =B

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by REMBHRREHEREZGSHIEHAE
RSM Hong Kong, who will retire and, being eligible, offer 1%’ EiRE T EBEREEE T
themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board AEEFm

Mr. Zhu Ning EFEETE

Chairman of the Board REXRE

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022 E8 "B "FE=ZHR"+AhH
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2021. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company's
corporate governance and makes necessary changes at an
appropriate time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("Code"”) in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Code for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions in securities
of the Company. Upon the Company's specific enquiry, each
director has confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2021, he/she had complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board's fundamental responsibility is to exercise its best
judgment and to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board is responsible for overseeing the
management’s efforts to promote the Company’s success
while operating in an effective and responsible manner. The
Board is able to delegate and confer on any executive Director
any of its powers, authorities and discretions for such time and
on such terms as it thinks fit.

The Board may at any time appoint any person who is willing
to act as a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Board. The total number of Directors shall not be
less than two nor should it exceed fifteen. Newly-appointed
Directors shall retire at the general meeting following the
appointment and shall be eligible for election. The Board may
appoint any Director to hold any employment or executive
office and may revoke or terminate any such appointment.
Shareholders may, by ordinary resolution, appoint a person as a
Director or remove any Director before the expiration of his or
her period of office.

The Board regularly formulates our Group's overall business
strategies and monitors management’s execution of such
strategies.

By discharging its responsibilities, the Board has defined the
business and governance issues for which it needs to be
responsible, and these matters reserved for the Board have
been separately defined, and are reviewed periodically, to
ensure that our Group maintains the proper level of corporate
governance and to ensure they are up to date. In this regard,
the Board:

° determines our Group’s mission, provides its strategic
direction and is responsible for the approval of strategic
plans;

o approves the annual business plan and budget proposed

by management;
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o retains full and effective control over our Group and
monitors management with regard to the implementation
of the approved annual budget and business plan;

o appoints the Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the
Board, and ensures that succession is planned;

o approves our Group's consolidated financial statements,
interim and annual reports;

o determines our Group's communication policy;
o determines director selection, orientation and evaluation;
o ensures that our Group has appropriate risk

management, internal control, internal audit and
regulatory compliance;

o procedures in place and that it communicates adequately
with shareholders and stakeholders;

o establishes Board sub-committees with clear terms of
reference and responsibilities as appropriate;

o defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters,
with required authority to Board sub-committees and
management;

° monitors non-financial aspects pertaining to the business

of our Group;

° considers and, if appropriate, declares the payment of
dividends to shareholders; and

° regularly evaluates our Group's performance and
effectiveness.

FEEEARAT T —FEER

HAEESHE2EKRANNEE I
ERTAELR Eﬁiﬁ%%&%%%
BT EHEEEEETER

ZETEAH (ROEFTER) X
RO L HHEEANEE ;

BERAEENGRSYBRE  RHR
FERS

HIE A E BB BABUR ;

REEENEE TIEEN RTZE

=1
BRAEERXUBEENRABEIE R
B AN BEZAEESRER;
RUBKRERFHERBFRDER
E/J#rfft b

AEEBRTREFTETRILE
BWEELEENRBENEET ;

%EE%%L@E’]M&* 2> W FE
FERETLETREEREBMRANRE
RS

EEEAEREBERNFEMBES
"

EEKkWMER BRREKRKRE ; &

TEHAST I A S B BV 3R IR KU BE ©

067



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

To better serve the long-term interests of our stakeholders,
the Board dedicates certain matters which require particular
time, attention and expertise to be devoted to its committee.
The Board has determined that these matters are better dealt
with by the committees as they require independent oversight
and specialist input. As such, the Board has established
five committees to assist the Board: Audit Committee, Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Inside Information Committee. Each of the committees
has terms of reference which clearly specifies its powers and
authorities. All committees report back to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board should the need arise.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised four
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. Details of biographical details of directors and senior
management are set out on pages 28 to 32 of this annual
report. The Board complies with the minimum requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors and one of them has
the appropriate professional qualifications required under Rule
5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Meetings (attendance of meetings)

The Board has adopted good corporate governance practices
and procedures, formal notice of at least 14 days will be given
in respect of a regular meeting. For special board meeting,
reasonable notice will be given. Directors participated, either
in person or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board meets regularly at least
four times every year. The directors participated in person or
through electronic means of communication. All notices of
board meetings were given to all directors, who were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
finalized agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to
all directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting.

All directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company's expense, if necessary. The Company Secretary
records the proceedings of each board meeting in detail by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed
(if any). All minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on request by any director.
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The attendance of each director at Board, committee meetings,
annual general meeting and special general meeting, whether in
person or by means of electronic communication, is detailed in

the table below:

Audit

Committee
BRLeY

Nomination

Committee

RALZEEE

BREFHEEFE £8

TER RRBF

RERRRRFHIARE (MmRSHUB TR
MBI HIBEREFEHN TR

Remuneration

Committee

HHES S

Annual General
Meeting
BRREERE

Special

General

Meeting
REFHAE

Mr. Guan Guisen (Note 1) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

BEZLE (sE1) TER TEA ENENE A BB TER

Mr. Cao Chunmeng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A on 0N
(Note 2) TER EN G TER

EERLE ([H5E2)

Mr. Yan Xiaotian (Note 2) a/4 N/A N/A N/A 0/1 on

BERLE (T5E2) ~ER EN Gl TBA

Mr. Zhu Ning 4/4 N/A n n 01 0/1

KELE ~ER

Mr. Cui Yusong 4/4 N/A N/A N/A on 0N

BEMRE BB EN G A

Mr. Yu Tao a/4 N/A N/A N/A 0/1 0N

AELE BB ENENE T BA

Ms. Ying Hangyan 4/4 N/A N/A N/A on on

s+ A ENENE A

Dr. Fong Chi Wah 4/4 4/4 n n n n

AEERL

Mr. Gu Jiawang (Note 2) 4/4 4/4 " " 0N 0N

BEERE (FE2)

Mr. Xu Yanging (Note 2) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N 0N

BRESRE (f15E2) ~ER ENENE A

Mr. Deng Tao 4/4 4/4 n n on 0N

HELLE

Note 1: Mr. Guan Guisen resigned as a Director with effect from 17

et CRAERIAENR T

——FZA+tHETE

February 2021. #EHo
Note 2: Mr. Cao Chunmeng, Mr. Yan Xiaotian, Mr. Gu Jiawang and M52 : E&EHELE - BEHSLE - 8 BEREMNGR

Mr. Xu Yanging resigned as directors with effect from 24 RELENR _Z_—FE+"B=+UHE
December 2021. FEE-
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The annual general meeting and a special general meeting
were held on 6 May 2021, except for the above annual general
meeting and the special general meeting, the Company did
not hold any other general meeting during the year ended 31
December 2021.

At the Board meetings, the Board discussed on a wide range
of matters, including the Group's overall strategies, financial
and operational performances, approved the annual, interim and
quarterly results of the Group, the appointment of directors,
business prospects, regulatory compliance and corporate
governance, and other significant matters. The company
secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and the senior
management team, prepares the agendas for each meeting
and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The company secretary also ensures
that all applicable rules and regulations in relation to the Board
meetings are followed. The company secretary sends notice
of the Board meeting to each of the directors at least fourteen
days in advance of each regular Board meeting. The company
secretary also sends the agendas, board papers and relevant
information relating to the Group to each of the directors at
least three days in advance of each regular Board meeting
and committee meeting, and keeps the directors updated on
the Group's financial performance and latest developments. If
any director raises any queries, steps will be taken to respond
to such queries as promptly and fully as possible. If there is
potential or actual conflict of interests involving a substantial
shareholder or a director, such director would declare his
interest and will abstain from voting on such matters. The
directors may approach the Company’s senior management
team when necessary. The directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since 19 February 2021, Mr. Zhu Ning, who has been an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company since May 2018, has also been appointed as the
chairman of the Board. Such practice deviates from the code
provision A.2.1 of the Code.

Mr. Zhu Ning has been the key leadership figure since joining
the Group who has primarily participated in formulation of
business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group,
and has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the
implementation of our business plans, the Directors consider
Mr. Zhu the best candidate for both positions and this
arrangement is beneficial and in the interests of our Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of
the Code is appropriate in such circumstances.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of the
Company are entered into a service contract and letter of
appointment with the Company for a term as stated in pages
58 to b9 of this report. Besides, the procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company’'s Bye-Laws. According to the Bye-Laws, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election
at annual general meetings of the Company. Any new director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by shareholders at the next following annual general meeting.
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Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers
that all the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

Directors’ Training

All directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as
a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place training and development programme for
the directors including: an on-going training and professional
development programme for directors. The Company regularly
organizes the seminars for the directors. In addition, individual
Directors also participated in other courses relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director or further
enhancement of their professional development by way of
online aids or reading relevant materials.

All executive and independent non-executive Directors had

provided the Company Secretary with their training records for
the year under review.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 30 June
2005. The Remuneration Committee is with the responsibility
of approving the remuneration policy for all Directors and senior
executives. The Remuneration Committee members include all
directors as follows:

Mr. Zhu Ning
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)
Mr. Gu Jiawang
(resigned on 24 December 2021)

All Remuneration Committee members met at the end of the
year for the determination of the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management of the Group. In addition,
the Remuneration Committee members also meet as and
when required to consider remuneration related matters. The
works carried out by the Remuneration Committee are set
out below: (a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure of remuneration of Directors
and the senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (b) to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, provident/retirement benefits and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors; (c) to review and
approve performance-based remuneration by reference to
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time; (d) to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive Directors, senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive for the Company; and (e)
to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment
is otherwise reasonable and appropriate.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 June
2005. The Nomination Committee made recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors and the senior
management personnel with reference to certain guidelines
as endorsed by the Nomination Committee members. The
Nomination Committee members include all directors as
follows:

Mr. Zhu Ning
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)
Mr. Gu Jiawang
(resigned on 24 December 2021)

The Nomination Committee is responsible in reviewing and
monitoring the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board in light of the group’s strategy, identifying
qualified individuals to be new Board members, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors, and
reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the board
diversity policies of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Under its terms of reference for Audit Committee passed
under a directors’ resolution dated 30 June 2005, is required,
amongst other things, to oversee the relationship with the
external auditors, to review the Group's preliminary results,
interim results and annual consolidated financial statements and
to monitor compliance with statutory and listing requirements,
to engage independent legal or other advisers as it determines
is necessary and to perform any investigations. The Audit
Committee members include all directors as follows:

Dr. Fong Chi Wah (Chairman)
Mr. Deng Tao
Mr. Gu Jiawang
(resigned on 24 December 2021)
Mr. Li Shaojie
(appointed on 18 March 2022)
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The Audit Committee is responsible for meeting with the
external auditor regularly to discuss any area of concern during
the audit, reviewing financial data and information, overseeing
the financial reporting system and internal control procedures.
The primary duties of the Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems of the Group.

Financial Statements

The Audit Committee held meetings to discuss the Group's
announcements and reports for quarterly results, interim results
and annual results. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
the management’s reports and representations with a view to
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
has provided advice and comments thereon.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the external
auditors.

External Auditor

The Group engaged RSM Hong Kong to provide services in
connection with the audit of the Company’'s consolidated
financial statements and other professional services.
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Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s auditors, RSM Hong Kong, is set out as follows:

RS Gl
CIEFEXN > BN ENEARQBZHUMER
S E TN I

Fees paid/

payables

B8t &R

HK$'000

Services rendered RIEBIARTS TETT
Audit services % AR5

— Annual audit —FEEE 2,400

— Reporting accountants —ERERE 5D 4,750

Other assurance services HhEEE AR 650

Other non-audit services HAMIEZBARTS 1,108

8,908

DIRECTOR’S AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
in accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of
meetings with management of business groups, internal
control department, legal, and the external auditor, reviewing
the relevant work reports and information of key performance
indicators, the management self-assessment on internal control
and discussing the major risks with the senior management of
the Company.
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Risk Management Report

Risk management is an integral part of our business planning,
implementation and review process. Apart from traditional
management of operational risks such as safety and plant
integrity, the Group's risk management universe encompasses
a broader scope of risks that include risks associated with
strategies, policies, financial, human resources, intellectual
properties, techniques and network management.

Principal Risks

The Group's business operations and financial conditions may
be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to the Group’s
businesses, which mainly include the operational risks, financial
risks, market risks and regulatory risks.

Operational risks are those relating to the Group's internal
processes, including but not limited to potential misconduct
of employees and fraud, which may bring significant adverse
impact on the Group's business operations and reputation.
Failures of information technology systems will result in
interruption of the operation of the Group and potential leakage
of confidential information. Operational risks may also result
from emergencies and unexpected events such as natural
hazards. In view of such risks, relevant operation policies and
procedures have been adopted and are in place to ensure
that the daily operation of the Group is in compliance with the
relevant requirements of laws and regulations. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected
case of employee misconduct and/or fraud arises, any staff can
report directly to the management. The staff handbook has also
stipulated that employee misconduct and fraud are prohibited.
The Group places considerable value on data security and
data privacy. The computer systems are secured with access
controls, while maintenance and update are conducted regularly
by the information technology services providers.
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Financial risks include liquidity risk in the Group’s normal
course of business. Liquidity risk refers to the Group's ability in
maintaining sufficient fund to meet the liquidity requirements.
To ensure the Group maintains sufficient capital and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements, the cash flows projection
of the Group is reviewed on a regular basis. For the business
of the Group, the financial resources are regularly reviewed
to ensure that the financial reserve of the Group can meet
the liquid capital requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations.

Market risks relate to the change in macroeconomic conditions
and fluctuation of market variables such as gross domestic
product, exchange rates, equity prices and property prices in
China. These risks may generally affect market and merchants’
demands, especially the uncertain impact of the novel
COVID-19 outbreak on the macroeconomy since December
2019, which may lead to adverse impact on the Group's
revenue. The Group would from time to time fine-tune the
Group's business strategies, policies and procedures according
to the market situation.

Regulatory risks may arise from potential default of the Group in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group's business and any future
changes in the relevant laws and regulations. Non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations may bring various
consequences to the Group.

The Board is of the view that for the year ended 31 December
2021, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by
staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and that
such staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and
development. Based on the work of the Audit Committee,
the Board also believes that sufficient resources have been
obtained for the Company’s internal audit function and that its
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budgets are sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
Following the resignation of Mr. Fung Kwok Leung as company
secretary of the Company on 24 December 2021, Mr. Cheng
Ching Kit has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company with effect from 24 December 2021. Mr. Cheng
has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in 2021.

On 18 March 2022, Ms. Han Xia has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company, and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit,
has continued to serve as a joint company secretary of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Company’s performance to shareholders through
the publication of quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
report. In addition to dispatching circulars, notices and financial
reports to shareholders, additional information is also available
to shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company, which is updated regularly. The annual general
meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman, Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on
the Company’s businesses at the meeting. The Company
values feedback from shareholders on its effort to promote
transparencies and foster investor relationships.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Youzan Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred
to as the “Group” or “we") are pleased to publish our
environmental, social and governance report (hereinafter
referred to as “"ESG Report” or this “Report”). This
Report demonstrates the principles and sustainable
development philosophies during our fulfillment of the
Group's corporate social responsibility, and summarises
the Group’s work and practices in the environmental,
social and governance (hereinafter referred to as "ESG")
aspects, so that stakeholders can better understand
the Group’s progress and development direction in
sustainable development issues.

1.1 Reporting Standard

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) issued by Stock Exchange. The
Report is prepared on the basis of four reporting
principles, namely: materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency, and it has complied with the
“Comply or Explain” provisions in the Guide.

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and
materiality identification is conducted to ensure
that the sustainability issues identified stay
relevant and material to our business operations
and stakeholders.

Quantitative: This Report contains all the key
performance indicators required by the Guide,
and has disclosed the corresponding calculation
methods and the standards that adopted.
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Balance: This Report shall provide an unbiased
picture of the Company's performance during the
Year, and shall avoid any selections, omissions,
or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence the readers on their decision making.

Consistency: This Report adopts the same
statistical and key performance indicators
disclosure methodology as in previous years.

Readers can refer to Appendix Il of this Report:
Index of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong for quickly locating necessary information.
This Report should be read together with the
“Corporate Governance Report” section of this
Annual Report to fully comprehend the ESG
performance of the Group.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, this Report focuses
on the performance of the core business directly
controlled by the Group from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021 (the “Year”). There are two
new offices were added during the Year, and
the environmental key performance indicators
cover Hangzhou, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu, Hong Kong, Nanjing and
Wuhan.

Reporting Language

This Report is published in traditional Chinese
and English version. In case of discrepancies, the
traditional Chinese version shall prevail.
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1.5

Approval and Confirmation

The Group's board of directors (the “Board”) is
fully responsible for what is reported in this Report.
The internal control and formal review procedures
have been established to ensure that all data
presented in this Report are as accurate and
reliable as possible, and the identified ESG material
issues are covered. This Report has already been
reviewed and approved by the Board on 29 March
2022.

Feedback Mechanism

We attach great importance to your views or
suggestions on this Report, and you are welcome
to contact us via email (investor@youzan.com).

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
MANAGEMENT

2.1

Board Statement

To strengthen our sustainability management,
we have established an ESG governance
framework. The Board assumes full responsibility
of the Group's ESG governance and sustainable
development, and is responsible for monitoring
the Group's material issues, performance
and regularly assessing ESG-related risks and
opportunities. With the authorisation from the
Board, the ESG task force determines the Group's
ESG management methods, strategies, priorities
and objectives through considering the materiality
assessment and evaluating the concerns of
various stakeholders. The Group has set relevant
ESG targets. In the future, we will review the
progress against relevant targets to improve our
sustainability work.
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ESG Management

The Group understands that effective sustainable
management has a positive impact on the Group's
business development. We have established
an ESG task force in 2020 to assist the Board
to better monitor the Group's ESG issues.
The Group’'s ESG management structure and
responsibilities are as follows:

ESGTask Force
ESGEE/IVH

ESG representatives of each
functional department in every region
B E R AR FIRESGREA

The ESG task force consists of designated
members of the Administration Department,
Organisational Growth Department, Supervision
Department, Product Centre, Marketing
Department (Public Welfare Line) and Legal
Department, and their responsibilities are as
follows:

o Identify, evaluate, review and manage major
ESG issues, risks and opportunities;

° Formulate ESG management policies,
strategies, plans, annual work and goals for
approval by the Board, and promote relevant
implementation work;

B —FER
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Responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the group’s ESG policies and practices to
ensure that the group complies with relevant
legal and regulatory requirements;

Collect, understand and respond to the
opinions of stakeholders on material ESG
issues through appropriate channels;

Participate in the preparation of the annual
ESG report and maintain communication
with the ESG consultant team;

Continue to track and review ESG-related
performance and target progress to ensure
that each ESG matter is properly managed
and relevant ESG policies are implemented;

Coordinate and promote the implementation
of each ESG policy by each department,
and monitor the ESG-related work of each
department; and

Put forward ESG-related suggestions to the
Board at an appropriate time to improve the
group'’s performance in ESG.
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We attach great importance to the views and EMeEERFHENER
suggestions of our stakeholders and take them as Mz TR EERERRE
important references for formulating our business HENBEEBZ R 7T BFH
strategies. In order to better understand the THRFMENIRENSRR &
expectations and demands of stakeholders, we MBERLREEERFHER
conduct close communication with stakeholders RZE IR ERE

through various channels.

Major Stakeholders Communication Channels
FEFHE
Customers ° Customer advisory group
=R = Rias/ N E
o Customer service center
ERRBHL
o Activities to enhance customer loyalty
RAERBHENES
° Customer satisfaction survey and comment form
ERREEREBNMEREK
o Daily operations/communication
HESE N
° Online service platform
LR TS
° Phone
e
° Mailbox
ol
Employees ° Staff opinion survey (forms, suggestion boxes, etc.)
8T BTERAE K BRES)
° Work performance evaluation and interview
TAERIRT R B
o Group discussion
AN R
° Conference meeting
= D?Jzﬁ
o Volunteerlng activities
ELEE
° Special Advisory Committee/Thematic Discussion
Group
BREEE g HEEstm/NAE
o Staff communication meeting
BTEBKRE
° Staff intranet
BT A
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Major Stakeholders

Communication Channels

FERFHE BIEERE
Shareholders/Investors ° Annual general meeting of shareholders and other
e EEE general meetings of shareholders
RRBFAGEAMKERERS
o Quarterly report, Interim report and annual report
TERS PHARTEFR
o Corporate communications, such as shareholder
letters/circulars and meeting notices
REBH MERREG BRI ERB]
o Results announcement
BEN
° Investor meeting
BREEGZ
Business partners ° Meeting
EBBH g5
o Visit
° Report
wE
Suppliers ° Supplier/contractor evaluation system
HrER HRER A a6 E
° Meeting
85
Regulatory authority o Meeting
ER B g%
Media o Press release
(ElEs AT
° Results announcement
Community/ ° Volunteering activities
Non-Governmental ET5EH
organisation o Donation
& IEEATE RS E=1
Peers ° Group announcement
EIES EEBES

086

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS g kERRS

24

PEAEERRAT

Material Issues

In order to improve the Group's overall ESG
performance more efficiently and allocate
resources more effectively, we carried out the
identification and assessment of material issues
once again during the Year. Based on the business
development strategy, we benchmarked against
the latest requirements of the Stock Exchange and
tracked the development trend of the industry to
identify 23 material issues by taking reference to
the material issues database of the Sustainable
Accounting Standards Board (the “SASB”) in USA.
In particular, those identified as issues with high
materiality include: anti-corruption, supply chain
management, intellectual property protection,
customer satisfaction, product responsibility,
user privacy, data security, employee training
and development, employee safety and health,
diversity and equal opportunities, attracting
and retaining talents, rights and interests of
employees, and energy management. For those
that are identified as issues with moderate
materiality, they include: waste management,
greenhouse gas (GHG) management, employment
management, compensation and benefits. For
those that are identified as issues with low
materiality include: water resources management,
climate change, community investment,
responsible marketing, product health and safety
and compliance operation.

The Group has reviewed and confirmed the
identification results of material issues. We will
also review and improve the Group's sustainable
development plan based on these material issues.
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COMPLIANCE OPERATION

3.1

Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly complies with related laws
and regulations such as the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People’'s Republic of China, Supervision
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China. We have
also formulated a series of rules and regulations
such as the Anti-Corruption Regulations, Youzan
Code of Work Conduct, Youzan Code of Business
Conduct and Youzan Reimbursement Manual.

We require employees to abide by the basic
principles, policies, procedures and precautions for
business activities as stated in the above rules and
regulations, and eliminate any form of corruption,
such as bribery and extortion. According to the
rules and regulations, employees shall not solicit
or accept any personal gifts or property, shall
not offer or accept any bribes, kickbacks, private
commissions, and shall not use company secrets
to gain benefits for themselves or others.

In order to further strengthen the integrity
management of the Group, we have established
a Disciplinary Committee led by the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Technology Officer, and
Chief Financial Officer to promptly disclose
potential or actual conflicts of interest to the
Disciplinary Committee and submit a statement
within one month after the end of each year,
stating that no conflicts of interest have arisen,
or listing out conflicts of interest that have arisen.
We also conducted anti-corruption training and
examinations for directors and all staff at our Qi Ma
learning centre during the Year.
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We encourage any persons in the know to report
incidents suspected of violating business ethics
as defined by the Group through the safe and
confidential channels provided by the Group. Once
a report is received, our Disciplinary Committee
will carefully handle the information we obtain,
and conduct a fair and impartial investigation. If
the reported incident is confirmed to be true after
investigation, we will deal with the relevant person
according to law.

In order to cope with various new and traditional
methods of Internet money laundering, we
have also established Anti-Money Laundering
and Anti-Terrorist Financing Management Basic
System, Customer Identity Identification System,
Customer lIdentity Information and Transaction
History Record Preservation System, Large
Transaction and Suspicious Transaction Reporting
System, Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Classification Management
Measures, Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Classification Management
Measures, Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Assessment Measures,
Anti-Money Laundering Audit System, Anti-
Money Laundering Confidentiality System, Anti-
Money Laundering Publicity System, Anti-Money
Laundering Training System, Measures for Freezing
Assets Involved in Terrorist Activities, Measures for
Coordinating Anti-Money Laundering Supervision,
and Measures for Assisting in Administrative
Investigations on Anti-Money Laundering.
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The anti-money laundering work of the Group
remains independent and confidential. Accordingly,
we have established an Anti-Money Laundering
Leading Group to assist the Board in monitoring
the anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing matters, and the responsibilities of which
include:

o Responsible for the overall planning of the
Group's anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing work, and supervise
implementation of the work;

o Review and publish anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing regulations and
implementation rules;

° Build the Group's anti-money laundering
organisational structure, recruit and dismiss
anti-money laundering staff;

° Clarify the specific responsibilities of each
anti-money laundering department and
business personnel;

o Check violations of anti-money laundering
regulations and working procedures and
punish relevant personnel;

° Coordinate and resolve major issues in anti-
money laundering work, and report major
money laundering risk to directors in a timely
manner;

o Designate departments for implementation
of anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing work, and supervise and urge
the implementation of relevant policies and
procedures;

° Other anti-money laundering duties required
by the directors of the Group.
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The Anti-Money Laundering Leading Group
has a Compliance Management Department
comprising department heads and anti-money
laundering specialists, which is responsible for
the implementation of anti-money laundering and
anti-terrorist financing. The Board of the Group is
responsible for supervising the performance of the
Anti-Money Laundering Leading Group.

We will convene at least one anti-money
laundering meeting every six months to review the
anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing
work of the Group. We will also conduct an anti-
money laundering performance appraisal every six
months to inspect the completion of anti-money
laundering work of departments and branches. The
appraisal is jointly conducted by the directors and
the Anti-Money Laundering Leading Group to have
a comprehensive assessment on the construction
of anti-money laundering internal control system
and mechanism, customer identification and
transaction history record keeping, customer and
business risk rating, cooperation with supervising
anti-money laundering work, anti-money laundering
monitoring and analysis and large-value and
suspicious transaction reporting, anti-money
laundering promotion and training. For employees
who do not meet the appraisal criteria, we will deal
with that according to various circumstances as
set out in the rules and regulations of the Group.
For departments and employees with outstanding
performance, we will reward them accordingly.

This Year, the Group did not have any lawsuits
related to corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud,
money laundering and terrorist financing against
the Group or its employees.
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3.2

Information Protection

The Group strictly complies with related laws
and regulations such as Regulations of the
People's Republic of China for Safety Protection
of Computer Information Systems, Cybersecurity
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Provisions
on the Technical Measures for the Protection of the
Security of the Internet, Administrative Measures
on Internet Information Services and Measures
for Security Protection Administration of the
International Networking of Computer Information
Networks.

As our business involves the collection, use,
analysis and storage of private information
of merchant and consumer, we attach great
importance on information security. Our
information security protection system has
reached the bank standard, and has obtained a
number of relevant certifications, including CSA
C-STAR certificate (EstEZ251E5%ZE), 1SO
27001-Information Security Management System
Certificate ((EEZ2 BB APEHEE)and I1SO
27701-Privacy Information Management System
Certificate (EFAEEEERBRARBFS).

We have also formulated about 30 relevant policies
such as the Youzan Business Code of Conduct,
Youzan Information Security and Privacy Protection
Manual Management, Youzan Information
Security and Privacy Protection Strategy, Youzan
Product Privacy Protection Design Guidelines,
Youzan Information Security Risk Assessment
Management Regulations, Youzan Data Security
Specification and Youzan Cryptography Use
Security Management, setting out regulations and
responsibilities of every process such as collecting,
using, and processing data. We also provide
employees with relevant training to enhance their
awareness and responsibility for protecting data
security.
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Through signing the Personal Information Use
Authorisation, User Authorisation Agreement,
Information Use Authorisation Form and Youzan
Authorisation Service Agreement with merchants
and consumers, they can clearly understand
the types and purposes of the personal data
collected and rights of both parties. If merchants
and consumers have any doubts, suggestions
or complaints about the privacy policy or the
use of personal data, they can contact our
personal information protection department by
email (privacy@youzan.com), and our personal
information protection department will investigate
as soon as possible and reply accordingly.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights
The Group strictly complies with laws and
regulations such as Advertising Law of the
People's Republic of China, Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Detailed Rules for the
Implementation of the Patent Law of the People's
Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People's
Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Intellectual Property
Rights, and Copyright Law of the People’s Republic
of China. In order to better protect our market
competitiveness and avoid infringement incidents,
we have implemented rules and regulations such
as Youzan Code of Business Conduct, Guidelines
on the Use of Intellectual Property Rights for
Youzan Employees, Youzan Brand Use Specification
(Visual and Material Chapter) and “Youzan Brand
Logo Specification” (Channel Chapter).
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According to our rules and regulations, our
employees and agents are required to strictly abide
by the rules for using the Youzan brand. Without
the review and authorisation of the Group, any
marketing materials related to the Group (including
but not limited to trademarks, licence information,
etc.), such as event posters, event details pages,
brochures, leaflets, display racks, display boards,
shall not go into the public information channel
in any form, and shall not disclose to third party
without permission, so as to prevent false and
misleading information. We have signed the Youzan
Regional Agency Agreement with all agents. Once
the agreement is in breach, we have the right to
deal with it according to various circumstances
setting out in the Youzan Agent Supervision and
Management Regulations.

We require employees to treat copyrighted
merchandise with caution in accordance with the
guidelines provided by the corresponding rules
and regulations of the Group. Employees cannot
commercialize non-paid copyrighted works. If it is
indeed necessary that employees shall purchase
paid copyrighted works, they must apply according
to the corresponding procedures.

We have established Youzan Intellectual Property
Protection Centre and established an intellectual
property complaint and appeal platform on the
Group's official website, so as to better protect
the interests of intellectual property owners.
Once we receive any infringement complaints
against our employees or agents, we will conduct
corresponding stringent reviews. After ascertaining
the facts, we will hold the infringer or those who
make the malicious complaint liable.
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In order to improve the service experience of
agents and customers, we constantly improve
the conversion efficiency of our research and
development works and achievements to provide
better technical support.

This Year, the Group had 9 registered patents and 6
new patents.

Service Quality

With the mission of “helping every business that
values products and services to succeed”, we
strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations
including the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests.

Based on SaaS services, and with our
understanding of the actual needs of merchants,
we provide merchants with comprehensive
services including system services, traffic orders,
business recommendations, and talent services,
to merchants in the smooth connection of each
business process, offer merchants a more efficient
transaction process, better experience, and a
healthier ecological environment, thereby bringing
long-term benefits to merchants.

We take "POSER" as our corporate value, namely,
Professional (P), Ownership (O), Service (S),
Execution (E) and Result (R), and “system stability
is above all else” as our belief. If the core services
are unstable, which affects the operations of
merchants, we will give 102.4 times compensation
according to the unavailable time.
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We have also formulated the Regulations on the
Supervision and Management of Youzan Agents,
which sets out their obligations and responsibilities
for doing business on the Group's platform. We
only cooperate with conscientious merchants who
abide by the local laws and regulations of the sites
of operation, have a stable source of high-quality
goods, have excellent service capabilities, integrity,
and value after-sales service and consumer
reputation.

User Experience

We have a professional customer service team,
and set up seller's hotline for enquiries and
questions, buyers’ aftersales problem assistance
team, customers security technical team, risky
trading early warning system, quick emergency
solutions, and buyers’ consumption warning
column, so as to respond to the inquiries from
merchants and consumers in a timely manner,
properly handle consumer disputes between
merchants and consumers, assist consumers in
solving after-sales problems, monitor consumption
risks to reduce losses of consumers, alert
abnormal data in a timely manner, and conduct
rights protection publicity and education to
customers.

We also provide channels including mailboxes,
complaint hotlines, online complaints to receive
opinions and suggestions from merchants and
consumers. After receiving a complaint, we will
record the content of the complaint, determine
the responsibility for handling, analyse the reasons
of complaint, formulate a complaint handling plan,
negotiate and communicate with the complainant
in a timely manner, and finally implement the
complaint handling plan.

This Year, our customer satisfaction score was 4.9
(out of 5).
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3.6 Supply Chain Management

PEAEERRAT

We have established the Youzan Procurement
Process, Bidding Process and Supplier Safety
Management Regulations. The Legal Department
and the Finance Department are required to
jointly participate in the supplier selection and
procurement process to ensure that the entire
process is legal and compliant, the price of
products and services are reasonable and the
quality is meeting the criteria. We will also review
suppliers based on business needs, and those
suppliers that do not meet the criteria will be
removed from our supplier database.

In the process of supplier selection and evaluation,
in addition to evaluating the service and product
price, quality, service attitude of the supplier,
we will also consider whether the production
process of such supplier has caused a significant
environmental impact on the environment, and
whether it provides legal, safe and equal working
environment, whether the employee’s welfare
system is reasonable, and whether there are
unethical business practices. We also give priority
to suppliers who provide environmentally friendly
products and services.

This Year, the service categories provided by our
approximately 180 suppliers were mainly server,
payment and SMS services, hardware and lecturer
services, which were mainly concentrated in
Zhejiang, Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen.
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TALENT CARING

We strictly abide by laws and regulations of the sites
of operation such as the Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Regulation on the Implementation of
the Employment Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors, and Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labor.

We are fully aware that the recruitment of talents is
critical to the development of the Group. Therefore, we
constantly improve the talent team building plan, and
strive to create an equal, inclusive, healthy and safe
working environment for employees, eliminate any
form of discrimination related to gender, marital status,
age, race, colour, disability, nationality, religion, etc., to
achieve common growth with employees. This Year, we
won the “2021 Best Young Employers Corporate Social
Responsibility Award (2021 EEFEREICEH S EE
#%) " granted by CIWEI, an interest practice platform for
college students.
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Compliance Employment

Our human resources department will formulate a
recruitment plan on a quarterly basis according to
the actual needs of each business department, and
recruit talents through various channels. We take
education background and work experience into
recruitment consideration, and evaluate candidates
through a variety of methods, so as to select
suitable talents. During the evaluation process,
the human resources department will check the
identity documents of the applicants to ensure that
the recruited employees comply with the laws.
We wiill sign a legally effective labour contract with
all recruited employees on the basis of equality,
voluntariness, and consensus, to protect the rights
and interests of both parties.

Both the Group and employees have the right
to terminate the employment relationship. We
will proceed the resignation procedures for
employees who have terminated their employment
relationship according to the circumstance setting
out in the Staff Handbook, and employees are
also required to hand over work as required. Our
human resources department will also arrange
interviews of resignation for employees who have
made resignation requests, so as to understand
the reasons for their resignation and improve the
human resources management system of the
Group when necessary.

We have specified the working time arrangements
for different positions in the Attendance
Management of the Group. Given the particularity
of the industry, the working hours of employees
are divided into standard working hours and
irregular working hours, and employees are
allowed to implement flexible working time
management, so that employees can reasonably
arrange working hours according to their routines.
Employees who need to work overtime due to
work reasons can apply for time-off.
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This Year, the Group did not have any case of child
labour or forced labour. As of 31 December 2021,
the Group had a total of 4,494 employees, the
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distribution of which is as follows:
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Safe Operation

The Group strictly complies with the requirements
of laws and regulations such as the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases, Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Provisions on the Supervision and Administration
of Occupational Health at Work Sites and
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances
to formulate a series of measures to protect
the health and safety of employees. We provide
employees with necessary training and guidance
on occupational safety and health, and regularly
hold rescue and fire escape drills to enhance
employees’ safety awareness and self-rescue
ability. We have also established a safety early
warning system and emergency measures so that
employees can respond immediately to dangers
and injuries. In addition, we will also provide
general safety education for new employees, so
that new employees can understand the Group's
safety regulations and emergency measures.

In order to develop the employees’ good habits of
exercising and relieve stress, we are equipped with
fitness and leisure places. We have also arranged
Youzan doctors for employees, so that employees
can get timely guidance from professional medical
care through the online medical care platform
when they need it. We also provide free annual
physical examination for employees and their
families.

In the past three years including this Year, the
Group had no work-related fatalities. This Year, the
lost days due to work injury of the Group was 200
days. We will continue to review and improve our
employee health and safety management system
to reduce employees’ work-related injuries.
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4.3

Employee Care

In order to retain talents and encourage employees
to have better work performance, we will
comprehensively determine employee salaries
based on market conditions, the Group's salary
portfolio strategy, position salary, and conduct two
salary review each year. In order to have a more fair
and impartial salary review, we have formulated the
Performance Evaluation Score and Salary Concept,
and provide corresponding sales bonuses, daily
performance bonuses, yearend bonuses, options
and equity based on the results of performance
evaluation.

In addition, in order to have a better understanding
of the needs of every employee, we have created
a variety of internal communication channels such
as internal networks, newspapers, questionnaires,
and employee forums, so that employees can
communicate with the management.

We understand the importance of work-life
balance. Therefore, we have formulated the
Welfare System. In addition to the statutory “five
insurances and one pension” and holidays, we also
provide employees with paid annual leave, sick
leave, marriage, antenatal care leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, work injury leave, funeral
leave, etc., as well as transportation subsidies and
specific monthly subsidies for employee leisure
and shopping. We also encourage employees to
leave work early every Wednesday, the Family Day,
to be with family and friends. On the anniversary
of the Group and holidays, as well as the birthdays
of employees, we will provide gifts for celebration.
If employees have new born children, we will
also send gifts to congratulate them. In order to
strengthen the communication and connection
among employees, we will also organise various
team building activities and club activities from
time to time.
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Career Development

We have created professional path and the
management path, each path has three systems,
and each system contains the corresponding
position, so that employees can grow rapidly in
suitable sectors according to their own strengths.
In order to have a more fair and impartial
promotion, our review committee will make multi-
dimensional assessments for employees who
apply for promotion or are nominated, including
performance, professional knowledge, professional
skills, occupational ability, internal return (such as
serving as a trainer) and cultivation of successors
(nominating qualified candidates for their current
positions), etc.

In order to enhance the Group’s competitiveness,
we constantly review and improve the Group's
training system and formulate annual training plans
to efficiently improve the professional skills of our
employees. We have formulated the “336 Talent
Cultivation Plan”, aiming to train more than 36
senior management talents under the age of 36
within 3 years, who will be responsible for most
of the business units, and 300 talents under the
age of 30 responsible for important positions. We
have also formulated corresponding training plans
according to the needs of employees at different
levels.
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We have established a Youzan online learning
platform to facilitate employees to learn in a
timely manner. We have set up Youzan new Zaner
training and new topics for new employees to
help them integrating into the Group quickly. We
have set up talented management growth camp,
promising management growth camp, course for
management position code of conduct, leadership
salon, and SHL executive talent assessment
project to help managers strengthening their
professional skills and leadership. We have offered
customer satisfaction centre professional ability
courses, technical centre professional ability
courses, service operation centre professional
ability courses, product centre professional
ability courses, certified interviewer courses and
Youzan Education professional ability courses for
employees in different departments. In order to
strengthen the comprehensive business ability
of all employees, we have provided trainings
such as structural thinking, office software skills,
crucial conversation, honours moment, project
management, personal character recognition,
visual guidance, story-telling ability, cultural
precipitation, training/cultural project visualization.
We will also hold joyful reading club, vision
upgrade workshops, cultural precipitation
promotion activities, the most outstanding Zaner
MVP Club, and cultural ambassador promotion
activities.

We will hold sharing meeting from professionals
from time to time to encourage employees to take
the initiative to serve as mentors and share their
experiences with everyone. We also hire external
trainers according to the actual needs. We ensure
the effectiveness of training through methods
such as problem diagnosis, telephone interviews,
focused lectures, example guidance, learning
applications, reporting results and evaluation of
outcome.
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GREEN OPERATION

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Pollution from Environmental Noise. Although
the Group’s business have no significant impact on
natural resources, we still proactively take corresponding
environmental protection measures to enhance the
Group’s environmental performance. In addition, we
also enhance employees’ environmental awareness by
promoting and encouraging employees to participate in
environmental protection activities.

This Year, the Group did not violate any environmental
protection laws and regulations or receive any notice of
relevant penalties or litigation.

5.1 Energy Saving

We take a variety of measures to reduce energy
consumption in our offices, including adopting
energy-efficient equipment, turning off lighting, air
conditioning and other electronic equipment when
they are not in use, cleaning electrical appliances
regularly to keep them operating as efficiently as
possible, inspecting electrical appliances regularly
and arranging necessary repairs and maintenance.
We also conduct monthly electricity statistics
to monitor electricity consumption, identify the
cause of any abnormality and make necessary
improvements.

This Year, the power consumption within
environmental scope in this Report during
operation was 3,914,884 kWh, the per capita
power consumption was 871.14 kWh, and the
power consumption per square meter was 84.73
kWh. In this Year, we will review and optimize
powersaving measures on the basis of this Year
to maintain the target of or reduce the power
consumption.
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5.2

Reduction of Emissions

The emissions of the Group include greenhouse
gas and the Group’s vehicles (exhaust gas other
than greenhouse gas). In particular, scope 1 of
greenhouse gas emission is mainly from vehicle
fuel consumption, and scope 2 is from the power
consumption of the Group's operations. In order
to reduce the generation of emissions, in addition
to regularly maintaining the fleet, encouraging
employees to take public transportation, optimising
driving routes, and the measures mentioned under
the section headed “Energy Saving”, we also
promote the innovation of low-carbon technology,
and proactively track and keep abreast of the
low-carbon technology and new products in the
industry.

This Year, we continued to conduct investigation
into greenhouse gas within environmental scope in
this Report with reference to the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development and the 1SO14064-1 formulated
by the International Standards Organization. The
performance is as follows:
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GHG Emissions Unit 2021
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Scope 1 Tonnes of COz-equivalent 0.002

#[EN NSt EE

Scope 2 Tonnes of CO2z-equivalent 2,388.72

#[F?2 NE_FIEHRES

GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of CO2-equivalent 2,388.72
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GHG emissions per employee Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.53
employee
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GHG emissions per square metre Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.05
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PEAEERRAT

In order to reduce GHG emissions, we will also
maintain or reduce GHG emission standard on the
basis of this Year.

Water Conservation

The water used by the Group comes from
municipal water supply, and there is no problem
in sourcing water. The environmental scope in
this Report is managed by property management
companies, but we are still reducing water
consumption to the extent feasible. Our water
saving measures include: immediately contacting
the property management company to arrange
maintenance work as soon as possible if a leaking
faucet is found, posting watersaving labels in
the restrooms, and actively cooperating with the
property management company in the regular
inspection and maintenance of water pipes.

Reduction of Waste

The Group mainly implements the improvement of
resource utilisation efficiency from the following
two aspects:

Firstly, we implement paperless office and
optimise the Group's electronic office system to
reduce paper consumption. For files that must be
printed, we encourage employees to use double-
sided printing to minimise misprinting.
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Secondly, in terms of stationery items and daily
necessities, we encourage employees to use
recyclable and recoverable products, and use
garbage classification to extend the service life of
materials. We also regularly assess material usage
to avoid unnecessary inventory.

In order to reduce the generation of waste, we
have constantly enhanced the environmental
awareness and garbage classification level of
our employees by a variety measures such as
optimising publicity facilities, innovating publicity
and education methods, and implementing
stringent supervision. We invite community staff
to the office to carry out garbage classification
training, and explain the latest garbage
classification knowledge and relevant policies and
regulations to employees on a regular basis, so
as to update their knowledge reserve in a timely
manner and enhance the garbage classification
standard. In addition, we have also planned various
activities, integrating the knowledge of garbage
classification into novel game forms such as
“Treasure Hunt on Map” and “Collect Cards”.
Employees won prizes through competing for
hand speed, physical strength and brainpower,
and also consolidated the knowledge of garbage
classification in such relaxing and pleasant process.
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In order to reduce the takeaways waste generated
by employees, we opened the “Jing Ling Recycling
Shuttle Bus” in the second half of 2020 by
connecting with environmental companies, sub-
district offices, communities and other parties.
Currently, not only in our office, but also in
various enterprises of the building, the meal box
waste generated will be collected and recycled
in a unified manner, which can reach about 500
bags per month, coffee paper cups, tray paper,
hamburger packaging boxes, paper instant noodles
boxes, milk boxes, quick-frozen food packaging and
retort food packaging can be classified separately,
so as to participate in the process of resource
recycling and reuse.

We also completed the recycling of 8,000

PET plastic bottles through cooperation with
environmental technology companies.

PE.T Cooperation Certificate
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Bags made from recycled bottles
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5.5

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is
closely related to our business development.
Therefore, the Group continuously monitors the
impact of climate change on the Group. Through
consulting professional consultants, referring
to relevant international studies, and taking into
account of our existing risk management policies,
we assessed and identified the physical risks and
transition risks related to climate change during the
Year.

Those identified as high risks are market risks in
terms of transition risks. We understand that more
and more stakeholders put forward increasing
demands for the enterprises on climate change.
Failure to meet stakeholders’ expectations
may result jeopardizing our reputation, losing
customers and even losing our competitive edge.
In this regard, we will improve the identification
for climate change risks and opportunities with
reference to the requirements of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD").

As the Group is located in a geographical location
less likely to be affected by extreme weather (such
as hurricanes, heavy rainfall and flooding) or chronic
risks (such as rising sea level), and our business
does not involve high-intensity carbon emissions,
and regulatory risk in terms of physical risk was
assessed as low risk.
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COMMUNITY SERVICE

We understand that public welfare should not simply
be “donation” or “good cause”. It needs to be self-
sustaining and self-regenerating. Therefore, we are
committed to helping non-profit organizations to reduce
the costs of channel and system development, so as to
enhance their independence and allow them to devote
more focuses on public welfare.

Since 2016, we have organized and launched the “Free
Store Opening of Non-profit Organizations (/A % 4R #8; % &
BEE) " programme to help non-profit organisations open
online non-profit stores for free in an all-round way. Our
support for non-profit organisations includes:

° Operational support, including training on
operational course, online Q&A and regular public
welfare seminars;

o Resource support, which helps non-profit
organisations to promote and market their products
in a variety of methods. These methods include
the market (“Zan Fair”), live streaming of opinion
leaders, increase exposure through distribution
market of Youzan and increase exposure through
online activities.

By the end of 30 November this Year, we have assisted
more than 400 non-profit organisations, accumulatively
helping the non-profit organisations achieve nearly
RMB1 billion in revenue through income generation
instead of donations, and accumulatively attracting more
than 3.17 million people to contribute to public welfare
consumption.
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Case 1: 2021 Charitable New Year's Shopping Festival of
Wenfeng (X 1£2021A &= F & &)

We collaborated with 9 non-profit organisations to
participate in this online event. During the one-week
event, sales of more than RMB200,000 were generated.

Case 2: Live Streaming E-commerce of Yuanyang
Terraced Red Rice (Gt HALK)

We launched a non-profit live streaming to help farmers,
which invited Rao Xueman, a famous writer, to serve as
the host together with the famous video user “Blooming
Jasmine (AEMA93EF]) " to sell 6 agriculture products
with special characteristics including terraced red rice.
Such agriculture products with special characteristics
were favoured by the public once launched. Within 2
hours, the sales in the live streaming room exceeded
RMB100,000, with a cumulative sales of exceeding 1,600
agricultural products. The cumulative number of viewers
in the live streaming room exceeded 16,000.
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We also cooperated with a number of enterprises and
non-profit organisations to jointly hold a public welfare
seminar with the theme of “How Technological Innovation
Empowers the Sustainable Development of Non-profit
Organisations (Rl 872010 B BE 7R A 2 4B 48 AT 35 48
Z2/R)". At the seminar, Youzan and 14 participating
companies and organisations jointly initiated the
establishment of the “Youzan Public Welfare Alliance (B
B m#ER) " to help the continuous development of
public welfare in moving forward.

To practice the concept of science and technology for
good and provide new and more ideas for the sustainable
development of technology-enabled non-profit
organisations, on the Programmer’'s Day on 24 October
this Year, we also launched the “Hackathon (B& &I
) " competition with the theme of public welfare, which
radiated thousands of programmers and attracted 13
teams comprised of more than 90 people to participate in
the competition.

Hackathon
EREHN
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In addition to helping public welfare through technology,
we also helped the society through goods and materials.
For the disaster caused by the extremely heavy rain
in Henan, we donated RMB5 million to the China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation and set up a special
fund for emergency relief of heavy rain in Henan, which
is used for the procurement of emergency materials in
the disaster area and the recovery of life and production
after the disaster. In addition, we also opened the “Henan
Rescue Hotline (AT HEFA4R) " for merchants in the
disasterstricken areas to assist them in solving current
business problems and contacting consumers, and help
merchants affected by operations to alert consumers,
thereby ensuring smooth communication between
buyers and sellers.

This Year, we won the “2021 Responsible Brand Award

(2021 FEEEEHES) " granted by the Organising
Committee of “China Public Welfare Festival (FFEI'A 7@
&) "

In December 2021, together with the Administration
Department, we organized a milk donation activity for
Home-based Elderly Care Center of Liuxia Sub-district in
Hangzhou to express our heart-warming caring, which
was highly recognised and appreciated by Dean Zhang
of the nursing home and Wang Rong GEZ), the deputy
director in charge of Liuxia Sub-district.

Employees of the Group proactively participate in public
welfare activities and strive to bring positive impact to the
community.
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APPENDIX 1: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION

The following is a summary of sustainability information of the

environmental scope for this Year:

Environmental

ftgr— : AIFFAE R RBIRHE

UTRAFENRELEIFEEREHN

E

IRIGSEIR
Air emissions
ERBEHY
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kilogram 5.20
AFIEYINOY T
Sulfur oxides (SOx) kilogram 0.00001
W& 1E40(SOx) T
Particulates (PM) kilogram 0.48
FRY(PM) T
Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREHNRE
Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) Tonne of CO2-equivalent 0.002
ERBERBEHN (EE1) AR EE
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) Tonne of CO2-equivalent 2,388.72
BEORE RASHIN (FE2) NE_FEREE
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of CO2-equivalent 2,388.72
BERBHIEE EE1KA2) AP _FEREE
GHG emissions per employee (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of CO2- 0.53
equivalent/employee
ANTRERBHNE (BE1K2) NP_FERES
/BT
GHG emissions per square metre (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of COs- 0.05
equivalent/square
metre
BTHKBERBHNE EE12) AW _AIERESE
JEFK
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Environmental

IRIGSEER
Waste
BEEY)
Hazardous waste
BEEEEY
Computer Quantity 505
BEEE (i3
Battery Quantity 1,370
REEE) (ks
Ink and Toner Cartridges Quantity 56
BEER EHHME (5
Paper consumption
WRAE
Paper consumption Kilogram 21,258.56
MRAE T
Paper consumption per employee Kilogram/employee 4.73
ANBFRRAE Fr/8T
Energy consumption
RERHFE
Total electricity consumption kWh 3,914,884.00
MRIEES TER&
Total electricity consumption intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 871.14
MEERE (B%ED TRE /BT
Total electricity consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/square metre 84.73
MEBBE (BTAHK) TREFHK
Gasoline Liter 0.90
THERE al
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The following is a summary of the Group's social sustainability MUTERAFEREBENT G EHIEAIFES

information for this year: BREREE .
Social
a4
Number of employees'
BTAH
Total number of employees Number of people 4,494
BT N
Total number of employees by gender
IR 7898 T A
Female Number of people 1,848
pegis N ¢
Male Number of people 2,646
S5 A

Total number of employees by employment type

HIESELE IS TANE

Full-time junior employees Number of people 4,477
ERIRET N
Full-time senior management Number of people 17
EHSREERE N

Total number of employees by age group

RFHRAEPE TS TANE

Total number of employees under 30 Number of people 3,049
30 AT N
Total number of employees aged 30-50 Number of people 1,442
30-505% N
Total number of employees over 50 Number of people 3
50 £ N

1 Number of employees as of 31 December 2021. ' §%$¢§§§¢+:ﬁ =+—HWEIA
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Social

=

Total number of employees by geographical region

e 8|7 I8 T A

Hangzhou Number of people 3,000
LN N
Shenzhen Number of people 426
w3 N
Beijing Number of people 387
IR N
Shanghai Number of people 225
finbict N
Guangzhou Number of people 222
&N N
Chengdu Number of people 95
PRED N
Wuhan Number of people 73
HE N ¢
Nanjing Number of people 6
s N
Hong Kong Number of people 3
BB N ¢
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Social

HEHE
Employee turnover rate?

BIRmKkb®?

Employee turnover rate by gender

IERE 7B B LA HEE

Female % 28.3
pegid
Male % 26.6
sH

Employee turnover rate by age group

FEAARE 7 BB T A I

Total number of employees under 30 % 28.9
30RR AT
Total number of employees aged 30-50 % 23.8
30-505%
Total number of employees over 50 % 50.0
508 A £
2 Employee turnover rate (the number of turnover employees 2 BIRAE BERASTREEREBES
does not include those who have not passed the internship ) =AKEEANHE - CRREEAE+ER
period) = number of turnover employees = (number of turnover BE AZ) X100%
employees + number of employees at the end of the year) X
100%

TEEEERAT "S- —FEH 119



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS g RERRS

Social

HEHE
Employee turnover rate by geographical region

B E BB T At E

Northern China % 31.9
EitE s
Eastern China % 26.2
EREE
Central China % 19.4
EhlE
Northwestern China % 50
FAi@
Southern China % 30.4
Eapaptel
Other regions % 25.0
Hithl& 15
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Social

HEHE
Occupational health and safety

WERRERZZ

Number of work-related fatalities (2019, 2020 and 2021) Number of people 0

RAIECA#H CE—NEE- T _TFEXK A
BT —FE)

Lost days due to work injury Number of days 200
ATEBERIIFEH H#
Development and training

ZREEE

Percentage of employees trained by gender

RIERE| 7B Z 5 1ES B 7

Female % 41.8
gegis
Male % 58.2
sM

Percentage of employees trained by employment type

RIESIERE 7B E|ES B 77

Full-time junior employees % 99.7
ERIRET

Full-time senior management % 0.3
EREREIERE
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Social

=

Average training hours of employees trained by gender

IR B 77 BI 2 e S F 115 5P 2

Male Hour 19
B JIN:=

Female Hour 17
pegid N

Average training hours of employees trained by employment type

RIEFIE S &) 77 092 3l 1E S - F 1915 5P 2(

Average training hours per full-time junior employees Hour 18
SE2BAARE T 953 R /N

Average training hours per senior employee Hour 7
SEZEERE T 53R E 1N
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APPENDIX II: INDEXTO THE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

R DEE]

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE

STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental

Pigk— : MERPR(IRIR LB RER

Related chapters

IRIRES Gl
A1: Emissions | General Relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges 5. Green operation
Al HERY) Disclosure into water and land, and generation of hazardous and birfhiEs
— MR E nonhazardous waste:
BRABRRMAERBIHN BKRIHNES - BERES
BEVNELEN !
(a) the policies; and
(@) B R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer.
b)) BFHETABEAZENEBEIERREINE
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix 1: Summary
POy R AR R B of sustainability
information
Migx— : AINEERESR
R
Al12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 5.2 Reduction of
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | emissions
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 5.2 D EE
Bz (E@E) REREE EE2) BRERBHME LMt | Appendix 1: Summary
B R WER BE WUSESEN SERMETE) o of sustainability
information
Migx— : AIEEREA
KHEE
A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Appendix 1: Summary
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of sustainability
facility). information
FREXEESEEMRE WUEE) K MER BE (UG | ix—: oJFHEEEE
EEB GERME) o KHEE
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Environmental

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | The non-hazardous
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | waste is recycled
facility). collectively by the
FELEEZEZYES LTS &k QB A) BE @WLE | property management
EEBU BERMHHE) o company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEEERVHMEE
BRag—E A&
E &R FILF
(=254
Al15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to 5.2 Reduction of
achieve them. emissions
BWIFEI MBI E B R R AETEEE MM F R | 5.2 DB Y
A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes The waste is managed
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and | collectively by the
steps taken to achieve them. property management
BIEIEAERBEEEEMN G E RMEMPTETILAHEEE | company. The Group
R AEDEL B R HREET B o has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEYVHRYEEER
RM—EE AEEE
MERAEUE > R 1FR
B
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 5.1 Energy saving
resources Disclosure water and other raw materials. 5AEARER
A2 EREA | —RIRE BRERER (BFER K REMEME) AR
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 5.1 Energy saving
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g. | 5.181#Y8E)R
per unit of production volume, per facility). Appendix 1: Summary
BEREDNEER HEEER B RIUH) EFEE | of sustainability
UTFETEFHE) REE MUSESEN - SERKMET | information
8o Mitx— : AIEERE
KHEE
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Environmental

HE

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of The amount of
production volume, per facility). water is handled
BEKERTE WUEBESEN BBRIEHH) ° collectively by the
property management
company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
HKEHMEEER
Af—EIE AEERE
MERAEE > R AR
=
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | 5.1 Energy saving
taken to achieve them. 5AEARER
RIRPrET IRV AR R A i B R e A E 515 L B R FTERER
By 8 o
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | The water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and consumption is
steps taken to achieve them. managed collectively
HACKEBE R ACR LA B E AR MUKRFRE] LR A KR | by the property
BRERAEDELEBEEAFEINT - management
company. The Group
has no relevant data,
and therefore it is
impossible to set a
target
EXKERMEEER
Af—EE AEER
SIS AL EER
TER
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in The Group's business
tonnes) and, where appropriate, per unit produced. does not involve
G AEERNEE (UMEETE) & NER) 8% & | packaging material
Bfhg- FEEBEBNIRE
gk
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIFEE Gl
A3:The General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | 5. Green operation
Environment Disclosure environment and natural resources. bAFEEE
and Natural —fgik HEETAHRERRAEREREAT EMNHE-
ReS_O;;iis A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 5. Green operation
ﬁfﬁﬁ RRR environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | 5.4FBEE
MR manage them.
BREBIBHBRRERRAERNEARERERNERE
BT ENTH -
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | 5.5 Climate change
Change Disclosure related issues which have impacted, and those which may 5. 5REEL
Ad:RREIE —RIEE impact, the issuer.
A REHEERAIESHETAELERENEAREME
FENENE ) e
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 5.5 Climate change
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and | 555 {&#E15
the actions taken to manage them.
BB R KA EEHETAELERENEARRBEEASE
KT o
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Environmental

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
B. Social
Bi®
B1: General Relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and 4. Talent caring
Employment Disclosure promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 4 NTRER
B1: B —RIRE diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare:
BERFMWRER BERSEA TIEREBH TSRS
%t RN R EMEFEREFR
(a) The policies; and
(@)  BR; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer.
b)) ETFTHETABEARENMEBERRAINE
Kto
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and | 4. Talent caring
geographical region. A NT R
2R BESRE - FRAN KGR DI EEEH - Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Mitx— : AIEERA
KEE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Appendix 1: Summary

geographical region.

IR ERER RN BRI DN EE TR

of sustainability
information

Mitx— : AINEERE
KEE

FEEEARAT T —FEER
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Environmental Related chapters
IRIRER Gl
B2: Health and | General Relating to providing a safe working environment and 4.2 Safe operation
Safety Disclosure protecting employees from occupational hazards: 42Z WA
B2: BEHEZ | —RiKE BERREZETRRERREREEBLHELREN !
ES
(a) the policies; and
(@)  BR; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer.
b)) ETFTHETABEARZENMEBEIRRRINE
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred. 4.2 Safe operation;
R TERGRMIETHIABKLEE - 422N ;
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Mitx— : AIEERA
KHEE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 4.2 Safe operation;
RIBEEIIIEHH- 42BN ;
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Mitx— : AINEERE
REERE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 4.2 Safe operation
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. 42Z WA
RPNV B R R R R 2 25 URBERITRERA
V&
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RIS g RERRS

Environmental

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 4.4 Career
Development Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. | development
and Training —fgiR B BRIRAEERIT LB BN # R AR EER o #itiEsl | 4 4ABEEE
B3 : EERKIE EE e
Al B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Appendix 1: Summary
employee category (e.g. senior management and middle of sustainability
management). information
BHRRETHER NehEER HREEES BNNT | Wit—  tJFELREE
JEIEDLE- RHEE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Appendix 1: Summary
gender and employee category. of sustainability
BRIk ETERE D 8RBT TR information
BfgE— : PIRFAEEE
KHEE
B4: Labour General Relating to preventing child and forced labor: 4.1 Compliance
Standards Disclosure BREARIEET gm0 employment
B4: TR | —RIKE LIEHER
(a) the policies; and
@) BE;R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer.
b)) EFHETABEAZENEBEIZRRANINE
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | 4.1 Compliance
avoid child and forced labour. employment
s E R EHI A L B R B T Reag bl T o 4IAEHIENR
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | 4.1 Compliance
discovered. employment
Wi ERERBREERE BB RIS 5 o 41ERIER
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RIS g RELRS

Environmental
RIFEE

B5: Supply
Chain
Management
B5 : ftIEHE
i

Related chapters

Gl

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 3.6 Supply chain

Disclosure supply chain. management

—fgiR B BB HERNRIE R SRR J6fEREE

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.6 Supply chain
eS| D HEREEEE - management

36fEREE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 3.6 Supply chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being management
implemented, and how they are implemented and J6EEEE
monitored.

A R A EEENIE mERNTARIBAIMNERERE
B -URBEREBEANRITRERA E-

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 3.6 Supply chain
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are management
implemented and monitored. JoMtrEREE
AR A HEESERANIRE KT ERBHNIEN X
KABRABAIT KRB 5%

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 3.6 Supply chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, management
and how they are implemented and monitored. J6EEEE

BREREHEEREESBRAERKRBNEG Uk
HEATRERS A
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RIS g RERRS

Environmental

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
B6: Product General Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and 3.2 Information
Responsibility Disclosure privacy matters relating to products and services provided protection;
B6: EmEMT | —HREE and methods of redress: 325 ERE;
BERPTRHERNRBNREEZS - BEE EEREME | 3.3 Protecting
BB ER intellectual property
rights
(a)  the policies; and SIMEEN A ER
(@) HE; R 3.4 Service quality;
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that | 3.4RFE = ;
have a significant impact on the issuer.
b)) BFHETABEATZENEREIEREINE
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to The Group's business
recalls for safety and health reasons. does not involve selling
BEHCEFEMEHTRAZ 2 EREEAMARWKE | or shipping products
Atbe REBEB NI RE
ot E SE
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | 3.5 User experience
and how they are dealt with. 35AFER
BERNERRRBORFEE URER F -
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | 3.3 Protecting
intellectual property rights. intellectual property
R R A B R (R IR A B EE 1B ARV B G rights
3 MEE M HAEE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall The Group's business
procedures. does not involve selling
HrEERERERERBINER - or shipping products
REBEB NI RE
o E SE R
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 3.2 Information
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. protection
WO BEMBRRERBELER  UREERITRERA | 32E6ERE
& o
FEAEERAS —S-—F4R8 131
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RIS g RELRS

Environmental

Related chapters

IRIRER Gl
B7: Anti- General Relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering: 3.1 Anti-corruption
corruption Disclosure BRI 8RR B8N 3IRES
B7: R&S —fR iR

(a) the policies; and

(@) HE; R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer.

b)) BFHETABEATZENEREIEREINE

B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | 3.1 Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the JRES
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHETAIHESRE T EEENESHANE
GRSE SNSRI EES

B72 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 3.1 Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. | 3. 1R &S
iR S R B RET U TRERE S %

B73 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors 3.1 Anti-corruption
and staff. JRES
HirREERETRENRESHE -

B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to understand the 6. Community service
investment Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to | 6.%T& iR
B HEERE | —HIKE ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
BENHE2URTREEMEHRREENBEREERS
HeETEHEHHEMBUR -

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 6. Community service
HTEREE 6.4 @RS

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 6. Community service
EEIBRMEBAER 6.4 & RS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 141 to 354 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

RSM

® HEBEEARAE
(I ERZEA ML Z B IRAE])
EX

R

EEEERTRAEARRAR (ERF))
REMBAD TE£E) HNFEINES
BBARZHREMBHRE EFEER T
T+ R=1+—HZEEMHIKRRE
RBEZHIEFEZREEaR HEE
mREMEERATR GEE@EH TR
FERTMBHRE  URGREMHBRRNE
(BEERGSBERER) °

EEZRR REFBEMNLAE (HEE
SRR ) Mz EBMBREER (TF
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ANFEMRREERNR _ZT - —F+_81
=+—BZEEUHERR URHEBEZ
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that, the Group had incurred a
loss of approximately RMB3,293,020,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021 and the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB193,572,000 as at 31 December
2021. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key Audit Matter
RREBIZEIE

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
("CGUs")
REESEM (ReEF BN ZREE

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

2RGEMBRRMNEE21

As at 31 December 2021, before impairment testing,
goodwill with total carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,963 million was allocated to the third party
payment services CGU ("CGU A") and the merchant
services CGU ("CGU B"). These CGUs are tested for
impairment at least annually or whenever there is an
impairment indicator by comparing the carrying amount
including goodwill with the recoverable amount of the
CGU.

N _E_—F+ZA=+—H REEAER  ERERE
#I AR #1,963,000,000cHEEE DA EE =FH 2 TAR
BReELSN (REEELBMNA) RBERBRFREE
S8 (MREELEMUB)) ZEREELENELVESHF
FEHRBESFREEELLRREE (B1FEE) ERE
EF B AU el EEITRERIF -

The result of the Group’s CGU A impairment assessment
concluded that there was no impairment loss for this
CGU as at 31 December 2021.
EEERSELBUANRETIGERE~N ZREESE
BUR 2 —F+_A=+—"HBAEEREESIE-

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

FREZEE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
EE B NAEERAREEZEE

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessments included:

EENEEEZAENEREFEE

Evaluation of independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

S LI EM . BEREE &
8

Assessing the integrity of the
valuation modeIS'

sHEEEREZ ZRIE

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge
of the business and industry; and
*EF% BE %%f’quﬁi—%a’]wu uﬁjz’ \%TZ
Igﬁxmzmﬁ ;&

Assessing the appropriateness of
the discount rates used with the
assistance of our internal valuation
specialists.

RS HEBZEXNHE T > 5 1HPTER
BAZARENEE M -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key Audit Matter
RREBIZEIE

At 31 December 2021, CGU B was tested for impairment
and impairment loss of RMB2,184,139,000 was
recognised on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, goodwill and intangible assets at the end of
reporting period to reduce the carrying amount of CGU B
to its recoverable amount.

RIEBE_—F+_RA=+—H BHRTELBEUBET
BERE WRRESHARMAE B rRE EREE
E-BEkBETEERDAERBIBARE2184,139,000
70 MR IRE E S BUBRREERIREE TR ERE

The impairment assessments were based on value
in use models which were dependent upon certain
key assumptions that require significant management
judgement and estimation.

BEMGERNEHAEERE ZREXBNRNEE2FEE
REREHE R G5tV E TR R o

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
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B HENER S S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

29 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

n‘7r | *ﬁ ?—é

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

B

I+ _"A=1+—HIEFE

2021 2020
B _"EZTETF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBT ARETIT
Revenue W 8 1,569,991 1,820,723
Cost of sales THE A (617,728) (738,639)
Gross profit EH 952,263 1,082,084
Investment and other income KEREMBEA 9 63,786 76,937
Other gains and losses, net Hh e 518 0 F 58 10 (2,186,924) 1,569
Selling expenses tHERMZ (959,106) (781,882)
Administrative expenses TR (335,312) (241,438)
Equity-settled share-based payments Hﬂ&m%ﬁyf AN (53,130) (62,197)
Amortisation of intangible assets wmEE 22 (124,964) (193,143)
Other operating expenses Efﬁﬁ“‘@rﬁﬁ%fi (609,294) (445,165)
Loss from operations KERSE (3,252,681) (563,235)
Finance costs LS A A 11 (22,642) (27:886)
Share of losses of associates, net FEGHE AB 2 B8 B8R 24 (217) (1,161)
Fair value change in financial assets at ~ ZAF(EsT AEEGZR
fair value through profit or loss (M2 AFEFATEER
(“FVTPL") miR) CHMBEEEZ
NEEEEF 7(b) 23,758 -
Loss before tax FRIRAIESIE (3,251,782) (692,282)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisi FEx) 8% 13 (41,238) 46,629
Loss for the year TEFEERBFE 14 (3,293,020) (545,653)
Attributable to: UTFALREML:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ TN (2,509,498) (294,671)
Non-controlling interests JEIER (783,522) (250,982)
(3,293,020) (545,653)
Loss per share BREE
(expressed in RMB per share) UESRAREBZY) 18
Basic B (0.1466) (0.0180)
Diluted e N/A RBR  N/ATEA
FEAEARAT — % —EEHR 141



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A L
%mm?ﬁfm

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HttEEWAR

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

2021 2020
R TEITHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+t AR®TT
Loss for the year TEERBE (3,293,020) (545,653)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEUWKA :
Item that will not be reclassified to FEEM T EEEm s EE .
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of financial assets BAFESATHEMEE
at fair value through other Wbk R FEETA
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) FEEMEEB AR
ZHMBEEZ A TEEZS (45,015) 11,161
Item that may be reclassified to Bl gEEM T E B o BH -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEB 2 ERELE
foreign operations (16,831) (93,876)
Other comprehensive income FRHEMZEWA
for the year, net of tax NpRIRE (61,846) (82,715)
Total comprehensive income FARAZEKALLE
for the year (3,354,866) (628,368)
Attributable to: LUTFALRER:
Owners of the Company KRBIHEB A (2,568,259) (378,705)
Non-controlling interests IRt (786,607) (249,663)
(3,354,866) (628,368)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

W2 —F+"8=+—H

2021 2020
T CZTITHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARBFT ARETT
Non-current assets JERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ E K 19 50,153 64,705
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 160,424 240,853
Long term deposits RiEE 30 7137 3,209
Goodwill EES 21 341,326 1,963,409
Intangible assets EBEEE 22 855,593 1,439,645
Investments in associates REERNBIZRE 24 4,953 3,170
Capitalised contract costs BEXRMEEHMA 31 33,550 24,464
Loans to employees mEEEHZEM 32 3,150 2,650
Deferred tax assets FRIERIBE EE 43 68,772 195,705
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESATERERZ
MHEE 25 372,675 -
Financial assets at FVTOCI BN EST AT EM
THEHNHREZMBEE 26 71,490 117,024
Earnest money paid MBEREENHES
for a potential investment 27 - 50,000
1,969,223 4,104,834
Current assets MHBEE
Inventories 78 28 921 1,384
Trade receivables JFE UK BR =R 29 4,292 1,821
Prepayments, deposits and other FANRIE BT R
receivables Hh U FRIE 30 397422 806,109
Capitalised contract costs RN (=¥ %N 31 173,000 170,796
Amounts due from non-controlling FE WL B /&8 A B
shareholders of subsidiaries JEEERR IR ERFRIE 33(a) 1,272 260
Amount due from a related company FE U — R RE Bt 2 B Rk 1B 33(b) 800 452
Current tax assets BNERRIBE A& 174 772
Restricted bank balances ZIRHERITAARR 34 1,951 58,414
Balances with central bank ERHRRIBTTRIA 35 3,613,237 5,340,582
Bank and cash balances R1T R IR T AR 36 710,683 1,727,056
4,903,752 8,107646
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMTEAR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

RWIE2_—F+"B=1+—H

2021 2020
B85 T -ZTHF
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 AREBFT ARETT
Current liabilities Vit =Nl
Trade payables FETERFR 37 2,762 4,396
Accruals and other payables TEIRE A R EMERIE 38 558,831 620,918
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT B [ Bl FE PR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries ESEE] 39 306 256
Contract liabilities EHEE 40 683,492 611,236
Lease liabilities GiEN =N 41 48,284 19,170
Settlement obligations EEEMT 42 3,802,658 5,802,001
Current tax liabilities BERfR B EE 991 869
5,097,324 7058,846
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (Bl BEEE (193,572) 1,048,800
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTHERE 1,775,651 5,153,634
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Contract liabilities == 40 55,446 56,371
Lease liabilities HEaE 41 225,368 223,091
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIBE A 43 158,014 244,073
438,828 523,535
NET ASSETS BEEZE 1,336,823 4,630,099
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

W2 —F+"8=+—H

2021 2020
B —ZT”-ZTHE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 55 AR+ ARBTT
Capital and reserves BARK#E
Equity attributable to owners of KNBHEB ANELER
the Company

Share capital % 44 145,036 144,981
Reserves B 47 1,201,430 3,713,814
1,346,466 3,858,795
Non-controlling interests PR e T (9,643) 771,304
TOTAL EQUITY WEm4E%E 1,336,823 4,630,099

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and are
signed on its behalf by:

PEAEARAH

Mr. Zhu Ning
KREXRE

e

N B _HE=ZR_+HAHEKLEETgH
R TNYEERREE

Mr. Yu Tao
AL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mAEmEER

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

Attributable to owners of the-Company

HARER AR
Shares held Share
Share Share  for Share Award Other Non-
Share premium option Award Scheme Warrant reserves Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve Scheme reserve reserve (note 45) losses Total interests equity
R {p
REEE  ROGRE  DREE  HitRHE
Kx ROEER BRERE RBEzZRG  HRE e (sie)  BEEBHE Ait REREE  EZAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETT AREFT AREFr AREFr AREFr ARETr ARETr AEETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RZEZZE-B-H 128665 5,025,838 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 T4 (33,741)  (1,469,148) 3,658,468 240579 3,899,047
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZEWAEE - - - - - - (84,034)  (294671)  (378705) (249,663  (628,368)
Release of FVTOCI upon disposals RHERRRRATE
SAZHME2ERER - - - - - - (721 721 - - -
Issuance of placing shares (note 44(al) ~ S{TECE Rk (H5Hd4(a)) 11,324 704,728 - - - - - - 716,062 - 716,062
Exercise of warrants TERRER 4,49 338,062 - - - (774) - - 342,027 - 340027
Exercise of share options TiEERE u*3 24,497 (5,267) - - - - - 19473 - 19,473
Acquisitions of interest in a subsidiary ~ YifE—FI B AR
without change of control (U m s
(note 49(c) and (d)) (FsE49(0Rld)) - - - - - - (B60,717) - (60717 775,093 214,376
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 49(a)) ~ WE—FMBAT
(H£E49(a)) - - - - - - - - - 5,295 5,295
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ REZERHZATE - - 29,400 - 32,797 - - - 62,197 - 62,197
Release upon lapse of share options  FAERRRHIE B ERRS - - (54,975) - - - - 54,975 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares BERANGEEYER
transfer to awardees RERN - - - 61,065 (61,085) - - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year EREGES 16,316 1,067277 (30,842) 61,085 (28,268) (77) (651,962  (232,485) 200,327 530,725 731,052
At 31 December 2020 RIE-ZE
+-A=1+-H 144,981 6,093,115 33,492 (75,524) 50,067 - (685,703 (1,701,633) 3,858,795 771,304 4,630,099
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ-F-B—H 144,981 6,093,115 33,492 (75,524) 50,067 - (685,703 (1,701,633) 3,858,795 771,304 4,630,099
Total comprehensive income for the year £RZEYABE - - - - - - (58761) (2,509,498  (2,568259)  (786,607)  (3,354,866)
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E-SHE-EHBAT
without change of control (note 49(b) (I 51 iELE)
(HzE49(b)) - - - - - - (1,331) - (1,331) 2,720 1,389
Contribution from non-controlling —BHBARFEERRR
shareholders of a subsidiary A& - - - - - - - - - 2,940 2,940
Exercise of share options e E 55 5,309 1,233) - - - - - 4131 - 4131
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ BEEERMG X A - - 13,437 - 39,693 - - - 53,130 - 53,130
Release upon lapse of share options ~ FAERRRIER B 212 - - 81) - - - - 81 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares RER\EETURR
transfer to awardees RERGD - - - 32,39 (32,396) - - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year EREDEED 55 5,309 12,123 32,39 7297 - (60092 (2509417 (2512329)  (780947)  (3293,276)
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ-F
+ZA=1+-H 145,036 6,098,424 45,615 (43,128) 57364 - (745,795)  (4,211,060) 1,346,466 (9.643) 1,336,823
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTREREK

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
2021 2020
“EZ—-F _"T°ZTHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B EE ARBT ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RS TR E RS
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI ATES I8 (3,251,782) (592,282)
Adjustments for: T TR IEAEE .
(Reversal)/allowance for trade FEUWRBRE RN (BE[@)
receivables, net B > SR EE 29 (533) 1,262
Allowance for inventories FEEE 14 1,024 82
Reversal of allowance for Fa~EHmE e REM
prepayments, deposits FEWL R IE 35 % 3% O] »
and other receivables, s B4
net of allowance 30 - (19,037)
Amortisation of intangible assets IS EEN 22 124,964 193,143
Amortisation of capitalised ENIR=F SN 7=
contract costs 31 243,288 212,842
Depreciation of property, plant ME- -BEMRREITE
and equipment 19 21,528 19,192
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESETE 20 53,372 47445
Equity-settled share-based payments REEBRMDZRIE 53,130 62,197
Finance cost BERA 1 22,642 27886
Impairment of property, Y EREERE
plant and equipment 10,19 22,110 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREESERE 10,20 80,393 -
Impairment of goodwill HMERE 10,21 1,622,083 1,047
Impairment of intangible assets mILEERIE 10,22 459,553 -
Interest income from bank deposits RITEZF BUA 9 (13,562) (11,479)
Interest income from central bank AR ERITH] B 9 (12,835) (17.733)
Interest income from loan to other mEMATEEZEF
FEUA 9 - (109)
Net gain on disposals of HEYE B EREE
property, plant and equipment 2 R A 10 (55) (59)
Gain on early termination of leases RERIEBEE 2 WS 10 (82) (222)
Property, plant and Y2~ RS e sk i 3H
equipment written-off 10 - 356
Fair value change on financial asset BANTEEFTATERE
at FVTPL ZHBEEZ ANTE
) 7(b) (23,758) -
Rent concession HHEEH 9 - (1,905)
Share of loss of associates, net (LBt E AT Z 518
B RE 24 217 1,161
Written off of trade receivables i EH FE UK BR = 10 643 345
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAREMERRE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —TER
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

st ARBFT AREBTT

Operating loss before working EEBTEHEIZ
capital changes K& EE (597,660) (75,868)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE @gm R (561) 51
(Increase)/decrease in trade FEUWLER R (30) R
receivables (2,581) 1,878
Decrease in prepayments, deposits B RIE fE R EHAM
and other receivables exclude other FEW RIS (R EIEE
receivables restricted for settling BRGEEEEETE
settlement obligations HAhFEWERIE) D 259,093 150,028
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables ERREE BEESE
restricted for settling settlement HtE =g R L/
obligations (2 1m) 142,538 (1,468)
Increase in capitalised contract costs BRI EAI R AIEMN (254,578) (279,519)
Decrease/(increase) in ZIREERITAAER
restricted bank balances L (1) 32,833 (29,367)
Decrease/(increase) in balances with FB AR RIBITRRIER D
central bank /(38 n) 1,727,345 (808,600)
(Increase)/decrease in amount due FEW — B BB A B RN IE
from a related company (g R (348) 182
(Decrease)/increase in settlement HEESE G 1
obligations (1,999,343) 732,442
Decrease in trade payables FEAT BR R (1,634) (1,451)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and iR E AR A MEN
other payables =18 GRiZb) 10 (72,282) 236,393
Increase in amounts due to non- NN EYNGIE] 22
controlling shareholders of B&% ERFRIBIE N
subsidiaries 50 256
Increase in contract liabilities =R OR=REN 71,331 213,334
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (FfA) /FridiRs (695,797) 138,291
Interest income received BUWERITERH B WA
from bank deposits 9 13,562 11,479
Interest income received B R RIBITH] B WA
from central bank 9 12,835 17733
Interest income received B EEMALTEHZ
from loan to other BRF EWA - 145
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEEENERX 11 (22,642) (19,525)
Income tax (refund)/paid (GE[E) EfER 356 (3,697)
Net cash (used in)/generated from 1w E) (FrA) s
operating activities IREIFRE (691,686) 144,426
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

W E_E-—F+_A=+—HILEE

2021 2020
R TEITHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBT ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a non-wholly owned WHE—EIF2ENE LD
subsidiary 49(a) - 10,328
Addition of financial assets at FVTOCI RER AT BT ATEEM
SHEHNGRZMBEE  7b) - (35,459)
Additions of financial assets at FVTPL ~ HREBRAFEFT AT
Bk WBEE 7(b) (289,416) -
Addition of intangible assets NEBTEE 22 (465) (622)
Addition of an associate RE—EEE AR (2,000) (3,000)
Dividend received from an associate m—EBREABWEZ
iz 2 - 3,625
Earnest money paid for potential EEBEIREMNEE
investment - (50,000)
(Increase)/decrease in long term Ef@s dgm ml
deposits (3,928) 8,066
Increase in amount due from non- FE W BY 8~ B FE 4 AR
controlling interest shareholders of 1 30 B SR AR IR B 0
subsidiaries (1,012) -
Loans to a related company m—EREBABEHZ
B - (500)
Repayment from loans to a m—EEBASIER 2
related company BRUgR - 1,300
Loans to others EEMALEHZER (5,000) (10,610)
Repayment from loan to other BEMALEHZ
BREM 10,610 3,000
Loan to an employee E—%EEFHZER 32 (500) -
Purchase of property, plant BAME- -BEKRKE
and equipment 19 (29,135) (23,615)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFATEEM
assets at FVTOCI SEHNGRRCTREE
Fr SR I8 - 23,108
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYE - BEKRKRE
plant and equipment FTiSFR I8 101 228
Net cash used in investing activities KREEHPTAREFE (320,745) (74,151)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAREMERRE

150

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_"BA=+—HIEFE
2021 2020
BT -F EZIEHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% ARBTFT ARBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEEBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Contribution from non-controlling —REIR B AR IEER
shareholders of a subsidiary BERAE 2,940 214,376
Contribution from a non-controlling BERE—TWE—E
shareholder of a subsidiary in related to  F{ B ATz —RIM B
further acquisition of a subsidiary NEIFEERKREIE 49(b) 1,389 -
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAE{t A2 (20,417) (54,385)
Repayment of other loan BEEMER - (204,485)
Net proceeds from issuance of BT E R PTIERIA
placing shares A RE 44(a) - 716,052
Net proceeds from exercise of warrants {T{EsR AR IEBFT 1S AIE
SFEB - 342,027
Net proceeds from exercise of TEBREPSRIEFEE
share options 4,131 19,473
Repayment of borrowing BEBR - (2,136)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RMEES FrA) s
financing activities IREIREE (11,957) 1,030,922
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH REKRIREZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GRiZL) /18 hni#EE (1,024,388) 1,101,197
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEFHFE (15,615) (95,861)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®W—RA—Hz
AT 1 JANUARY RERAEEEY 1,751,530 746,194
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W+ZB=+—Bz2
AT 31 DECEMBER RERREEEY 711,527 1,751,530
ANALYSIS OFTHE CASHAND CASH HE&ERIRELEYDH
EQUIVALENTS
Restricted bank balances = PR HIAS AR
— for settlement of amounts payable — ARG EREN
to employees BEZ I8 34 844 24,474
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIRE 4R
Designated bank balances for AREREEEREZ
settlement of settlement obligations e EIRTTASER - 99,864
Other Hith 710,683 1,627,192
711,527 1,751,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, bth Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda. The address of its principal place of business
is Unit 2708, 27/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong. The Company's shares are listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

—RRE R
KpBlBARERESMRILIZE
[RAE] e HEF M= E U Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermudac HF &
EEMBAUNEAERKBEFIN
FRIRF027182708%F o KA B R 1D
EEBHMERGIBRAE (M
i) GEM Lo

AR HREBERAT HINEB AT
ZEEEBHNESMBRKRME
230

ZEGEEVMBREDRBEEAES
fiAg (EBGSMAS)) Bz
PREEREBMBREER (IEE
PHRELER]) FHR-BBYHRE
HABREEBYHRESER ((HE
R EER)) ; EAGEHER (&
BEER) ; kB RFRGH
BERERITT M ZFAGEME S L
RAZ BRBKBERX BB QTR
(56622%) ZIRBEMTE - R EB R
ZEREGFBERN T SRE

EEGSMAGER/RBETINAE
EAESHHEE REMIAHIER
RN Z 5] RIEES] BB BRS
ER ERFHEEMBRERARBZ
HYRERZSEAAERFRANE
SIMGI Nz AFENBEGSTHMH
R HRZ RSB F AN HIEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

152

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Contd)

The Group had incurred a loss of approximately
RMB3,293,020,000 during the year ended 31 December
2021 and, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB193,572,000 as at 31 December
2021. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Management have prepared cash flow forecasts for
a period of twelve months from the reporting date,
having considered the Group's historical and expected
future performance, and the expected development
of the markets in which the Group operates, which
demonstrate that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall
due for the foreseeable future. The forecasts incorporate
management’s plans to control operating costs such
as staff costs, promotion and advertising expenses and
capital expenditures etc. The directors are therefore
of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities, respectively.

#

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

rEBEE_T_—F+_H1
St BLEFEEEBEBOAR
#3,293,020,00070 ' AEER =
T+ "HB=t+—HZRHAEE
FEEX A NR15193,572,0007T © 5%
ERNETEENESCAERTE
REENBEFRZEATIRER
RN —RERBREP AR AE
HESEREEER.

KEBXFERZBEREHARKE
T U AEBEEFRET S 2R
¥R SEEERRERSAHE
+TEABEZRERERA A
FRAXRBAEERRE BHUBE
BRI EERKETHEI S E
RAGSEERBENEEME WA
TAA EEREERRERFAS
%) Z5t8 At ERBR O BEE
KEEERUESHUBRERTE G
EoMAEEEAEERBLE R
WRHM WAL AR LIRS
EEEEEREEWOEEE U
B P S IR 2 ERREINE R WK
FERBEERERDHEMDEAR
RBBEEKRER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

PEAEARAH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE-S-—E+-A=t—ALEE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. AR RISMES IR BT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HwREZEA
STANDARDS
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FERFRTRLIETEBE
BHREER

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Reform — Phrase 2
HKFRS 7 HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group has early applied the
Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021.

Except as described below, the application of
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

e

RRRE SV BHREE A&
EEEREAR - - —
—B—BuRzBHBZFE
HEREENZUATESRS
STENAERMMZE B BR
HEAZEFTA

ERUBRE FIEEEY
RS9 B-%_
SEGEL PR
F395EEFAB
Bk S 2R
BTN EE
Rk S 2R
BAFRER
Bk S 2R
B165E 2 BT
FiN

s AEBERTEEAES
RS R B 165 ZEFT
KRB —F/B=1H
&2 COVID-191HRATEE R % °

PR N P& S IR EEE
RBEBMBRS ERZEF]
AHKAEBRAFERBE
FENUBERRRRRER,/
BB S I % F S AR BT IR

BUEERTE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AATS AR MIEE

g A
777 N

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3.

154

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Cont'a)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Cont'd)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform - Phrase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as modifications,
and (ii) discontinuing hedge accounting when
an interest rate benchmark is replaced by an
alternative benchmark rate as a result of the reform
of interbank offered rates (“IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have
contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest
rates which are subject to the IBOR reform.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

3.

PRANITS] BAES T B BT

HEAER @
(a) FERMEIRAMETERRM

BIREEN @

BEMBHREER I F
HBEERF399 - EEMFE
WEERF7 - EEMER
HERFVRREBMBRE
ERF1695 2 15T FIEE
ERE-F_BR

BRI RIRMEAR TS A E
HEBERBE (WREEME
EE -MHBEREREEERZ
BHNREREZEENEF
TERESTET G RRE 5 ki)
HRIRITEERENE (TR
TREHFENRE)) » EFERE
ERENEEFRIAE R
AR E SRR

MR AEELEEREERN K
HIARRITEERENE
TEZEH BUESTHRENY
BRI R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

PEAEARAH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE-S-—E+-A=t—ALEE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. F.%Hﬁ%‘f&..@%é?é%ﬁﬁ%
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREER @
STANDARDS (cont'a)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FERFRTRLIETEBE
(Cont'd) HIREER @

Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions

The Group previously applied the practical
expedient in HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was
not required to assess whether rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic were lease modifications, if the
eligibility conditions are met (see note 4(f)). One
of these conditions requires the reduction in lease
payments affect only payments originally due on or
before a specified time limit. The 2021 amendment
extends this time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30
June 2022.

The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements to the Group since the Group
did not have any rent obtain rent concession during
the year.

e

BEEBUBHREERFE167Z
1£2775COVID-1916FF = &
%
REBLEREBE B BER
EHEAFEIRPZAITHE
Bk MEAERBAMAEE
B8 ES (RMsE4(1) > BB
BFHECOVID-19% 1B M E
BENCHSERRTER
HEER AP —BEREEX
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ERRANZAEIHNERT
IR e ZB - —F BT A K Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E TS ERARMIEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ T _—F+_A=+—HIEFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. ?"?I’ﬁﬁ%}&ﬁgﬂ%%—]'ﬁ;%mﬁ%
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREER @
STANDARDS (cont'a)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EiEMmEEEKRERZHE]
not yet effective REIETE BB IREEE
Ell
Other than the amendments to HKFRS 16, BREBMBREEAF165E
COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 ZESTAR_ZZE_—F XA
June 2021, the Group has not applied any new =+ H%2ZCOVID-19t8FE 72
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are TERIN RN _E—F—A
not yet effective for the financial year beginning —HRBZMBEE  xEE
1 January 2021. These new and revised HKFRSs I FE R BB MHE R R
include the following which may be relevant to the ST REIETTE B
Group. BMESED] . ZFMT REE

156

SBRBMBREENGRET
PRI EE AL EAREE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT BEI B RA

2R EN

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination 1 January 2022
— Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BARAMBREERNSBIR BT REBH - "F#—H—H
—BERIEIR Z Rt

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment 1 January 2022
— Proceeds before Intended Use

BAGHERFE R BT A= BB R E - "F#—H—H
— B ERRAIFFSRIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-T-—#1-A=+OLEE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BRI RAEMES T B BT

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Cont'd)

(b)

PEAEARAH

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b)
not yet effective (Cont'a)

WEEA @

EIRME R R EMZ T
ESIERBMBREE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTHEAS A B R A
2B AREN

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BB G EREITR BT AGEBREN
—BITEHZHRAE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle
BAMBREEN - \FE_Z_TFHEAZFENE

Amendments to HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
SEGHERFIRZBIIA

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
— Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BARAEFERE IR BT AP HFRR IR
BAMBREENEB ATR2RIELEZ M A
— BRI E

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors — Definition of Accounting Estimates

BAGERESR BT A ER - Fethst 2 B KRiasR—
Gt ZER

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction
BEAGERFI2R B R HE—RXFEFZEER
B EMHEBAZIELESR

e

1 January 2022
“E-"F%—HF—H
1 January 2022
“E-"%—HF—H
1 January 2023

“ZE=F—H—H

1 January 2023

—_E_=%—HF—H

1 January 2023

—_E_=F—F—H

1 January 2023

—_E_=F—HF—H
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3.

158

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Cont'a)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Cont'a)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments and new standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below
(e.g. financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

(Cont’d)

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(a)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

PEAEARAH

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company’'s ownership interest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amounts
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment loss, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(b) Business combination and goodwiill
(Cont'd)

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum
of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary
is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added
to the sum of the consideration transferred in a
business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at the non-controlling
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and

liabilities at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

PEAEARAF

(Cont'd)
(b) Business combination and goodwiill (b) EHEHKEE @
(Cont'd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") or groups
of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(¢) Associates (Contd)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements by the
equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or

loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(c) Associates (Contd) (c) HEAQT @

PEAEARAF

The Group’'s share of an associate’s post-
acquisition profits or losses and other
comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate
that results in a loss of significant influence
represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that associate
and (ii) the Group's entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Associates (Contd)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in
RMB which is the Company's presentation
currency. The functional currency of the
Company is HK$. The directors consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency
best suit the needs of the shareholders and
investors.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) (d) SMEH]RE @

PEAEARAH

Transactions and balances in each entity's
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in the term of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (Cont'a)

(iif)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the Company's
presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) (d) SMEH]RE @

PEAEARAH

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(e)

170

Property, plant and equipment (Cont'a)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of lease
and estimated useful
lives, being no more than
20 years after the date of
completion

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and office  20% - 33%

equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(f) Leases ( FHE

PEAEARAF

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops
and office furniture. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f)

Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(f) Leases (Contd) nH MEB®

PEAEARAH

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f)

Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether
the rent concessions are lease modifications,
are recognised the changes in consideration as
negative lease payment in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g) Other intangible assets

(1) Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group's
SaaS (Software as a Service) or third-party
payment services platform development
is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- the technical feasibility of completing

the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- management intends to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

- there is ability to use or sell the
intangible asset;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g)

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(1)

Internally-generated intangible assets —

research and development expenditure

(Cont’d)

- it can be demonstrated how the
intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development can be reliably
measured.

Internally-generated intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

(Cont’d)
(g) Other intangible assets (Contd) () HtEEEE®

(i) Intangible assets acquired through business (i)  BEEBEESCHEZ
combination — trademarks, E-commerce EEE—BE -EFE

applications and distribution networks TEEFH R 77 554845
Intangible assets acquired in a business =B e iEN E
combination are identified and recognised FEERERIELEEN
separately from goodwill where they satisfy EECUEMEERS
the definition of an intangible asset. B g & o B o Bl e I

é}’\j\o

Trademarks assessed to have indefinite Bt R#EBEROE
useful lives are not amortised. Any FAEANEERNIESH
conclusion that the useful life of an tHo M EEZ A F A
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed FHBE R E 4
annually to determine whether events and REFms UEER
circumstances continue to support the EGKRERNEDES
indefinite useful life assessment for that THEMEEAEEER
asset. If they do not, the change in the AERAFHZ T H oW
useful life assessment from indefinite to BREZ AgE8s
finite is accounted for prospectively from the H ER¥ERL P8 AR HATE
date of change and amortisation is charged EIRE R AR TG
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over FAERBBAEEAR I
the asset’s estimated remaining useful life. BRZIBEEE 2G5 H
BREAFEARNEERE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g)

(h)

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(1) Intangible assets acquired through business

combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
(Cont'd)
Impairment reviews of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment.

E-commerce applications and distribution
network are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of
6.7 years and 2.7 years since the date of
acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(i) Other contract costs i) HthELmAE

PEAEARAF

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which
are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a customer that it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered,
unless the expected amortisation period is one
year or less from the date of initial recognition of
the asset, in which case the costs are expensed
when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract
are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used
to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because
the Group entered into the contract. Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Other contract costs (Contd)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL") in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(z) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

#

4.

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE
BEAGHEBER @
(i) HME9mE @
BRI E M A4 R

(i)

ST AR EEEYR-ES
MR AE ERREEBBI)F
EERBRAXHMEERRBS
A 5 AR 75 1 R U ER B9 AU 18 BR
B E AR AAXZE
BREHZEZERURBEE
B B AL () Bl 2 B9 3 BB By > ST
B RS E ©

EARCB AR A EIH N S
EERBWEFERERAN
B

BHEERGHNER
HAEERRESORMEZ
IR G BB ER I
L AE =z Al e S0 > B SR
GHEE aNEEREHN
MEE4(z) 2 BEREHATRERE &
R (FRAEERE) » IR
W BB 2 R A Al A B AR £
R X BT D SR E R WRUIE ©

fisd &= 2 1S 7 &2 [ B 5B AE R UK
mZ A RE RIS A
A& 0 & B A &K 1
5] I s £ B B SO AE BE R
AIERAE TR RSN E
BeoEZFBR T TR
RSB FE LR IR °

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

PEAEARAH

(Cont’d)
(j) Contract assets and contract liabilities ) BHNEERSHERE ®
(Cont’d)

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Cont'a)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is

recognised in profit or loss.

(I) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the

classification of the financial assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective
interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

)

(m)

Financial assets (Conta)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(m) Trade and other receivables (Contd) (m) PFEYERFIR EMEWEIE

PEAEARAH

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as
a financial liability at the time the guarantee is
issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value
and subsequently at the higher of:

- the amount determined in accordance with
the ECL model under HKFRS 9 and

- the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Financial guarantee contracts (Cont'd)

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in
cash flows between the contractual payments
required under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the
guarantee, or the estimated amount that would
be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other
payables of associates are provided for no
compensation, the fair values are accounted for as
contributions and recognised as part of the cost of
the investment.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out in notes (q) to (r) below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(r) Equity instruments  KREITEH

PEAEARAH

Any equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an equity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Subscription solutions

The Group offers SaaS (Software as a Service)
which is a cloud-based software and related
services to paying merchants. The Group is
responsible for delivering the cloud-based
software, paying server hosting fees to external
cloud computing infrastructure providers to ensure
the SaaS running stably and accessible to all paying
merchants. Revenue of subscription solutions
includes fixed subscription fees and additional
cloud service fees. Fixed subscription fees are
generally recognised over time on a rateable basis
over the contract term beginning on the date
that the service is made available to merchant.
The Group charges the merchants variable cloud
service fees that is generally calculated based on
number of transactions processed through the
SaaS products.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Subscription solutions (Cont'd)

The Group's channel partners introduce merchants
to the Group and are remunerated by commission
based on certain percentage of the subscription
fee. The Group's channel partners are required
to follow the Group's pricing policy and the
Group is primarily responsible for the provision of
service. Commissions paid to channel partners
are incremental costs of obtaining contracts and
are recognised as “capitalised contract costs”
followed by charging into selling expenses on a
rateable basis which is in line with the revenue
recognition.

Most paying merchants have signed contracts with
the Group with terms of one to three years and pay
full subscription fees in advance. Paying merchants
can choose to pay their cloud service fees in
advance or on demand. The portion that underlying
service not yet provided to paying merchants at
end of reporting period are recognised as “contract
liabilities”.

#

4.

FET

—&+=A=+—HiEE

EXGER @

(s)

Wz K ELAtURA (42

SRR 5 (&
rEBZRBEREHOTEER
MMEEE LRBEENET
EERES R AEBZRE
BHABRIEBRZEEBK
R MAEREERESRMHR
HeoRREBHIMNATS
ERANZBEMA  WitR
7 & W FE 5B Y [A) 5 EL A 51
ANHERBREES TERME
BRI

REZBNVEBREHELEE
B —E=F2H%8 B¥A
RAXNEERBEE - (VES
RAEZRRNEFEELN
HERBE -REHSPARERK
A B R H AR B
oD RIENER) -

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FJARIHEBEK®
(Cont’d)

(s) Revenue and other income (Cont’d) (s) WmEKEMBKA @

PEAEARAF

Subscription solutions (Cont'd)

The Group also provides paying merchants with
customisation services based on standardised
SaaS products. Revenue is recognised when
control over the customised SaaS products has
been transferred to the paying merchants. Paying
merchants cannot receive and consume the
benefits simultaneously from the Group as well
as control the customised SaaS products until
the product has been passed to them. The Group
generally has no alternative use on the customised
SaaS products due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does
not arise until the customised SaaS products
are accepted by paying merchants. Therefore,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customised SaaS products are received and
accepted by paying merchants.

Costs to fulfil performance obligation of
customisation services are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by charging
into cost of sales when the customised SaaS
products are received and accepted by paying
merchants which is in line with the revenue
recognition.

Merchant solutions

The Group provides various value-added services
to address paying merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including transaction services,
advertisement, online traffic monetisation,
merchandise sourcing and distribution, consumer
protection and sales of POS equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Merchant solutions (Cont’d)

(i)

Transaction services

The Group provides transaction services
to help payees accepting, processing and
settling payment transactions of payers in
various payment scenarios. Revenue of
transaction fees are recognised over the
time of delivering of transaction service as
paying merchants simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits of transaction
services. The Group charges the payee a
transaction fee that is generally calculated
as a percentage of the total transaction
amount processed and the Group has right
to decide the charging fee rate. Transaction
services are recognised as revenue on a
gross basis as the Group is the principal in
delivery of the transaction solutions to the
payees. The Group has concluded it is the
principal because it controls the services
before delivery to the payees, it is primarily
responsible for the delivery of the services
and has discretion in setting prices charged
to payees. The Group also has the unilatera
ability to accept or reject a transaction
based on criteria established by the Group.
The Group is also liable for the costs of
processing the transactions for the payees
and records such costs within cost of sales.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

PEAEARAH

(Cont’d)
(s) Revenue and other income (Cont'd) (s) WamEkEMEA @
Merchant solutions (Cont’d) B XKEARTE (B
(i) Transaction services (Cont'd) (i) R RS (48)
Transaction costs paid to upstream payment ST RS
service providers to fulfil the performance FEEMNBITR 2 IR E
obligation of transaction services are costs TEREZRGHAT R

to fulfil contracts and are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by
charging into costs of sales which is in line
with the revenue recognition.

Advertisement

The Group arranges online marketing
service to advertisers. Advertisement charge
rate is prescribed by the social media.
Social media grant to the Group rebates
in the form of prepayments for the social
media’s services mainly based on the gross
spending of the advertisers. Advertisers are
usually required to pay in advance for the
online marketing services. Management
assessed that the arrangement suggesting
the social media, rather than the Group, is
primarily responsible for providing the online
marketing services and control the specified
service before that service is transferred to
the advertisers. The Group is regarded as an
intermediary in executing these transactions
and therefore recognise agreed rebates from
social media as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Merchant solutions (Cont’d)

(ii)

Advertisement (Cont’d)

In some circumstances, the Group offers
discounts or rebates to the advertisers
as part of its promotion activities. When
determining whether the discounts or
rebates represent consideration payable to
customers, management assessed that (a)
the Group is an agent in the arrangement
(therefore the advertisers are not the
Group’'s customers); and (b) the discounts
or rebates offered to the advertisers are
not contractually required in the agreement
between the Group and the social media
(therefore the Group is not offering
discounts or rebates on behalf of social
media). As a result, the discounts or rebates
offered by the Group are not considered
to represent consideration payable to
customers. Rather, the discounts or rebates
offered are promotion activities to attract
advertisers and are accounted for as selling
expenses.

#

4.

FET

—&+=A=+—HiEE

EXGER @

(s)

ez R ELAtURA (4

BSRBERTFE (B

(ii)

BE @@

RETERT  1Emle
ARS8 K&
B0 E S AR sl
R o PREEITBIER
NEDERMNERA
B BIEE T E(a) &
EER/ZLHZAREA
(A It & & FF A
EEER) ; Rb)AE
SRR HTER SR A
I FEA B B AR B
Z PR E (AL
EBRNRLZGRREIR
HITEBERF) o HIE -
REBEHZITEIIR
AR IEERLE R
RE-Br BHZH
BIRH LIRS ESE
ZHIGHEEEREET A
HEMX

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

PEAEARAH

(Cont’d)
(s) Revenue and other income (Cont'd) (s) WmkEMUA @
Merchant solutions (Cont'd) BSR4
(i) Other value-added services (i)  HMBERS
The Group collects service fees from other 7 & B BN H g (B AR
value-added services, including online BHRFEE 61E&F E

traffic monetisation (Youzanke - BE%),
merchandise sourcing and distribution
(Youzan Distribution — B &7 H), consumer
protection (Youzan Guarantee — B B1#E1R),
etc. The merchants are benefited from the
above services only when the consumers
accepted or received the underlying goods
or services purchased from merchants,
therefore revenue of these services are
recognised at the point in time when the
relevant orders settlement take place.

Revenue from the sale of point of sale
equipment is recognised when control of
the equipment has transferred, being when
the equipment has been shipped to the
merchants’ specific location. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the
equipment is delivered to the merchants
as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Others

Revenue from catering services is recognised
at the point of sale of food and beverages to
customers.

Revenue from management services provided to

a related party is recognised over the time when
services are rendered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

(t) Employee benefits

(1) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(t)

(u)

PEAEARAH

Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(1) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of the dates when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment
of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for
its intend use or sales is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate

on general borrowing.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(w) Government grants (w) EUFFHERL

PEAEARAH

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’'s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(x)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(x) Taxation (Cont’d) (x) MIE@®@

PEAEARAF

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(y)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed
for impairment annually and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications
of impairment and where an asset is impaired,
it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating
unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating
unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit
and then pro rata amongst the other assets of
the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes
in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and (2) HBEERSHEERE

PEAEARAF

contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI, trade receivables and contract
assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

e

AEBEF LB AT E N
BATESFATHMEZEY
miRZEFTREKRE BUER
M EHNEEURMBFER
BRESTAREEBERZA
BEEF FAREEHRESZEN
BHREAHER  URREER
REEYSERERTRT
BLRZ EE) -

A& B — A FE SR IR W AR UK
BREERBBREENREZ
FEPTAREEBE &FH
HEEZAREEBRRDR
BAEEBFZEEBRERL
sk B HEREGS WS
BABEZRAER BEQER
MR RS BRAHRTR
AR RS RIS A 2 5HE
(BEEREEE WER))
TELEREE o

MATEHMERMITAMES » ¥
EE R B D LUK A
Z18M AR EBERFEDR
TARAE B8 - 22T > 5 /%
TEZEFEERKRBY D ER
DRI BN > R A
BESH12EREHEER
BZ&HRBEZXETMIAZ
ERZER o

201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4,

202

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’'s debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group's
core operations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and (2) HBEERSHEERE

PEAEARAH

contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’'s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and (2) HBEERSHEERE

PEAEARAH

contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FARGHEEK ®
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and (2) HBEERSHEERE

PEAEARAH

contracts assets (Cont'ad)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the
expected loss allowance is the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

e

#

FRHIEERIRZ 51 B R tE T
("

MBEEEZRBEEBER
RESNEMNEERZAA
BHNRERERAEERNR
AWERZFrBERERE R
EERARER) 2HNEE
(EEK

MM BREFREOMS > AR
EEREFTERTI R Z IR
ERAREHFABORIFLHN
o BUA R 2 TR RS 1R 3 A AR
EREERFBEARELREE
R TR BAEETE
HEREABHEASEAH
fth 75 WL Z (R 28

fir 2= 5 B B 7S B — {8 ¥R & 27
BRESREFEMAEARES
BRETRFE—RAEMIEA
ZEEER BEREREREH
HREETBUSFENE
HREEERZES RIEEER
REMRS BHRBEER
12 B FRAEERIEE R
EFREEH EHABIEENE
EFRIN o

209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4,

210

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount

through a loss allowance account.

(aa) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER ®

(Cont’d)

(ab) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group's position
at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a)  Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis,
notwithstanding the existence of the material
uncertainty as described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of the
director’s going concern assessment are explained
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

212

Intangible assets — Trademarks assessed to have
indefinite useful lives

The Group regarded and assessed its trademarks
to have indefinite useful lives as at end of reporting
period. Accounting policy of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives is set out in note
4(g) to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the trademarks and the reasons for the
Group's assessment are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Equity pick up of entity of less than 20% equity
interest

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the
voting power of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd., the directors considered that
the Group has significant influence over Nanjing
Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
Kuaizi Information Technology Co., Ltd. because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the
five directors of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-Z-—F+-F=+—HiEE
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EXFETREEMLS @

ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting FERgstBRZERFIE @
policies (Cont’d)
@)  FHEENTE

(d) Business model assessment

PEAEARAH

Classification and measurement of financial assets
depends on the results of the SPPI (i.e. Solely
Payments of Principal and Interest) test and the
business model test. The Group determines the
business model at a level that reflects how groups
of financial assets are managed together to achieve
a particular business objective. This assessment
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the
risks that affect the performance of the assets and
how these are managed and how the managers
of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to
their maturity to understand the reason for their
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent
with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group's
continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are
held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to
the classification of those assets. No such changes
were required during the periods presented.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont’d)

(e)

(f)

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(z), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group's operation.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont’d)

(f) Determining the lease term (Cont'd)
Generally, periods covered by an extension
option in other properties leases have not been
included in the lease liability because the Group
could replace the assets without significant cost
or business disruption. See note 20 for further
information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
During the current financial year, no lease term has
been reassessed.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-Z-—F+-F=+—HiEE
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EXFETREEMLS @

ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) A TRERRZEERE @

(a)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and @)  E -BERZEXUREHFE

right-of-use assets (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as
at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB50,153,000 (2020: RMB64,705,000) and
RMB160,424,000 (2020: RMB240,853,000)
respectively after impairment losses of
RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000 respectively
were recognised during the year. (2020: No
impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets was recognised). Detail of the
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

(b)

Intangible assets and amortisation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
and related amortisation for the Group's intangible
assets. The useful lives of intangible assets (except
RMB942,418,000 (2020: RMB941,953,000)
trademarks) (before any impairment) are assessed
to be finite, based on the expected usage and
technical obsolescence from the changes in the
market demands or services output from the
assets. Intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised over the expected useful economic
lives and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible assets
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for the intangible assets with
a finite useful life are reviewed by the management
at least at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as
at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB855,593,000 (2020: RMB1,439,645,000)
after impairment losses of RMB459,553,000
respectively were recognised during the year.
(2020: No impairment on intangible assets
was recognised). Detail of the impairment
loss calculation are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-Z-—F+-F=+—HiEE
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EXFETREEMLS @

ESTIMATES (contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) A TRERRZEERE @

(c)  Income taxes c)  Frs#

PEAEARAH

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
RMB41,238,000 of income tax expenses was
recognised in profit or loss for year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB46,629,000 of
income tax credit was recognised in profit or
loss), including charge on deferred tax asset
RMB126,933,000, which were based mainly on
management'’s estimated future assessable profits
of the Group’s major subsidiaries that could utilise
the tax losses (2020: credit RMB28,214,000)
and RMB86,059,000 (2020: RMB28,810,000) of
deferred tax liabilities were recorded which mainly
related to reversal of deferred tax liabilities on
intangible assets and deferred tax liabilities of
capitalised contract cost.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

()

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
RMB341,326,000 (2020: RMB1,963,409,000)
after an impairment loss on CGU B around
RMB1,622,083,000,000 was recognised during the
year.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
carrying amount of CGU B’'s goodwill is fully
impaired during the year. Details of the impairment
loss calculation are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-Z-—F+-F=+—HiEE
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EXFETREEMLS @

ESTIMATES (contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) A THRERRZEERE @

(e)  Impairment of trade receivables (e)  FEWARL R E

PEAEARAH

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being
revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB4,292,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB10,775,000)
(2020: RMB1,821,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of RMB17992,000)).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

(7)

Impairment loss for other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the other receivables, including
the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of bad and doubtful debts,
in particular of a loss event, requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the
deposits and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has
been changed.

As at 31 December 2021, accumulated
impairment loss for other receivables amounted to
RMB8,539,000 (2020: RMB8,539,000).
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=1+—HIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. FBEARIEIRFEM @
ESTIMATES (contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) A TRERRZEERE @
(g)  Allowance for slow-moving inventories (9) HIEFEREE

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made
based on the aging and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the
allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2021, accumulated allowance
for slow-moving inventories amounted to
RMB7049,000 (2020: RMB6,025,000).

(h)  Impairment of investments in associates
Management determines whether investments
in associates have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable, according to their recoverable
amounts determined based on value in use
calculations. The determination of impairment
indication requires significant judgement, and the
calculations of recoverable amount require the
use of estimates which are subject to change of
economic environment in future.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of
investments in associates were RMB4,953,000
(2020: RMB3,170,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

(1)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOC/

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors
for assessing the fair value of the Group's
investments. The valuer estimated the fair value of
the Group’'s major investments. The valuer using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investee,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount of lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions

Apart from the above, the Group has certain
small investments. The Directors of the Group
have estimated the fair value of these smaller
investments mainly based on the latest financial
information and their understanding of the
operating environment of these investments
These smaller investments have total carrying
amount Nil as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_-_B=+—HILFE
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. BARAETREEMET @
ESTIMATES (conta)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd) EStFRERRZEERE @
() Fair value of financial assets at FVTOC/ (Cont'd) (i) B FESIAFEMEEW
mIRZHIBEEZ N FE
#)

The carrying amount of the investments as at
31 December 2021 was RMB71,490,000 (2020:
RMB117,024,000).

() Investments in financial assets at FVTPL

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors in
assessing the fair value of the Group’s investments
which classified as financial assets at FVTPL
as at 31 December 2021. The valuer estimated
the fair value of the Group's investments using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investees,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount for lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’'s investments
in financial assets measured at FVTPL as at 31
December 2021 was RMB372,675,000 (2020:
N/A).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
entities had no significant assets or liabilities
denominated in currency other than respective
functional currencies.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with
banks and financial institutions, and other financial
instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances and balances with central bank
is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b) Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERKE®

PEAEARAF

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group's established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. The Group usually
does not grant any credit term to customer unless
some special cases. For those special cases, the
Group will grant a credit period less than 120
days. Debtors with balances that are more than
3 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group's historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.
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AR AR EE

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'a)

Trade receivables (Cont'd)

(b)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables:

SEREE @

FEWARL (B
TREHABEEEE IR
MZEERBMORERE
ERiEZER

2021
S —fF

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TREAESE X HEERE(E Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTT ARBT T
Current (not past due) BHR (Raafh) 19% 5,312 (1,020)
Up to 3 months past due BHA-ERZRN 100% 3,106 (3,106)
Over 6 months NMEB M L 100% 6,649 (6,649)
15,067 (10,775)
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b) Credit risk (Cont'a) b) EERKE®
Trade receivables (Cont'd) JEWERZ (&

2020
TECEF

—< ==

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHEER HEEREE EriaRE
RMB'000 RMB'000
% AREBFT AREBTT

Current (not past due) BHR (Raafh) 41% 3,083 (1,262)
Up to 3 months past due BH=EAZA N/A & A - -
Over 6 months NMEAM L 100% 16,730 (16,730)

19,813 (17,992)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss FEHREEXENRBE1FZE
experience over the past 1 year. These rates are MREELRE TREES
adjusted to reflect differences between economic FRBRWERBZEER LB
conditions during the period over which the historic AR TR EE AR A Z
data has been collected, current conditions and WA IETE st R B HR N B
the Group's view of economic conditions over the RR=FBZENEEETH

expected lives of the receivables. o
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E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conta) 6. HMBEKMERE®
(b) Credit risk (Cont'd) (b) EERERE @
Trade receivables (Cont'd) JEW IR (48
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect REERWERM 2 BIEEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: AREENUT ¢
2021 2020
B -F T _ZTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT
At 1 January n—HB—H 17,992 16,730
Impairment losses recognised FRER 2 BEEIE
for the year 4,126 1,262
Reversal of allowance for the year F R EED] (4,659) -
Written off of allowance B E M (6,684) -
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 10,775 17992
Financial assets at amortised cost IR AR G B I EE
All of the Group's financial assets at amortised REEBEMMBEREBENAE
cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the ZHBEENRAEREER

loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses.

Financial assets at amortised cost include loans
to employees, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from non-controlling shareholder
of subsidiaries and amount due from a related
company.

BRI FIER A ES 6
BEBERK12ES BB
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a)

(b) Credit risk (Cont'a)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Cont’d)

Movement in the loss allowance for financial
assets at amortised cost during the year is as

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

6. HBERMREIER®

b) EEEE®

R R BZ B EE

-

AEEZRBIHNAGFEZY
BEEZBEEHEHIT

follows:
Loans
and other
receivables
BB Hith
RMB'000
ANE®BFT
At 1 January 2020 N_E-_EF—H—H 27576
Impairment losses recognised for the year FAERZRERIE 51
Reversal of allowance for the year F (O] (19,088)
At December 2020 and 1 January 2021 ACETEF+ AR
2 —%—HF—H 8,539
Impairment losses recognised for the year FRERZBERE -
At 31 December 2021 R_Z2_—H+”"H=+—H 8,539
231

PEEEHARAT T —EFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6.

232

(c)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'a) 6. HMBEKMERE®
Liquidity risk (c) mHBEEEM
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current AEBZHEKATEHEZTIR
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that BEREEABESE R BR
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its HERTRIRSHE LURRE
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. AR RSHEETE R
The maturity analysis based on contractual XEBZIETEMBERR
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non- BN RETRREERZE
derivate financial liabilities is as follows: FAHZ W
Less than Between More than
1year 2tob years 5 years Total
DR—F REERE EEUE =E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARETR®
At 31 December 2021 RZE2-—%+_H
=+—H
Trade payables FE{TERAR 2,762 - - 2,762
Accruals and other payables  TEIR & B R LA E(T
I 545,984 - - 545,984
Amounts due to non-controlling FEf i B A ) 3E£ERG
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ FRE A 306 - - 306
Lease liabilities HEEBR 68,951 198,595 79,848 347,394
At 31 December 2020 Ay
=+—H
Trade payables FEIER 4,396 - - 4,396
Accruals and other payables  TEIR & F R ELfh (T
IR 561,399 - - 561,399
Amount due to a non-controlling FEf — Kt B/AF)
shareholder of a subsidiary ~— JFIERRARETIE 256 - - 256
Lease liabilities HEaR 33,235 177631 122,716 333,582
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(d) Interest rate risk (d FIZERE

PEAEARAH

The Group’'s exposure to interest-rate risk arises
from its bank deposits. These deposits bear
interests at variable rate varied with the then
prevailing market condition.

At 31 December 2021, if interest rates at that date
had been 100 basis points higher with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after
tax for the year would have been RMB6,532,000
(2020: RMB15,921,000) lower, arising mainly as a
result of higher interest income on bank deposits.
If interest rates had been 100 basis points lower,
with all other variables held constant, consolidated
loss after tax for the year would have been
RMB6,532,000 (2020: RMB15,921,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of lower interest income
on bank deposits.

The Group's loans to employees bear interest at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks (note 32).

The Group's balances with central bank bear
interest at fixed interest rates in accordance with
the regulations and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a)

(e) Categories of financial instruments at
31 December

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

6. HBERMREIER®

(e) M+-HA=+—HzZzEm

TE%ER
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Financial assets: MBEE
Financial assets measured at BEHNR AT E S
amortised cost MBEE 4,614,836 7554,064
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESATERERZ
MBEE 372,675 -
Financial assets measured at BAFESATEEMEZE
FVTOCI - unlisted equity securities Wk Z BT B E
—IF LR AR 71,490 117,024
Financial liabilities: MBaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AT EZ
TEasE 4,352,676 6,368,052
(f)  Fair values  AFE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS 7 NHEREE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an NTFEATHZL2EERAEBHE

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction —REFRXZHREHEEEPTWELE

between market participants at the measurement date. EEAEMI MBS  TXERR

The following disclosures of fair value measurements use TEERIEELFEANEE MAF

a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the BEERREBEINEAFEMMAMGERR

inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: iz ABED B =E4H7] :

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active &A1 AEBE DT AEHE
markets for identical assets or WAME . SZHEEEEHE
liabilities that the Group can access at BRGEMIBZRE
the measurement date. (CRESREE) o

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices R 7l2 BRARAINIRE Z 8 A
included within level 1 that are WA . BRI TTEZENE
observable for the asset or liability, BEREZNEZEER
either directly or indirectly. BERARE-

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or R 713 BEENBEZRUHE
liability. WA . @AM

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and AEBZZHEANERSHHER

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of EEREREE Y H BT A=@K

the event or change in circumstances that caused the Bz A KB o

transfer.
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7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(a)

236

Disclosures of level in fair value

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

7

(a)

[NHEANEZE @

R+ZA=+—H2a¥E

hierarchy at 31 December: 4R 2 4R AN B
Fair value measurements using: Total
NAFERERE: &%
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
g A2 BA3Z —EB--F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETRTE ARBTR AR®BTR ARETR
Recurring fair value BRATENZEE:
measurements:
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at BATES AT
FVTPL BREZHMBEE
- preferred shares —BRk - - 363,740 363,740
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFERAL
BaRzBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JE ETfRA
383 - - 8,935 8,935
Financial assets at FVTOC| BAFEFATE
Hit2EWmERz
HHEE
- unlisted equity securities —JE bR
iz - - 71,490 71,490
- - 444,165 444,165
Fair value measurements using: Total
MATERES &t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
BN RB12 M3 —BIEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR
Recurring fair value BIRATENEE
measurements
Financial assets MBEEE
Financial assets at FVTOC| BATE AT
Hit 2R
ZHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JFEmRERS - - 117024 117024
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(b)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (cont’a) 7 NEEAEE @
Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) HEBBAFEREZEE
fair value based on Level 3: ZHER -
Financial Financial
assets at assets at Financial
FVTOCI - FVTPL - assets at
unlisted unlisted FVTPL -
equity equity preferred
securities securities shares Total
BATE
st ATEH M BATE
2EKERZ SAEEREER BATE
MBEE 2ZHBEE STATEZR
—JELH —JEE®m ZHBEE
fRAES A ES —BER &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2020 “FEF-F—H 97457 - - 97457
Step acquisition during FREFUE
the year (note 49(a)) (Fi5E49(a)) (696) - - (696)
Acquisition during the year FRUEE 35,459 - - 35,459
Total gain or losses recognised in ’\Hﬁﬁiﬁuﬁ 5 R
other comprehensive income
uﬁz T Y S 1B AR AR 11,161 - - 11,161
Disposals during the year FRHE (23,108) - - (23,108)
Exchange differences fERER (3,249) - - (3,249)
At 31 December 2020 and A\ZETLE
1 January 2021 + B=+—-Hk
TET—F
—HB—H 117,024 - - 117,024
Addition capital contribution BINEE
- Cash consideration paid —FREMNRENRE
for the year - 10,620 278,796 289,416
— Earnest money paid in year —RIEZERFRIMN
ended 2020 and recognised as &EAEWEEEE%
investment during the year REZHES - - 50,000 50,000
~ Consideration payable (note 38)  —FE{ILE (Hi5E38) - - 10,195 10,195
Total gain or loss recognised BERZWadEE
4a%E
— In profit or loss —RiB& - (1,685) 25,443 23,758
— In other comprehensive income  —FEMZEWA (45,015) - - (45,015)
Exchange difference fERER (519) - (694) (1,213)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F
+=ZB=+—-H 71,490 8,935 363,740 444,165
—EC—FER 237
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of assets measured at
fair value based on Level 3: (Cont'a)

Total gains or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Total gains or loss recognised in profit or loss are
presented in fair value change in financial assets at
FVTPL in the consolidation statement of profit or
loss.

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021:

The Group's financial controller is responsible
for the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board
of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group
will normally engage independent external
valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

#

7

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

[NHEANEZE @

(b)

(c)

RIRABATEANEZEE
ZHER @

e EL At & T U o B B 2 UR
WERBERGREEa A
fthEEWARPZ2 -

RIBm Sz W m R R R
BPREERERPAZRAT
Bt AEEGRRZVBEE
ZRATFEEFZES -

FERR_E_—F+Z
A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R A RIRZ 1K
& .
AEBEUBEEEEETY
BREMFEZEEREEZ
NEAEE BERFIBA
FTEASE MBREEER
ESERSHEFAFEANE
FoMBBEREEFEZHE
Fom—REEZREF MG
Ho

FLARBIBAFEREZEMES
AEBEBEEIHEEESNR
EXERBTRAEGELR
ZEBUINBEEERETH
R ME
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BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (contd) 7 QKT EINEE®
(c) Disclosure of valuation process () ZFEBENRZZEZ—F+Z
used by the Group and valuation B=+—BERZ&ERE
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRATFEINEPRFERZ
measurements at 31 December 2021: fh{ERMT R A B 21
(Cont’d) EZ.®
Level 3 fair value measurements ARESAF G RIE %
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for  Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FAHBHA BAHEEM ATEHHABEN
i fhfERfT i 2Y HATEZYE HRE ATE
2021 2020
ZEZ-F CZZIZf
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR
Financial assets
at FVTOCI
- unlisted
equity
securities
BRATEHAT
Hit2Eka
RZMEE
E-FLHk
FES
Company A Market multiples Price-to-Book 0.60x Increase in unobservable  10% increase/decrease 69,750 74,670
with an ("PB") (2020:0.64x)  input will increase the fair in P/B would result in
adjustment value increase/decrease in fair
of lack of value by RMB6,975,000/
marketability RMB6,975,000
discount [iES 0601 FAIBZHABBEM  WRELM/HI0%H
("DLOM") (Wit:=9) (CEIZF.  BERLTEEN BRATEEN/ AL
AFA EEDIBBIE 0.6462) AR 6,975,0007T,/
(MmmH BT 6,975,007
iE)) BEEN
mEEH DLOM 33.06% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease in
(2020: 25%)  input will decrease the DLOM would result in
fair value decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB6,889,000/
RMB6,889,000
aEmEnat 33.06% FREZ@AHEEN ENEREHELN/
ik | (CEIZE:.  RERATEAD HD20%REHAT
25%) EHD /EMARE
6,889,000/ AR
6,889,0007T
Volatility (“VOL") 56.98% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease
(2020: 6798%) input will decrease the  in VOL would result in
fair value decrease/increase in fair
value by RMB6,808,000/
RMB7140,000
1 (NRE) 56.98% FEIREZHAMBIEN ORELM/HLD20%
(C2I%F.  BERLTERD BERATEHD/
6798%) 110 \ 6,808,007
/ NE#7140,0007C
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(c)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 ATENEE®
Disclosure of valuation process () ZFEBENRZZEZ—F+Z
used by the Group and valuation B=+—BERZ&ERE
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRATFEINEPRFERZ
measurements at 31 December 2021: BRI R A R Z 1R
(Cont’d) EZ.®
Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont'd) ARBYSLF(ERIZ 2 ()
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for  Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
‘ FAHBHA BAHEEM ATEHHABEN
i fhfERfT i 2Y HATEZYE HRE ATE
2021 2020
ZEZ-F CZZIZf
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT ARETR
Financial assets ~ Market multiples Enterprise value 1.28x Increase in unobservable  10% increase/decrease in 1,740
at FVTOCI - with an to sales input will increase the fair  EV/S would result in fair
unlisted equity ~ adjustment of multiples value value by RMB24,000/
securities DLOM ("EV/S") RMB24,000
BATEHAL SETETEE  CEEEEYE 128 FTUREEAMBAN  CEEEENEWELN
Hitzmla  mERRER BEx (% BEHATEEN /BD0REHATE
RHBEE  THEY BREEHES AE®24,0007/ AR
A ) 24,0007
=
Company B DLOM 30.14% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease in
input will decrease the DLOM would result in
fair value decreasefincrease in fair
value of RMB244,000/
\ RMB258,000
RFB EREE Uk FABSEAMELN  EnSRELTRLN/
iE BERATERD HLN%BEHAT
EHD /EMARE
24,0007,/ AR
258,0007T
\VOL 78.12% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease
input will decrease the in VOL would result in
fair value decrease/increase in fair
value of RMB230,000/
RMB250,000
i 7812% FABR@ARBIEM  REIEM/HL20%
BEHATERD BERATEHD/
110 AR 1£230,0007T,/
A 1250,0007T
Guideline \VOL 60% Increase in unobservable 42,354
transaction input will decrease the
method fair value
RGREE RIE 60% FEIEE@AMBEN

RERATERD
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7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAF

Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021:

(Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Description

s

Unobservable
inputs

FAREEA
#ig

Valuation
technique

fibfEk

Parameters

28

BE_

7

Effect on fair value for
increase of inputs
BAHEEM
HATEZVE

[EEAE

(c)

FEER-F

TGRS {—BLEE

(#)

——F+=

A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K

EZ.®

AREUBA-FER 2% (B)

Sensitivity of fair value to
the input
ATEHHABEN
HEE

Fair value

AP

2021
—EC-F

RMB'000
AREFR

2020
_E_EE

RMB'000
ANEBTT

Financial assets
at FVTPL
- preferred
shares
Group
com anies C
EﬁAT
smE

%
%aﬂﬂc

e

Market multiple EV/S
with an

adJustment of

mmﬁ%ﬁLﬁﬁ
ﬁgﬁézﬁ%

e oME

LEEE
HEBILE

ﬁ

}

DLOM

ﬁ

=%

Sy i
=
=
(==

VoL

RIE

6.25x-10.85x
(2020: N/A)

6.25(5-10.851%
(ZZZZfF.
TER)

1703%-32.41%
(2020: N/A)

1703%-3241%
(2020: N

AEH)

44.28%-76.77%
(2020: N/A)

44.28%-76.77%
(ZEI3%:
TER)

Increase in unobservable

10%-20% increase/

input will increase the fair ~ decrease in EV/S would

value

B CIN ¢ s
REHATEEM

Increase in unobservable
input will decrease
the fair value

ATEER AR
§90VEAD

H

Increase in unobservable
input will decrease the
fair value

ﬁghkﬁ%ﬁm
H EYNTERD

result in increase/
decrease fair value
by RMB639,000-
RMB11,308,000/
RMB712,000-
RMB11,652,000
GERBEREERLE
hﬂm/ﬂ”ﬂo% 20%%
EYAT RSN/ A
)\E 15689,000L 2
AR 11,308,000/
AE712,0000cE
AE11,652,0007¢

20% increase/decrease in
DLOM would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value of RMB712,000-
RMB12,678,000/
RMB689,000-
RMB12,273,000

ﬁfﬁtﬁmlt‘gﬁugi ﬂﬂ/ﬂ
D0%REHATER,
b/ 0AR 712,000
TLEARE12,678,00070
/ \E689,0007CF
AE12,273,0007T

10%-20% increase/
decrease in VOL would
result in decrease/
increase in fair value
of RMB558,000-
RMB12,603,000/
RMB560,000-
RMB12,763,000

RIBEM,/H10%-20%
SENNTER),/ 1
MAK 558,000 E A
B 112,603,007,/ A
K 4560,000E AR
12,763,0007¢

302,510

N/A

TER
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(c)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont 0 7 ATEAEE @
Disclosure of valuation process () ZFEBENRZZEZ—F+Z
used by the Group and valuation B=+—BERZ&ERE
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRATFEINEPRFERZ
measurements at 31 December 2021: fh{ERMT R A B 21
(Cont’d) E.®
Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont'd) ARBYSLF(ERIZ 2 ()
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for  Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FAHBHA BAHEEM ATEHHABEN
i fhfERfT i 2Y HATEZYE HRE ATE
2021 2020
ZEZ-F CZZIZf
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT ARETR
Financial assets ~ Market multiples Enterprise value 26.04x Increase in unobservable  10% increase/decrease 61,230 N/A
at FVTPL - with an to its earnings (2020: N/A) input will increase in EV/EBITDA would
preferred adjustment of before the fair value result in increase/
shares DLOM interests, decrease in fair value
CompanyD  BEDHZREMEN taxes, by RMB2,131,000/
BATHE AT BEZB TS depreciations RMB2,193,000
BERZHE  BY and
BE-Bik amortization
AFD ("EV/EBITDA")
EEBMRR 604 FORZGAREEN CEEERRASHRE TEA
EREVE (CZIZE. RERATEEN MEREHRRRTLR
REHRRT TiEH) EM/ 0% ER
b= (2B NFEEM/ AR
{BERRFIS #2,131,0007/ AR 1
REFER 2,193,0007C
BHEBRAL
%)
DLOM 33.48% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease in
(2020: N/A) input will decrease DLOM would result in
the fair value decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB3,070,000/
RMB2,950,000
aEmEnat 3348% THEEBAHEEN EMEREHTELN/
ik | (CBIZE:.  RERATEAD HD20%REHAT
TiEH) EHD /EMARE
3,070,0007/ AE®
2,950,0007T
\VOL 6711% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease
input will decrease the ~in VOL would result in
fair value decrease/increase in fair
value by RMB2,955,000/
RMB2,972,000
i 6711% TABRAAKEEN  KIBEM/ BL0%HER
RERATERD AFERD /IR
%2,955,0007/ AR
2,972,0007T
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (contd) 7 QKT EINEE®
(c) Disclosure of valuation process TEERZZEZ—F+Z
used by the Group and valuation B=+—BERZ&ERE
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRATFEINEPRFERZ
measurements at 31 December 2021: fh{ERMT R A B 21
(Cont’d) E.®
Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont'd) ARBYSLF(ERIZ 2 ()
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for  Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FAHBHA BAHEEM ATEHHABEN
i fhfERfT i 2Y HATEZYE HRE ATE
2021 2020
ZEZ-F CZZIZf
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR
Financial assets ~ Market multiples EV/S 9.48x Increase in unobservable  10% increase/decrease 8,935 N/A
measured with an (2020: N/A)  input will increase in EV/S would result in
at FVTPL adjustment of the fair value increase/decrease in fair
- unlisted DLOM value by RMB897000/
equity BEmEREET RMB897000
securities ERRRTE  CEEENEHE 948t FOUBZREAZELN SEEESHEHELEE TEH
Company E &Y % (CEIZFE. RERLTEEN M/ B0%EEHA
BRATEFAT TER) TEEM/ FDAR
BRERZHE 18970007/ AR
BE-F L 8970007
EE%SI;EE% DLOM 20.75% Increase in unobservable  20% increase/decrease in
(2020: N/A) input will decrease DLOM would result in
the fair value decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB468,000/
RMB468,000
aEmEnat 2075% TERZEARELN  BHSRELREL/ A
i (CBZZF. BERATERD D%HEHATER
T b/ 00\ 468,000
7o/ N 468,000
\VOL 56% Increase in unobservable  10% increase/decrease
(2020: N/A)  input will decrease in VOL would result in
the fair value decrease/increase in fair
value by RMB238,000/
RMB240,000
i 56% TARFAAMBEN KR H0%RE
(C2I%F.  BERLTERD RATERD /EMA
TEE) 238,000t/ \EH
240,0007T
* English name is for identification purpose only. * HNEREMHAR -
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7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021:
(Cont’d)
Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont'd)
The aforementioned valuation technigues are group
in accordance with their classification and their
valuation techniques.
There is no change in valuation techniques for
Company A's valuation for the two years. For
Company B's valuation, the change of valuation
technique is due to the reason that there is
shares transactions for the year which guideline
transaction methods can be applied. Investment in
Group Companies C, Company D and E are new
additions during the year.

8. REVENUE
(a) Disaggregation of revenue

244

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products or service line for the
year is as follows:

#

7

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

[NHEANEE @

(c)

FEBRR T _—F+Z
A=+—BERZMEER
FRAFENERERZ
(h{ERMT R A BiR Z )

EZ.®

REUSA-FER| 2% ()
P ERMERAEDER
HiGERM D4

ABANGEERMENER
I 1 - BLA BB Z (H1ETD
B HRAFEERUERARS
BREZEZRMNR 5 G ER
iy tHIRBE - A F ERTIE &
EATIC  REIDKREZKE

ki
FRARIBZERVURBED
fzRBEREHZW@N
B

2021 2020
BI85 "E2=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFT AR¥TT
Revenue from contracts with EAMBRE LD F 155
customers within the scope of %ﬁ@ﬂiﬁ@ﬁ ait
HKFRS 15 Z W
Subscription Solutions STBIRRR G & 973,813 1,047951
Merchant Solutions (note (i)) EES D VEX(NEL) 584,778 757511
Others HAth 11,400 15,261
1,569,991 1,820,723
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, £ =
8. REVENUE (cont'd) 8 W= @
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Contd) (a) Al @
Note: MI5E :
(i) Merchant Solutions include transaction fees M %?%i?ﬁgg;ﬁi
of approximately RMB21,603,000 (2020: Béi%ﬂﬁ?llﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ
. N =] AN JELE
RMB188,778,000) generated from A &R —E— gt —g=4—
ABBR/AF (“Hangzhou Youzan"), a subsidiary of Do g | e
g d W HEEZRZEBHARE
the Group, for the year ended 31 December 2021. 21,603,0007C (T BB
Hangzhou Youzan ceased its transaction service AR 1£188,778,0007T) ° #1
in February 2021 and no transaction fee income INEBEBER T _—F_
would be generated afterwards. B#IFEXZRE BEHEE
TEEERZERA -
The Group derives revenue from the transfer REBZW@ZIBRRUTE
of goods and services over time and at a point EEmE &R TE— I
in time in the following major product lines and ARE—FEEMZzEmER
geographical regions: TRER
Third party payment
General trading services Onecomm Merchant services Others Total
—RES BHXIIRS —Ba BERES Hth A
For the year ended 221 00 202 00 202 00 202 00 2021 00 2021 2020
31 December HE+-RZt+-AILEE ZFC-F "Z°%E ZEC-F CZ0%E TEC-F CZ0%E CEC-F CIC%E RO CICZE TEC-F CICZE
RMB000 RMB0OO RMBO00 RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO0D RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFR AEETR AREFTR ARETT AREFR AR%TR ARETR ARETR ARETR A\RETT ARETR ARETR
Primary geograhpic TEHETH
market
-PRCexcept HongKong B (&R - 595 288979 279,937 - 286 1,282,155 1,575,984 6,176 604 1577310 1857406
- Japan -Bx& - - - - - - 1,281 - - - 1,281 -
- Canada -MEX - - - - - - 567 - - - 567 -
Segment revenue pril e - 505 2889719 279,937 - 2% 1284003 157598 6176 604 1579158 1857406
Intersegment revenue: kG
-PRCexceptHongKong & (EARS - - (7044)  (36,496) - - 1) (187) - - (9167) (36689
Revenue from external REMNIZEZKE
customers - 505 28193 203441 - 2% 1281880 1575797 6176 604 1569991 1820723
Timing of revenue et s
recogniton
Ata point in time RE-BEE - 595 558 337 - - 280534 305808 - - 281,092 306740
Overtime T—-BEER - - M3 3104 - 2 100,346 1269989 6,176 604 1288899 1513983
Tota @z - 595 28193 243441 - 26 1281880 1575797 6176 604 1569991 1820723
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8. REVENUE (conta)

(b)

246

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the year end and the expected
timing of recognising revenue as follows:

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

8. W=E®

(b) PEEEREBRGHZEFT
BHBEZRZE

REREDEEGHR TBHOEME

(REBTHEMHRERET)
ZRZBREmES 2R
Rre T -

Subscription Solutions
HI): Y-S
2021 2020
T CZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTm AR®ETT

Within 1 year —FRN 683,492 611,236

More than 1 year but not —F U EMEURN
more than 2 years 53,811 53,740
More than 2 years MmaE 1,635 2,631
738,938 667,607
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

9. INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME 9. KERHMIKA
2021 2020
g CEZTZ=E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT
Interest income on: FEUWA :
Bank deposits RITHEM 13,562 11,479
Central bank R OERTT 12,835 17733
Loan to other BEMALIEHZER - 109
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESATEERER
ZEREE 4,637 6,204
Total interest income F) BUR A KB RE 31,034 35,525
Government grants* BT e Al 6,355 12,753
VAT super-credit IEER N ET A 14,678 15,787
Compensation income FEWA 3,204 5,327
Rent concession HEER - 1,905
Others Hith 8,515 5,640
63,786 76,937
* The Group recognised government grants as follow: * REEMES LN BT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETFF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®FT AR¥F T
Blockchain industry park subsidies (& 1R i 7 ZE[E 4 A - 500
Capital investment subsidies B E AL 2,726 2,400
COVID-19 related subsidies COVID-1918 8 # ik 21 1,929
Entity-specific financial support REBRBMBZE 1,858 3,674
High and New Technology Enterprise [SE RS RN
subsidies 1,750 500
Research and development project P E2TE E AL
subsidies - 3,750
6,355 12,753

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingent
attached of the receipts of all above government grants.

PEAEARAH

e

A3 4 WAL B _E 1t P 5 T 47 B T 75
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hthim ka5 P8

2021 2020
—B--—& C"T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®ET
(Reversal)/allowance for FEUS AR 7R (#[E)
trade receivables,net BE o RER 533 (1,262)
Allowance for other receivables Hh U GRIE 85 - (51)
Impairment of property, Y2~ RS e sk R E
plant and equipment (note 19) (M35E19) (22,110) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 20) {FREEERME (M5E20) (80,393) -
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) mERE (MEE21) (1,622,083) (1,047)
Impairment of intangible assets (note 22) L& ERE (i5E22) (459,553) -
Net gain on early termination of leases REBAILTAE W F4E 82 222
Net foreign exchange losses PERES1E /28R (1,955) (14,032)
Reversal of allowance for other receivables  E fih & U 3 T8 15 & 0] - 19,088
Property, plant and equipment written off ¥ - k= K 5 i8S - (356)
Net gain of disposal of property, plantand HEYH -BERZHEZ
equipment W R 2B 55 59
Written off of trade receivables FE IS R R i 2 (643) (345)
Others HAh (857) (707)
(2,186,924) 1,569
1. FINANCE COSTS 1. BAFEEZS
2021 2020
B —ETEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTr AR®ETT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESRZHERXE 22,642 19,625
Interest on other loan HtMERZHIE - 8,361
22,642 27886
248 CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has five operating segments as follows:

General trading

Third party
payment
services

Onecomm

Merchant services

Other

PEAEARAH

e

trading of watches and other
goods

provision of third party payment
services and related consultancy
services in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC")

provision of third party payment
management services and sales
of integrated smart Point of Sale
("POS") devices

provision of e-commerce
platform with a variety of SaaS
products and comprehensive
services in the PRC through
Youzan Technology Inc. and its
subsidiaries (“Youzan Group"),
which owns Youzan WeiMall,
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and
other SaaS products

Other business

W E_E-—F+_A=+—HILEE

DEEH
AEEAUTEECEDE

B=H -~ RPEARHENE

EAb] (TehEl) ;RIS =7
AR %5 AT AR5 A #H R BR S
AR5

—ISEN - BREF=TZNEE
AR RIHE GRS B
HERL (TPOS)) £ E

ARERE — EREBREERA
BREWB AR (IF
BE®E) HuEERY
MER -EETE B
BEH%SaaSEM P
PERESEERF
BMNSaaSERMES
AR 7S

Hh — HthZE#H
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12.

250

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits
or losses do not include equity-settled share-based
payments and impairment of goodwill. Segment assets
do not include investments in associates, indemnification
assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
assets at FVTPL and other corporate assets. Segment
non-current assets do not include financial instruments,
deferred tax assets and goodwill. Segment liabilities
(current and non-current) do not include current tax
liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, and corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers
as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

12.

SEER 69
AEEZAERDMARESEE
mR Rz RIEMEEFEM - ZEFD
BREEBRBRMRTISHEER
BE R RIS EIE o

KENBZETHREZFINES
fA 5 R AR MY SEAPR A & B[R o 70 BB i
MBEIEEREEERN N
MIEREERE DA EERNERER
BMERABDZRE -BEEE -HE-
BAFEstAZEMEER@RZ
MBEE B ATESFAERTRZ
MHEEREMBEEE - DEIFR
PEETEESMIA RIERES
EkEE-DHAR CRBIRIFRH)
TEENRREER EEREE
ERUSUNCIESEER

AEERUERHZERAE =7

HENEEZRR B BEHEER
B AR
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12.

PEAEARAH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

B

12. DEEFE @

ECET—HF+"A=t+—HILEE

Information about operating segment profit BRKESS R REEE EE
or loss, assets and liabilities: RaEzEN :
Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Others Total
B=h
—RE5 SR — B3 [CEX Hth Eh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETR AR%Tr ARETR ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2021 #HE_Z_—F
+ZA=+-HIEE
Revenue from REIMNIRE Z MR
external customers - 281,935 - 1,281,880 6,176 1,569,991
Intersegment revenue AEEE - 7,044 - 2,123 - 9,167
Segment profit/(loss) ANEEF/ (518) 2,851 21,418 (849) (1,572,789) 1,398 (1,547971)
Interest income FIEMA 65 12,97 - 1,673 7 24,716
Finance costs BB E - (1,408) - (21,099) - (22,507)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH - (8,820) - (189,762) - (198,582)
Share of losses of associates EEBEAR 2R - (217) - - - (217)
Other material items of HEtEREEAER
non-cash items:
- Reversal of allowance for trade ~ — MR VB A D] 358
receivables, net (note 10) (F3z£10) - - - 533 - 533
- Allowance for inventories ~EhE (735) - - (289) - (1,024)
~Written off of trade receivables  — i SFEUTER R (F13510)
(note 10) - - - (643) - (643)
- Impairment of property, -NE -BERRERE
plant and equipment (Ft5£10+19)
(note 10, 19) - - - (22,110) - (22,110)
- Impairment of right-of-use assets —FREEERE
(note 10, 20) (M5£10+20) - - - (80,393) - (80,393)
~ Impairment of goodwil -@mERE (fiz10:21)
(note 10, 21) - - - (1,622,083) - (1,622,083)
- Impairment of intangible assets —EFEER(E
(note 10, 22) (H£10~22) - - - (459,553) - (459,553)
Income tax expense FrigiEs - - - (40,874) (364) (41,238)
Additions to segment RENBEREEE
non-current assets - 4,000 - 375,791 - 379,791
As at 31 December 2021 RIEZ—-%
+=B=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 4,372 3,963,762 7 1,681,501 8,636 5,658,278
Segment liabilities NHEE 915 3,829,641 5,414 1,529,282 296 5,365,548
Investments in associates REEREZKE - 4,953 - - - 4,953
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12.

252

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

Information about operating segment profit
or loss, assets and liabilities: (Contd)

#

12. DEEFE @

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

BRKENENNEE - BE
RafRZzEH @

Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Others Total
B=h
—HES SRS —MEf [EERE Httr At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AEETR AEETT ARETRT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2020 #HE_Z_ZF
+ZA=+-HIEE
Revenue from RESMBEE 2 Wiz
external customers 595 243 441 286 1,575,797 604 1,820,723
Intersegment revenue DEEkE - 36,496 - 187 - 36,683
Segment (loss)/profit A (518) /&7 (16) 8,871 (437) (491,727) 55 (483,254)
Interest income FIEBA 1 17870 - 8,841 52 26,764
Finance costs BB HA - (333) - (27427) - (27760)
Depreciation and amortisation E R - (11,575) - (246,614) - (258,189)
Share of (losses)/profits of i =YN=IPA
associates (B8 /EA - 170 - (1,331) - (1,161)
Other material items of HitJEREEABE
non-cash items:
- Allowance for trade receivable  —FEUUERFNE - - - (1,262) - (1,262)
—Written off of trade receivable ~ —FEURBR FNHSH - - - (345) - (345)
- Allowance for inventories ~GEkE - - - (82) - (82)
— Reversal of allowance for -BATE EEk
prepayment, deposits and other ~ EfELFIE
receivables, net of allowance BERED MRS - 19,037 - - - 19,037
~ Impairment of goodwill -BERE - - - (1,047) - (1,047)
Income tax credit fiksikiin - - - 45,279 - 45,279
Additions to segment RENDERGEE
non-current assets - 3,170 - 24,056 - 27226
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZEE
+=B=+-H
Segment assets HuEE 973 5,667695 43 3813134 29,696 9,511,441
Segment liabilities HifaE 366 5,550,780 4,601 1,768,963 301 7325,01
Investments in associates REEREZKE - 3,170 - - - 3,170
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 12. DEER &
Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or FEBNE EFHEIEREEZ
loss and assets: AR ¢
2021 2020
“E—H ZTTEFHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
Revenue Wz
Total revenue of reportable segments 2Dz W sEER 1,579,158 1,857406
Elimination of intersegment revenue 3 BB B WL 2 HE 3 (9,167) (36,683)
Consolidated revenue rEaWam 1,569,991 1,820,723
Profit or loss A a5 8
Total loss of reportable segments A2 E 2 E51EHERE (1,547,971) (483,254)
Equity-settled share-based payments RS E R D AT FIB (53,130) (62,197)
Unallocated amounts: KNOFCEEE !
Corporate income and expenses, net PEWA KRS FEE (52,356) (45,784)
Fair value change of financial assets BAFEF ATERR
at FVTPL ZHBEEZ AN TE
= 23,758 -
Impairment of goodwill HERIE (1,622,083) (1,047)
Consolidated loss before income tax FRETISR AR S 518 (3,251,782) (592,282)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2N E BEERE 5,658,278 9,511,441
Unallocated amounts: KOFCEEE
Goodwill EES 341,326 1,963,409
Investment in associates REEAB 2 RE 4,953 3,170
Deferred tax assets RILIRIEE E 68,772 195,705
Financial assets as at FVTPL BAFEF ATEEGER
ZHBEE 372,675 -
Financial assets at FVTOCI B EET AT EAM
2EW@RZ
MIBEE 71,490 117024
Other corporate assets HihibxEE 355,481 421,731
Consolidated total assets EEEBE 6,872,975 12,212,480
o —EER 253
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12.

254

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or
loss and assets: (Contd)

FET

12. DEEE @

—F+_A=1+—HLEFE

SEBUR s A NG IEREEZ

HER: @

2021 2020
—EB 8 C"TTEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT

Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segment FI2WNEz B1EMHERE 5,365,548 7325,011
Current tax liabilities BIHARIE & (& 991 869
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 158,014 244,073
Other corporate liabilities HhA B &E 11,599 12,428
Consolidated total liabilities o B RERE 5,536,152 7,582,381

Geographical information:

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are mainly generated
from the PRC. The Group also generated revenue and
non-current assets cutside the PRC which are less than
1% of the Group total assets and non-current assets.

Revenue from major customers:
No customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the
Group's revenue for both years 2021 and 2020.

wEEN

AR AEREZWERIFRBEET
EEEEFE RItTEZ7)ZtE
BB D ZBIU DB E R DM A&
B 7R P Bl R SN B A Wi R IE R ED
BEE HAEBEREERIFABEE

RE1%©
REXEERZINE :
RNIEBE-—FR_E_EFPER

PIEAREBRWZRI0%I Eo
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as

follows:

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

13. FEREMRE (GE%R)
PSR BN IBE MR T

2021 2020
—E-F T ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Current tax — the PRC BPHATR IE — R
Provision for the year KEFEEEHE 364 5
Current tax — Hong Kong BEpRIE—& 8
Over-provision for previous year B FEBREREE - (1,348)
Deferred tax (note 43) IRIEFRTE (MI5E43) 40,874 (45,286)
41,238 (46,629)

PRC Enterprises Income Tax has been provided at a rate

of 25% (2020: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2020:

Nil).

PEEEHARAT T —EFH

Bl EFERERRES% (CF

T4 25%) sTIREE o

BEBMEREE-

B 7 5 B S 6 O I SR A R PR ERAR
wmA (CE2E22F [ m) o WEBEE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

13.

256

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Cont'a)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hangzhou,
the PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (& Fii%)on 30 November 2018 and
renewed on 16 December 2021 and were entitled to
enjoy an income tax concession at preferential rate of
15% effective from 1 January 2018 and renewed on
1 January 2021 for three years. In order to enjoy the
preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was required to
apply for renewal every three years from first year of
approval. The preferential rate was 15% since the year
beginning 1 January 2018 and renewed on 1 January
2021.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Beijing, the
PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (B#r#T &%) on 21 October 2020 and were
entitled to enjoy an income tax concession at preferential
rate of 15% effective from 1 January 2020. In order to
enjoy the preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was
required to apply for renewal every three years from first
year of approval. The preferential rate was 15% since the
year beginning 1 January 2020.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

13.

FRiSIBY (&%) @

H 3 @ FE R AR M > TR IE S 3
FEAEBEFAERRZBTRE
WIREERBA L2 RERE
% o

AEBE R PEMNEE 2 — BB
REIRZE—N\F+—B=+HB%#%
BARR —_E_—F+_8+/,\H
BMARMEMNEE - BZZ—N
#F—F—HBEBR-&2-_—4%—8F—
BEH E=FRAEEZHEEERX
15%2ZFTSIREE - AZHEIME
15% > Z B BB EE FIES
—FEREEH B S —N\E—H—
HEBZFEE BERES15% I
BT —F—HB—HEH

AEENPREIEREE 2 — R B
ABRANZEEBF+AZ+H—HB®
DOA/BIRTEE B2
F-A—BHEAR=ZAEEMX
5% ZPISINEZE REEEEME
5% ZBAB A EEFES
—EHFEEN B S EF—H—
HFEEME BERER15% -
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

13.

PEAEARAH

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Cont'a)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense/
(credit) and the product of loss before tax multiplied by

BE_E-—S+"_A=1+—HLEE
13. FriSMiBsz  GE%R) @

PRSI~ (%) BRI AIE R
FUPETEMFIRMEMAEER

the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows: ZHIERWT
2021 2020
B —F CITETH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT
Loss before tax BRI A& 18 (3,251,782) (592,282)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate 2B R ZEFTERIEE
of 25% (2020: 25%) 25% (ZEZZF !
25%) stE 21018 (812,945) (148,070)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AN 2 MBE T E
deductible 512,615 50,145
Tax effect of income that are not taxable BARMIMAZ B E (4,890) (19,332)
Tax effect of temporary differences not EEEEDZEHE%#%EZ
recognised METE 1,697 14,018
Tax effect of super deduction of qualified ~ MEHOREERAZEZH
research and development expenditure 2B (32,064) (26,517)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RE A RMERINIBEIE
recognised 2B 169,048 55,574
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not R MU FERESRIRIBEE
previously recognised 2B E (146) (1,103)
Tax losses previously recognised and ST AR SR B (0]
reversed 2 RIEE1E 128,433 -
Overprovision for previous year BEFEBREEE - (1,348)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MIBABREREZ & 79,490 30,004
Income tax expense/(credit) Friginesz (&%) 41,238 (46,629)
SRR 257



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

14. EEEIE

AEBAFEBBELNR G
A) THEIERSIY

14. LOSS FORTHE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting) the following:

258

2021 2020
—E—F _—I°FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 22) EFEE#H (I5E22) 124,964 193,143
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs B ZAR{L &4 AL A E Y
(note 31) (MI5E31) 243,288 212,842
Auditor's remuneration 12 25 B i B
— annual audit —FEBEX 1,980 2,205
— other services —H AR S 5,396 2,189
Allowance for inventories (include in cost ~ fFER#E Gt AIHE L)
of sales) 1,024 82
(Reversal)/allowance for trade receivables,  FEWRBR RN (1[o]) /B
net (note 29) 7 (F15E29) (533) 1,262
Reversal of allowance for prepayments, TERIE B REM
deposit and other receivables, FEWRIE B 35 0] »
net of allowance (note 30) NpxERE (FY5E30) - (19,037)
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEERAK 8,064 7101
Depreciation of property, plant and M= BERREITE
equipment (note 19) (MF5E19) 21,528 19,192
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) FEAEEEITE (MI5E20) 53,372 47445
Impairment of property, M~ R B KR R E
plant and equipment (note 10, 19) (M35E10~19) 22,110 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE
(note 10, 20) (M$5E10~20) 80,393 -
Impairment of goodwill (note 10, 21) EERE (ffEE10~21) 1,622,083 (1,047)
Impairment of intangible assets B EERE
(note 10, 22) (M45£10~22) 459,553 -
Gain on disposals of property, HEMZE -BE&
plant and equipment (note 10) sz W
(B$zE10) (55) (59)
Net gain on early termination of leases EERIEHEEZ
(note 10) Wi & (Fi5E10) (82) (222)
Operating lease charges KEHEESWH 12,713 9,931
Property, plant and equipment written off  #)2 « i = Kz 25 & i 5
(note 10) (MFzE10) - 356
Research and development expenditure T MBS
(included in other operating expenses and (T A A& &R
equity-settled share-based payments) KRB D
SANE/S)) 587,080 452,446
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TR TR IR EE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_E_—F+_A=+—HIEFE
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EEEFIRE
2021 2020
—EC 5 "EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
Employee benefits expense (including EERHFEx
Directors’ emoluments): (BHEEFEN) !
Salaries, bonuses and allowances T& 4L KR 1,355,404 1,067916
Equity-settled share-based payments A REAE B IR D 2Rk IE
— Share Option Scheme — e HEST B 13,437 29,400
— Share Award Scheme — DB ST & 39,693 32,797
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  BRAEF] st 2= 92,941 38,998
1,501,475 1,169,111
Five highest paid individuals LA L

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2020: two) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
note 16(a). The emoluments of the two (2020: three)
individuals are set out below:

FR-AERRIRESHFMALTE
BR=%CZ-ZTF Mm% EF H
B <= B MY EE16(a)FRZ AT A © M4
(ZE2EZZF =) ALZFHME
HIgE

2021 2020

B85 —ZEFHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFxT AR®BFT

Basic salaries and allowances BEARTEKZER 4,579 7352
Equity-settled share-based payments e E R D T FIB 18,136 12,340
Retirement benefit scheme contributions — RREF] st IR 66 52
22,781 19,744

PEAEARAH
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

260

AATS AR MIEE

Five highest paid individuals (Contd)
The emoluments fell with the following band:

E_E_—F+_B=1+—HILEE

EEEFRX @

mamEFHMAL @
BRFMArEsE

Number of individuals
A¥
2021 2020
g —F “ZT°ZF

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7000,000
HK$7000,001 to HK$7500,000
HK$7500,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000
HK$12,000,001 to HK$13,500,000
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000

5,500,001 % 75%6,000,0007% 7T - 2

6,000,001 775 %£6,500,00074 7T
6,500,0017 75 %£7,000,0007 7T
7000,001# 75 £7500,0008 7T
7500,0017# 7T %E8,000,00074 7T
8,000,001 7T %£8,500,0004 7T
8,500,001 87T %E9,000,000# 7T
9,000,001 775 %E9,500,00074 7T
9,500,001 %75 %£10,000,0007# 7T
10,000,001 7T 510,500,000 7T
10,500,001 7T £ 11,000,0007& 7T
11,000,001 #& 75 £ 11,500,000 7T
11,500,001 75 £ 12,000,000 7T
12,000,001 77T £ 12,500,000 7T
12,500,001 7T % 13,000,000 7T,
12,000,001 7T %E13,500,00074 7T
13,500,001 7T % 14,000,000 7T
14,000,001 % 7T £ 14,500,000 7T
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

Five highest paid individuals (Contd)
The emoluments fell with the following band:

W E_E-—F+_A=+—HILEE

EEEFRX @

marEFHMAL @
BRFMArEsE

Number of individuals
A¥
2021 2020
s

HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17000,000
HK$17,000,001 to HK$17500,000

HK$17500,001 to HK$18,000,000
HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000
HK$19,000,001 to HK$19,500,000
HK$19,500,001 to HK$20,000,000
HK$20,000,001 to HK$20,500,000
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000
HK$21,000,001 to HK$21,500,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

14,500,001 75 £ 15,000,000 7T
15,000,001 875 £ 15,500,000 7T
15,500,001 752 16,000,000 7T
16,000,001 75 216,500,000 7T
16,500,001 72 17000,0007E 7T
17,000,001 75 E17500,0008 70

17500,00178 752 18,000,000 7T
18,000,001 75 £ 18,500,000 75
18,500,001 75 219,000,000 7T
19,000,001 75 219,500,000 7T
19,500,001 75 220,000,000 7T
20,000,0017875220,500,0007 7T
20,500,00178 75 221,000,000 7T
21,000,001 7c%21,500,00078 7T

FR AEEMERTAESFNES
R M A LIS fERMAZE
S E SN AR 2 SR BN SR B AR 1E o
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_"BA=+—HIEFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EHFREF M=
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMWE
The remuneration of every director is set out EEFZZNEEIIUWT
below:

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEERARHERBARNESZ ZEAARE 2N AERMNE

Employer's

(Note i) contribution

Estimated t0a

money value retirement

Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit

Fees allowances bonus benefits scheme

(GiED) EEH

Hitgd  RIKEREE

iz IEREE RRTEAL EEtHBE  FHZHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Total

a5t
RMB'000

ARBTL ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARBTL ARETR

Executive directors WIEE
Guan Guisen (note (ii) &R () - 256 - - 2 258
Cao Chunmeng (note fii]) EEH () - 1,776 - - 67 1,843
Yan Xiaotian (note fiii) R (ki) - 1,433 - - 15 1,448
Zhu Ning L3 - 2,569 415 3,706 48 6,738
Cui Yusong B - 2,311 382 790 43 3,591
YuTao e - 2,221 357 790 48 3,416
Ying Hangyan i - 1,953 312 790 48 3,103
- 12,579 1,466 6,076 276 20,397
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFEHITEE
directors
Gu Jiawang (note fii)) AR (H35i) 215 - - - - 215
Fong Chi\Wah hEE 219 - - - - 219
Deng Tao iz 219 - - - - 219
Xu Yanging (note (i) HES (HEHGI) 215 - - - - 215
868 - - - - 868
Total for 2021 “ET 868 12,579 1,466 6,076 276 21,265
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_-_B=+—HILFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EH/EHIEFE @
DIRECTORS (cContd)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) (a) E=EiE @
The remuneration of every director is set out EEFZZNEEIIUWT
below:

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person's services
as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

WEATARGENBARNES ZAARE ZEMHEKMNE

Employer's
(Note i) contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit
Fees  allowances bonus benefits scheme Total

(f5i) ==k

Hfhigdl BIERIE
g TEREHM MtETEAL fhEtEE  fRhZfm mat
RMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR AREBTRT ARETR ARETT ARETR

Executive directors WIEE
Guan Guisen (note fii) &R () - 2,053 - - 18 2,071
Cao Chunmeng (note fii]) E&H () - 1,888 - - 18 1,906
Yan Xiaotian (note fii) R (ki) - 1576 - - 15 1,591
Zhu Ning K= - 2,350 1,064 8,073 37 11,624
Cui Yusong EER - 2,117 1,107 1,728 37 4,989
YuTao CIE: - 1,920 il 1,728 37 4,456
Ying Hangyan i - 1,920 817 1,728 37 4,502
- 13824 3,759 13,257 199 31,039
Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHITEE
directors
Gu Jiawang (note (i) AEWE (ki) 235 - - - - 235
Fong ChiWah hEE 235 - - - - 235
Deng Tao iz 235 - - - - 235
Xu Yanging (note (i) HES (HEHGI) 235 - - - - 235
940 - - - - 940
Total for 2020 g 35 940 13,824 3,759 13,257 199 31,979
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Conta)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Conta)
Notes:

(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include
equity-settled share-based payments.

(ii) Guan Guisen resigned on 17 February 2021.

(iii) Cao Chunmeng, Yan Xiaotian, Gu Jiawang and Xu
Yanging resigned on 24 December 2021.

None of the directors waived any emoluments
during the year (2020: Nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in

transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

264

FET

(a)

(b)

—F+_A=1+—HLEFE

16. EFEFRME @

EEME @
MIsE -

(i) H M EstBESER
EERN S IRIE

(ii) EZRN_E_—5_H
+tRHE T

(iii) TEE BHER-AETE
BESN _SE_—F+_=
BZ+HB#E-

FAMESEHETAME
(CEIZF I HE) -
EENRS RGN
RZEXER
AEBBEMEZEFTILA
ARBB/EPETNT RERQF
EFUAEEZHB T ER
HEEEREEAERMNE
RIFREREBEDATE
ZERRG B REM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Conta)

(c) Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
and connected entities

The information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

16. EFEFARME @

(c) HRAUES ZEGER
AEREAEEERR@A
ZER - EERREM
mZEH
BEAATRENBART
UNFAREERELRES
ETHESRAREAZE
o RERREMZ S 2 Ak

the Company, is as follows: o
Outstanding Outstanding ~ Maximum
amount amount outstanding
Total at the at the amount
Nature of amount  beginning end of during
Name of the borrower ion payable  of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
FR
FZHE FRZHX  RBHR
BRALTHE MEtE FEffEmE  HERE  HEERE  HERE  ER = i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE#TT ARETR AREBTR ARKTR
As at 31 December 2021
RZB--%+-A=+-H
Quasi-loans or credit
transactions:
EERAEERS:
Related Company F Note (i 800 452 800 1,129 Repayable on demand ~ Nil No
B ARF ML) ARERHE & &

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(c)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EHENRAE @
DIRECTORS (cont’a)
Information about loans, quasi- (c) HBRRAUES -ZEHER
loans and other dealings in favour of FERAEERAZEA
directors, controlled bodies corporate ZEM - EEMKREM
and connected entities (Cont ') SBZEN @)
The information about loans, quasi-loans and other ERARBIHEN BRG]
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary UUERRBEEREREZ
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain HETHESRASTBAZE
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of MEERREMKZZ 2ERN
the Company, is as follows: (Cont'd) mr:#E
Outstanding ~ Outstanding Maximum
amount amount  outstanding
Total at the at the amount
Nature of amount beginning end of during
Name of the borrower connection payable  of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
ER
EzEk ERZER ERHE
BRAGHE HEtE FE(T4ERIE BERE BETE BEFE HR GiES gty
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR AREFE AREFT ARETR
As at 31 December 2020
RZBZEF+-A=+-H
Loans and interest:
ERRAIE
Related Company F Note (i) - 800 - 1,300 Repayable on or before  Nil No
18 November 2020
HBAFF M) BRZEEE+-A R "
+N\BHZAIEE
Entity G Note (ii) N 3,036 - 3145  Guaranteed by 4.34% per annum  No
the substantial on outstanding
shareholder of the loan
related company and
repayable on
31 October 2020
BEG GG HEHABZTE HAERER it
REERRAR RERZE
. 4.34%:t 8
=t+—-HEE
Quasi-loans or credit
transactions:
EERAEERS:
Related Company F Note (i) 452 634 452 1,950 Repayable on demand Nil No
HBAFF M) BREREE it "
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Conta)

(c)

Information about loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate

and connected entities (Conta)
Notes:

(i) 99% owned by Mr. Zhu Ning and Mr. Zhu Ning
being the common director.

(ii) Mr. Zhu Ning being the common director.

17. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2021, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020:

Nil).

18.

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB2,509,498,000
(2020: approximately RMB294,671,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
approximately 17123,444,000 (2020: approximately
16,405,802,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

As exercise of the Group's outstanding share
options for the years ended 31 December 2021
and as exercise of the Group's outstanding share
options and warrants for the years ended 31
December 2020 would be anti-dilutive, no diluted
loss per share was presented for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

e

B=

16.

17.

18.

T —FF+_A=+—HLEFE

EEEM R @

() FBERAUES -ZEFIER
ZERAEERAZEA
ZEM - EEMKREM
SZ2EF #@

B 5E

(i) 99%HREREHER K=

(ii REXEDBHRAES-

RE
HE_ T _—F#+-_HBA=+—HL
FEEWERTIIRRKERRE B3R

SHRETERKEARE CZTZ
TEE)

ZieEE

(a) EREXEIE
SREABEILREBEAQF
BEEAREFESFSBROAR
#2,509,498,00070 (B &
F AR M294,671,0007T)
RERBETEER ZMNKE
T 804917123,444,0000% (—
T~ T4E © 4916,405,802,000
f%) met& e

S EEsIE
HRTEEE_ZT_-_—F
+ZB=+—HIEFEAXE
BzERTHEBRERT
FHEE_ZEZ_ZF+_4
—t+—HIEFEXAEBRZH
RKOEBERERTDRESER
EEREEWNE HEEZZ
T ERZIEZZEF+ZA
—t+t—HEFEUEREZENSE
B BRI

(b)
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

268

HEZ

T F+_A=+—HIEE

19. Y- -BEKRSRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE BRER
MERLE YN RE A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT AR®ETTT ARETTT
Cost DS
At 1 January 2020 AZETERE—F—H 43,517 43,300 1,531 88,348
Additions ,$E§ 16,260 7355 - 23,615
Disposals HE - (2,096) - (2,096)
Written off i34 (3,766) (1,241) - (5,007)
Exchange differences ERER - (30) - (30)
At 31 December 2020 and \_v_vﬁ‘l‘ B=+—H
1 January 2021 £ —&5—F—H 56,011 47288 1,531 104,830
Additions ,wéi 11,746 16,682 707 29,135
Disposals HE - (653) - (653)
Exchange differences ERER - (3) - (3)
At 31 December 2021 A ZE2Z—-F5+ZA=1+—H 67757 63,314 2,238 133,309
Accumulated depreciation and ERIMERAERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 AZETERE-A—H 8,676 17,899 961 27536
Charge for the year $¢F 53 8,291 10,623 278 19,192
Disposals HE - (1,927) - (1,927)
Written off i e (3,462) (1,189) - (4,651)
Exchange differences ERELE - (25) - (25)
At 31 December 2020 and NZEIRESC E —H
1 January 2021 R_E_—F—f-— 13,505 25,381 1,239 40,125
Charge for the year AEEMRE 9,363 11,791 37% 21,528
Impairment losses RERE 15,827 6,283 - 22,110
Disposals HE - (607) - (607)
At 31 December 2021 R_EZ—F+°F=1+—H 38,695 42,848 1,613 83,156
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2021 AR —F+-F=+—H 29,062 20,466 625 50,153
At 31 December 2020 \ZEZEF+ZA=+—H 42,506 21,907 292 64,705
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

19.

20.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Cont’d)

Certain lessors of the leased office premises and
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the Group.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
carrying amount of leasehold improvements related to
these premises was amounted to RMB15,378,000 and

RMB9,557000, respectively.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

19. YE- -BER:SRE @

HE

+ZB=+—
GRS

WMABFREIBEEZETH
MAXROEREBRRBEERERSES
AR S Lx*‘%ﬁﬁﬂ@%
HEFTAER Z#F o
F+ZAHA= + BRZZEZZF

B EMEBRZ
Wﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁu%)\%m

\_7_

15,378,000t /&2 A R #9,557,0007T ©

20. fERAEEEE

Leased

properties

HEM=E

RMB'000

AE®BFT

At 1 January 2019 NZZ2—h%—HA—H 205,146

Additions =1 87204

Depreciation e (47445)

Early termination of leases RERILHAE (3,912)

Exchange differences PE 2 =28 (140)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 WZ-ZE_ZF+_H=+—H

kR_E2_—F—RHF—H 240,853

Additions NE 53,880

Depreciation e (53,372)

Early termination of leases REBRILEE (504)

Impairment losses AEEE (80,393)

Exchange differences PE 2 = %8 (40)

At 31 December 2021 A _E_—F+"HA=+—H 160,424
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20.

270

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Contd)

HE_Z—

20. FREEE®

—&+=A=+—HiEE

2021 2020
— T —F "B THF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Depreciation expenses on FRAEETERS
right-of-use assets 53,372 47445
Interest expense on lease liabilities MHEEBENERXZ
(included in finance cost) GUNCE %N 22,642 19,625
Expenses relating to short-term lease BUDHRTH EAERA 2 I E 12,713 9,931
COVID-19 Related rent concessions 2 U COVID-1948 8
received HEER - 1,905
Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note MERESMLEEZFBEHNHE

49(f).

For both years, the Group leases various offices and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
year to 10 years. No extension options and termination
options are included in the lease contracts except for six
leases. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date that the Group will exercise the extension option
and consider will extend the lease term on one of the
leases, the related extension periods are included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

Certain lessors of the leased office premises and
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the
Group. As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
the carrying amount of right-of-use assets related to
these premises was amounted to RMB57576,000 and
RMB66,106,000, respectively.

49(f) o

PmEFE AEBEESERAE
kRETIEERANEESZ -HEMKRMRD
BEERBERETHE Ba2ZET
BRI MR o 1 E R SRR K257
AT EUHERE  ZEBERGH
ZEFEIEE BB NITEL ZHA
MR o

HESNZEEMRIFEI0FF]
o FRNIEIAESN ME ST
HEERRRIEEER - REER
HE R B A E B R TELER
EER UrERERET-IBEHEEN
HEHR  ERE At A HE & &S

=
==

MERABIRETIESZEATH
MAXROEREERBEENERESES
WABRIIE S ISR E Y =
HEFAERZEMN RZITZ—
F+ZRA=+—BRZZEZEHF
+ZB=1+—H > EZENEFRH
ZERAREERAEDSIAARE
57,576,0007t & A R #66,106,000
Fo
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VA—DAN
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21.

TSR IR MIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
GOODWILL 21. BHE
Youzan Japan
Third party Kabushiki
payment Merchant Kaisha
services services (“Youzan
(“CGUA") (“CGU B") Japan”) Total
HAEH
FZHZM HHRRH  Youzan Japan
R (MR (MREEE ("Youzan
EXEA B{iB) Japan J) &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Cost 3
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZFE—F—H 762,288 1,622,083 - 2,384,371
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—RIME AR (ffEE49(e)

(note 49(a)) - — 1,029 1,029
Exchange difference ERER - - 3 3
At 31 December 2020, RIZEZZF+ZA=+—H"

1 January 2021 and 2258k

31 December 2021 “ZT-F%+ZA=+—H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403
Accumulated impairment losses ~ EER{EEE
At 1 January 2020 {_E_FEF—H[—H 420,962 - - 420,962
Impairment loss recognised FENERZHESE

in the year - - 1,047 1,047
Exchange difference ERER - (15) (15)
At 31 December 2020 RIZZZF+A=+—Hk

and 1 January 2021 2" -5—-fF—H 420,962 - 1,032 421,994
Impairment loss recognised FRRRDZHESE

in the year - 1,622,083 - 1,622,083
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ—F+ZA=+—H 420962 1,622,083 1082 2,044,077
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2021 B -F+°ZA=1—H 341,326 - - 341,326
At 31 December 2020 RZBZEE+ZA=1—H 341,326 1,622,083 - 1,963,409
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21.

272

GOODWILL (cont'a)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
are expected to benefit from that business combination.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets that
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill
are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions
for the discounted cash flow method include those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
determined on industry growth rate in foreseeable period
based on management experience and on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past practices
and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by the
directors for the next five years with the residual period
using terminal growth rate of 2.22% (2020: 3%). This
terminal growth rate does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant markets. The Group
has engaged independent external valuers to assist
management to estimate the recoverable amounts of
CGUs.

The Group has engaged independent external valuers to
assist management to estimate the recoverable amounts
of CGUs.

HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

21.

[SEAC,
RERSHBEESZBEDLRIE
RO EFREBRENZEBREHPZ
BEHESELFEBEM(REELES
fiL1) ©

SBEHEENMS  FREEIN Y
X BEAREB -TREEEREL
BEeEnsNEtErEE  EZRA M
HENAAZBREELE -

REeELX B2 WE a6
AUERETREAABERABEER
EE -MIRRERELMKEBEZEE
R EIEARNARLIRE B RER
FREEN XKW @ - ~EEF AR
BRE AT ISH SR EZTERIR
TELEBUZFERRE ZRRAL
KA RE B EXBRBEEIEL
BN rIERBENITEERE &%
HReELrBUKEEBMTME Y

RETHERERXETE - REEF
R Wm 5B EEA RIBHAT 5
BRoSEE

AEBERBELSESMHENREKRSE
RIMHAMBEEERRIBEESRER
B MBI ERZRIFIEREXS
2.22% (ZEZFF 1 3%) o ZiRiH
MEXABBERMTSEZFEHER
WEX - AEECD LB IIINBEE
fMtp EEEMtREELEUN
BJUr[E] & %8

AEE S EEIBILINEB L EED 17 B
EEEMGMFREELEEUNTID
Ea R
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21.

PEAEARAF

GOODWILL (cont'a)

CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying
amount of approximately RMB762,288,000 (2020:
RMB762,288,000) had been allocated to Third Party
Payment Services CGU (CGU A). Computer software as
set out in note 22 was allocated to this CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows for CGU A within third
party payment services segment is 20.70% (2020:
20.1%). The recoverable amount calculated based on
value in use exceeded carrying value by approximately
RMB125 million (2020: approximately RMB71 million).
The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows
of CGU A change from 20.70% to 22.86% (2020: 20.1%
to 22.5%) would remove the remaining headroom.

CGUB

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying amount
of approximately RMB1,622,083,000 had been allocated
to Merchant Services CGU (CGU B). E-commerce
applications, distribution network and trademarks are
allocated to this CGU. Details of these intangible assets
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 December 2020, in CGU B within merchant
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated
based on value in use exceeded carrying value (after
gross up adjustment of goodwill attributable to non-
controlling interests) by approximately RMB1,215 million.
The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows
for CGU B is 20.5%. Changing the pre-tax discount rate
from 20.5% to 24.4% would remove the remaining
headroom.

e

B=

21.

TGRS {—BLEE

BE @

REEFENA

FRIEfE 49 AR 16762,288,0007T (Z &
T4 1 AR5762,288,0007T) B9
2 (REMREER) ENEESE =
XURBREELERMUREELSE
IA) o MisE22Fr & B 5t FE &4 D
ECEMIREEER -

RIREAR BAUBBRE =A%
REDBZIREEEEMUATERIRS
MEZBERAILEES20.70% (ZF
TEE201%) RERBEESE
HARElSEBHERAENARE
125,000,00070 (ZZB - 4F 1 YA
E#£71,000,00070) - BMUBEIRIR &
ELBUATEIREREZ FRATA
RKE20.70% & 422.86% (CE -
F1201%85225%) B GBRER
EHo

REELENB
EREENAR®1,622,083,000789
mE (PWMEARER) ESRERR
RBFEBEEEEMN REELEN
B) cBFHEEER  DIHEEKREE
NEEWREEFEMU BRAZER
FEENFEBHN RS M BREN
5220

WZE2E_ZEF+_HB=+—H">
MERREDBZIREEEENB

SOREREEHENTKE S
BBEHREE (RWHIFTERERE
R EETEMEAER OARK
1,215,000,0007c° AU RLIRIRE &
S EUBEARESREZBRNATFIE
#520.5% o BRI AT AL IR H20.5% &
A24.4% B EIREREE
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21.

274

GOODWILL (cont'a)

Due to the challenging market competition in the
e-commerce platform industry and the continuing
impact brought by the unexpected prolonged COVID-19
pandemic, the Group’s merchant services segment
recorded significant loss for the year ended 31 December
2021, and the business performance did not achieve the
expected results.

Based on the past business performance and market
change, the management considers that the future
growth of the Group’s merchant services will be subject
to various uncertainties, including but not limited to the
growth prospects of the Group’s targeted customer
base, the Group's ability to identify and provide new
services for the changing market demand, and the
intensive competition within the industry.

The evolving regulatory requirements and fast-changing
market environment on operating e-commerce and
service platforms in the PRC also present challenges to
the market in which the Group operates.

All of the aforesaid factors would lead to a downward
adjustment of the value in use of the Group's CGU
B. Based on the above market development, the
management has prepared cash flow forecast for the
next five years derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by the directors.

As a result, impairment losses of RMB1,622,083,000,
RMB459,553,000, RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000
were recognised for CGU B’s goodwill, intangible assets,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The pre-tax rates
used to discount the forecast cash flows for CGU B is
19.16%.

Youzan Japan

The carrying amount of goodwill arising from acquisition
of Youzan Japan has been fully impaired by management
in year ended 31 December 2020.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

21.

[SEAC,
HRETFAEFATETERFL
IR B IMERMICOVID-19Z B # 2
NHRHERE AEENBRRFE DS
REE_ZE-_—F+-"8A=+—HH
ILEEREEEEER £HRIERE
ERTEMREE-

ERBEEFERRERTHEE B
BRBAEEERRE RKE R
REZBEIRERNRTZE BEERR
REAEEEREFHNERATR A

BYITE B T T s Bl B iR T IR F5 BY
FEFI°

RPEEEEFEHRERFFET
BTN EEERRREBENT
BIRBE T A AEBEERETSHE
SRBEE

AR EERAERRTES
BUBNEAEER FHE -RIEL
MHHERER EEBEEESH
BENRIAVHERERNRKLE
WERERETRA -

A Bz _E_—F+_/A=+—
BHEtFE BEMBEEEL BB
ZHE - BEEE BREKREZHEN
RERBEEED BB RERSE
ANER#1,622,083,00070~ AR
459,553,0007T ~ AR #522,110,0007T
B AR #80,393,0007T A BEIR IR
STESABUBZBAREREZHR
AT ZE219.16% ©

Youzan Japan
BE_Z_THE+_A=+—HIt
FE > BIEEEHWEEYouzan Japan
EEZEmERABERBIELRE.
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22.

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

e 1 A
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. EWEE
Computer
software
(internally E-commerce Distribution
generated) applications network Trademarks Total
HERRGS EF
(RBEE) AHER baxzE i [ axt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost D
At 1 January 2020 AZZZZF-F—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 941,331 1,964,079
Additions RE - - - 622 622
At 31 December 2020 and RZEZZE+-A=+-HAkK
1 January 2021 “2--F—-F—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 941,953 1,964,701
Additions hE - - - 465 465
At 31 December 2021 RZ&8-—#+-B=+—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation and RREHERAESA
impairment loss
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZTFE—F—H 3,146 211,960 116,807 - 331,913
Charge for the year AEERZ 453 124,428 68,262 - 193,143
At 31 December 2020 and RIZZ2H5+-F=+—Hk
1 January 2021 ZE-F#—-F—H 3,599 336,388 185,069 - 525,056
Impairment losses AESE - 130,205 - 329,348 459,553
Charge for the year FEERZ 536 124,428 - - 124,964
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—5+ZF=+—H 4,135 591,021 185,069 329,348 1,109,673
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2021 S e = 595 241,928 - 613,070 855,593
At 31 December 2020 AZEIEFFF=1—H 1,131 496,561 - 941,953 1,439,645
FEERERAT — - EER 275
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276

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Conta)

The average remaining amortisation period of computer
software, e-commerce applications, and distribution
network are 1 year (2020: 2 years), 3 years (2020:
4 vyears), fully amortised (2020: fully amortised)
respectively.

Computer software is allocated to third party payment
services segment (CGU A). E-commerce applications and
distribution network are allocated to merchant services
segment (CGU B).

The trademarks are used in the merchant services
segment (CGU B) to enhance products’ perceived value
and corporate image. The trademarks have legal life of
ten years but is renewable every ten years at little cost
and is well established. The Group intends to renew the
trademark continuously and evidence supports its ability
to do so. The trademarks are regarded and assessed to
have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit
to the period over which these assets are expected to
generate cash flows for the Group.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

22.

BREE @

ERGG BTEBER RS
SHHBAE 2 ORI BRI ER D B B
(CBoBF 1 26F) 3F (CBZF
1 A%E) REUEY CTTBE .
BB o

SAERRADERES =5 MR
DE CREELENMA) - BEFBHHE
BRADHEBEIEEBRRBE DS
(REELEBAB) -

ZEHRRARBRRBOM CREE
FEUB) LIRS EMIRANEE
REEZELR BROVEEFHAT
FoRE+EREMNER BER
TRFNEE -AEERFESBER
& BASERTREARENIIET
F-HRZFEERPIAEEHR
wRFEME Z AR 0 78 & AA
R S H R MRS E RS
mIRERER-

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

23.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021

are as follows:

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

23. MPMMBABRZIRE
TERNBATIR S —F+_"8

=t+—HZFBUOT:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 A
kL A RE MR BETREYRA EREEGZASL TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE i
Country Praise Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 769,231 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holdings
("Country Praise”) ("BVI") no par value
Country Praise Enterprises Limited EBEUHE 769,231 R EHEE 2 BB REZR
(TCountry Praise ) (BBELHE))
Youzan Technology Inc. Cayman Islands 1,513,127,641 shares of 51.9% - Investment holdings
("Youzan Technology”) US$0.00001 par value
BENKARAS HEHE 1,613,127641 REREE BREZR
(MBERR) 0.00001% 72 &3
Splendid Win Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
REBELEERAT A 10,0008 7T REER
Moderntimes Payment Limited BVI US$102,041 - 51%  Investment holdings
("Modemtimes”)
Moderntimes Payment Limited EBEUHE 102,041% 75 REZR
("Moderntimes )
Qima Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$0.01 - 51.9%  Investment holdings
("am1”)
Qima Investment Limited ) 0.0187 REZR
(ramiy)
HIRRE (bR RELSHEMRAR  The PRC RMB123,330,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
Beijing Shangyin Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd. '*
HiRRE (IR RESHBRAF & AR #123,330,0007T REER

PEEEHARAT T —EFH
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T F+_A=+—HIEE

23. RHMBABIZKRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 A
Ear SR R BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i

TRXREREEHEERAT The PRC RMB101,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Tiantongsaibo Information payment services,
Technology Co., Ltd. # information system

maintenance and
development services

TRXFPEREEREERAA S AR #101,000,0007T REE=HZ RS

EERAREERBEERY

TRsERB£ERERAR The PRC RMB 150,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial payment services
Management Co., Ltd. "%

TREEREEERFRAR FE AR #150,000,0007T REE=HZARS

TREHANEERRAR The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of goods
Beijing Zhixiang Chuangfu
Commercial Co., Ltd. '%*

TREMEINEERRAT FE AR 10,000,007 BEEGm
MMBEERFEERAB Hangzhou The PRC US$212,500,000 - 519% Internet information service
Youzan Technology Co., Ltd. ' (2020: US$195,500,045) wholesale and retail

("Hangzhou Youzan")
MMNBERKBRAT HE 212,500,000% 7 EMBEERS HE
(B &) CEZ2H: RETE
195,500,045 £7T)

FNBEEERMERAR The PRC RMBS,000,000 - 51.9%  Internet information service,
Shenzhen Youzan Information wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd. #

FNBEEERMERAR FE AR #5,000,0007 OHBEERRE #¥

RETE
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'a)

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

23. RHMBABIZKRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 A
Ear SR R BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i
MMEEEREREERAT The PRC RMB100,000 - 519%  Restaurant management and
Hangzhou Youzan Dining Co., Ltd. '* retail
MMEEEHERERAD HE AR#100,0007 BEEENTE
REEEEERMERAT The PRC N/A - 51.9% Internet information service,
Tianjin Youzan Information wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd."
("Tianjin Youzan")
KEREEERMBRAT FE ESEEEH EHBE SRR 3
(rRzgag) " RETE
MIBEEYTHERRABR The PRC USD7250,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
HIREHFREBRAR FE 7250,000% 7T - 100% HEZK
FNEAZREBRAT! The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
FNEAEREBRAR! HE AR #50,000,0007 - 100% HEZK
EERERE (R BRAR The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Factoring and guarantee
business
ElfERERE (R BRAF FE AR #50,000,0007 - 100% RERERER
2, & Youzan Japan Japan JPY237376,250 - 66.65%  Providing operation services
Youzan Japan Kabushiki Kaisha for merchants and
("Youzan Japan") integrated new retail
solutions for beauty
industries in Japan
3 & 4 Youzan Japan SRS 237376,250H - ABRRREERS 125

(MYouzan Japan )

SRS —FER

BAEZRATRRHEEMRN
ZERARR
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Notes:

(1

The English translation name is for identification purpose
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

In 2020, the registered shares of these subsidiaries were
restricted to transfer freely by a PRC District People's
Procuratorate to facilitate legal investigation not related
to the Group. On 19 October 2021, all restricted shares
are released. As at 31 December 2021, there are no
restricted shares.

These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises
in the PRC.

These companies are limited liability companies in the
PRC.

The above lists the subsidiaries of the Company which
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of
the assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

®w=

23.

—ET—F+"A=+—HIEFEE

RHBARZRE @

B E -

(1

)

(3)

(4

RYERLEHSE -ZBEZES
HBRHPX

RIE_ZFE - ABHEAREET
BEREZAEAT  ZEMBLAT
ZHEMBRMDHE—BhEME AR
BRI ERERE RN T - —
E+/A+NB FIBRGAIKRNDHE
Bip- M _E_—F+_HB=+—
B> BRI RRD o

ZERB/NPREZIIBEEED
¥O

ZERBR/RPREZAREER

IR

R EEBATEREHRRE

BB AEREERNEBARID

=

ZHRAB)NE A FIF EFBA
RHEEMMBATD ZHBERERB
BER AR
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B=

T —FF+_A=+—HLEFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Conta) 23. RMBATRZIRE @
As at 31 December 2021, bank and cash balances of the N _E—F+ZHA=+—H 'K
Group's subsidiaries deposited with banks in the PRC EENBARENRNFEZIRET
denominated in HKD, RMB and USD were amounted UBT~s AR RETFEZIRIT
to RMB599,000, RMB243,227000 and RMB88,439,000 RIBE&EFD A ARES99,000
respectively (2020: RMB616,000, RMB658,616,000 7T AR #243,227000c K AR #
and RMB554,981,000). Conversion of the mentioned 88,439,000t (ZZE T F . AR
balance from RMB into foreign currencies and from 616,0007T * AR 1658,616,00070 K&
foreign currencies into RMB is subject to the PRC's AR #£554,981,0007T) o Ealt45 &R
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration ANRBRBBIINERBINERIRS
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange AREBEEBR(PREINEEERERON KR
Regulations. (EE-EERMNESERTE)
The following table shows information on the subsidiaries TREVNGEEHAEEMEBEKX
that have non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the IR (TIEER#Em) 2 M
Group. The summarised financial information represents BABIZEK - ARMBEREIERS
amounts before intercompany eliminations. ETABIEHERI 2 £k
Youzan Technology and
its subsidiaries
BEERREREKBAR
2021 2020
Name L] “T-—fF _"TTHF
Principal place of business/country of FEEEME PRC PRC
incorporation BRI AVAETER I FRE
% of ownership interests/voting rights held ¥R & EAR FEIERR T
by NCI at end of reporting period PSR R
S REBDE 48.10% 48.10%
TETFER 281
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

23. RHMBABIZKRE @

2021 2020
—EC 5 "EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
At 31 December: nw+=-—HB=+—8":
Non-current assets (excluding goodwill) FERBEE (FEEESE) 1,529,555 2,009,886
Current assets MENEE 611,330 2,051,805
Non-current liabilities EREEE (434,853) (522,855)
Current liabilities mENEE (1,253,491) (1,494,656)
Net assets BEZFE 452,541 2,044,180
Accumulated NCI RETIEIER T 5,605 786,134
Period ended 31 December: g#EZ+—-H
=+—HI1:-8/M :
Revenue (include intersegment revenue) W (BE D 3P 1,284,003 1,575,984
Loss &8 (1,620,120) (506,994)
Total comprehensive income ZEUWALLEER (1,591,889) (488,735)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEIFERET 2 E1E (783,106) (251,180)
Dividends paid to NCI I FIEERER 2 RE - -
Net cash (used in)/generated from 1R E (FA) /P8
operating activities IREHRE (686,948) 255,765
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEPTAIRE R (291,221) (51,650)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RMEES FrA) FrfE
financing activities IREIHRE (28,241) 737,295
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RBENRIBEEEY
cash equivalents CRZL) /Y& hn 348 (1,006,410) 941,410
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BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conta)  23.

As at 31 December 2021, bank and cash balances
of Youzan Group deposited with banks in the PRC
denominated in RMB and USD were amounted to
RMB200,987000 and RMB88,439,000 respectively
(2020: RMB652,193,000 and RMB554,981,000).
Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RBARZIEE @

A B —F+_HA=+—H'HA
BEETHRHAREZBITUARE
KRETFHEZRTRIREEFD ]
A ANR200,987,00070 & A R &
88,439,000t (ZE-_ZHF : AR
652,193,0007t & A & #5554,981,000
70) ° PEEERRAA AR R A IMNE
KEIMER IR AR EEER (PR
SN B IR AR ) e (A BB ~ 5 BB Ko ST B
BIERED

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24. MPEEATZEE

2021 2020
T8 —ZETTZFHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFx ARETFT

Unlisted investments in the PRC: R ZIELEMKE :
Share of net assets FELEEFE 1,644 1,150
Goodwill GRS 33,350 32,061
34,994 33,211
Impairment losses, cumulative RETBERIE (30,041) (30,041)
4,953 3,170
CEC-EER 283
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE-T-—E+-A=t+—DLEE
24. MEERARZKRE @

AEEREATN T —F+
RA=+—HZsFFEUT:

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2021
were as follows:

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Registered interest attributable
Name registration and operation capital to the Group  Principal activities
KEEERL
oL FEMARIL IR S HRER REBALE FEEXH
Shanghai Yu Chang Financial Information ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 49%  Micro business lending
Services Co., Ltd.* FE AR #5,000,0007T HMELEER

LERGERESREERAR

Shanghai Xueying Information & Technology

The PRC

RMB1,000,000

N/A. deregister on

Information technology

Co., Ltd.* HE AE1,000,0007¢ 1 December 2021 development and
TEEEEENERRAS (2020: 20%) consultancy services
TER R_E-—& FERBHEER
-I-_ﬁ Bt SRS
(C2ITE120%)
Beijing Wallet Science and The PRC RMB10,000,000 20%  Provision of consultancy
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note (a)) ] AR #10,000,00075 services for internet
LRAEEHEARAT (i) operation
}%{#{Eﬂﬁ rﬁ‘ﬁ@ =54 u@ﬂ&%
Guangzhou Kuaizi Information Technology ~ The PRC RMB3,299,112 4.86%  Information technology
Co., Ltd. (“GZ Kuaizi")* (note (a)) FE AE3,299,11275 development
BNRFEERKERAT EERMmEE
(BT ) (it)
Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB1,164,023 5%  Information technology
(“NJ Houjian")* (note (a)) e AR1,164,0237T development and
HREREHEERAR consultancy services
(MERER) (i) 15 BB B R sB 30 AR
Henan Youjian E-Commerce Co., Limited ~ The PRC RMB12,515,000 36.25%  Online trading
(“Henan Youjian")* FE AR #12,515,0007C BERS
AEEEETHEBARAT
(CAmAER)
Hangzhou Maizan Brand The PRC RMB5,000,000 N/A. deregister on  Marketing planning
Planning Co., Ltd* FE AE5,000,0007¢ 3 December 2021  Z iR
MMEERERAFRAT (2020: 45%)
TERR_E_—&
+_ A=H:t#
(C2ZZE 1 45%)
Guangdong Huigong Supply Chain The PRC RMB7142,900 30%  Online and offline retail
Management Co., Ltd.* (“Huigong”) I AE#7142,9007¢ BIRETEE
BREMMEREEARAT ((EH)
Changchun Weizhan Network Technology ~ The PRC RMB833,330 39.9976%  Information technology
Co., Ltd. HE AE833,3307C development and
REMHMEBRAEREERAR consultancy services
15 BB % Rt iR
* The English translation name is for identification purpose * BNERERZ2E - ZEBREZERS

only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. LRBARHS o
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd) 24,

Note:

(a) The carrying amount of those associates were fully
impaired in previous years because the directors of the
Company expected that no profit would be generated in
foreseeable future.

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting
power of GZ Kuaizi and NJ Houjian, the Group exercises
significant influence over these entities because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the five
directors of these entities.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's
share of the amounts of all individual immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity

I+ _"A=1+—HIEFE

REERRZRE @
B E -

(a) RBTEFE ZFHEQTDZIRE
EEXHRE RARTRAES
FAHAR B R 2RI A G E )R o

FEAEEBEAENRFRERE
BAE20% 2 KRB HAREEAZ
FHMERTNEAEARE RER
rEEREREZEZSEHELAT LY
ERPHHEP—HES-

TRESFETAERBRGUERE
ARZFIBENAERBEATZ
EAEE

method.
2021 2020
R CTETE2HE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr ARETT
At 31 December: ®w+—B=+—8":
Carrying amounts of interests w2 AREE 4,953 3,170
Year ended 31 December: #=+—-H
=+—HLEE:
Loss for the year, net FANEIE > FRE (217) (1,161)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2wl A - -
Total comprehensive income 2EUNALREE (217) (1,161)
FEABERAT T FER 285
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HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont'a) 24, WMEZEQBTIZERE @
The Group has not recognised loss for the year FEBEREIMEREMHR (CTEZ
amounting to approximately RMB842,000 (2020: T B DUMNGE R B 2 FANE
RMB1,772,000) for associates other than Weizhan and BH AR 15842,0007t (ZE T4 :
Huigong (2020: Huigong). The accumulated losses not ANER#1,772,0007T) ° MR R E ML
recognised were approximately RMB4,258,000 (2020: SMREHE AT 2 KRR REEIE
RMB3,416,000) for all associates other than Weizhan and KA NRI4,258,0000 (ZE-F
Huigong. F 1 AR ¥83,416,0007T) °
As at 31 December 2021, the bank and cash balances of N_E—F+“A=1+—H &&
the Group's associates in the PRC denominated in RMB BREBEEATUARESTEZR
amounted to RMB61,300,000 (2020: RMB97362,000). TRIREHEGFE ARKG61,300,000
Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into T (ZEZZHF  AK97362,000
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into 70) o LR ARB R A INE
RMB is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control RAIMNE R NRIEBEE(PE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and SMEE B IRRGI) K (45 08 ~ & B Ko T BB
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. BIERED
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25 HBAFESFATHEGZIRZ
MBEE
As at As at
31 December 371 December
2021 2020
RIEZ—F RZ2EHF
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT
Included in non-current assets: STAJERBIEE !
Investments in unlisted equity securities KEIF ERAES 8,935 -
Investments in preferred shares in the PRC &£ & HE > B4 363,740 -
372,675 -
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (conta) 25 HBAFESFATZERZIRZ
I\j?ﬁé CAE
The preferred shares have redemption preference and BERHEEETRMNEERE
liquidation preference over ordinary equity shares and are SRRBEEERLER UNBAEBR
classified as debt investments. Accordingly, the carrying SE oAb RIBEFBHBREEE
amounts of the investments in preferred shares are Al  REEBEAR ZIREER
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss FiZ AT EstATIERRETE o
in accordance with HKFRS 9.
Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in the BAFESFATERRZUBE
following currencies: EJA T EEEHE !
As at As at
31 December 371 December
2021 2020
MRIBZ—F RIZTEZHF
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
USs$ ETT 22,734 -
RMB AR 349,941 -
372,675 -
26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 26. BATE %J[AEEWJ%ELI&
mIRZ BB E
2021 2020
ZEIEFE EZTEZHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTr AR®ETT
Unlisted equity securities JE LM RAFE S 71,490 117,024

PEAEARAH

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value of
these unlisted equity securities were valued by applicable
market multiples approach (2020: valued by applicable
market multiple approach and guideline transaction
methods).

e

R —FERTECEES A

=+—H &ZFFLHREFBZFZA
FEDRBRZ TS EREETHE
(CETEF  RBERZTHERE
RIS ZEETRE) -
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HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (cont'a) 26. BMATFE %J[)\Tfﬁﬁﬂéﬁllﬁz
mIRZITBEE ©®
Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in the BAFTESATEMEZERGERS
following currencies: HMHBEETVUATIEESHE
2021 2020
B85 _"ZT_EHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
US dollars (“USD") xE7t (&) 1,740 42,354
RMB AR 69,750 74,670
71,490 117024
EARNEST MONEY PAID FOR A 27 WLEBEKRECEfIHES

POTENTIAL INVESTMENT

On 24 December 2020, Hangzhou Youzan signed an
agreement for potential investment to acquire 15% new
preferred shares of Shanghai Burgeon at a consideration
of RMB212 million. RMB50 million earnest money was
paid on 28 December 2020.

On 19 January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan entered into
investment agreement and shareholders’ agreement
with Shanghai Burgeon and its existing shareholders to
confirm the acquisition. RMB50 million earnest money
has become part of the consideration and the remaining
balance of RMB162 million was settled by Hangzhou
Youzan on 22 January 2021 and the Group classified the
investment as financial assets at FVTPL.

The consideration of RMB212 million is determined by
negotiation with Shanghai Burgeon after the Group's due
diligence and internal assessment on Shanghai Burgeon's
operation and financial information. The Group's internal
assessment has assessed the value of entire equity
interest of Shanghai Burgeon to be at least RMB1,550
million.

PR _ZBE+_F_+ME  Hl
BEEEE-—HBEREWwE  UKE
EBBEZI15%HELK REAA
RE21288 T -#BEEAREKS0R
BTER_ZEEF+ B =+N
HZ{Je

N _E_—F—B+AB mMNE
BHFsREREREREILE
BEREMREGE UERUEE-
ARBSOEBTZHEEHEANR
Bz —E7 ARI162B BT 2R
BEHMMNBER _E_-_—%—A8
"+ REBR AEEBZRENE
ABENTFTESATERRZVETE
&o

ARB21I2EETHAEBEAER
HEBHERZEERMBERET
ERBEERABTEERE ERE
EEEE KAEENE TG LB
BEZEHREBEELBARE
1,550B & 7T e
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE-S-—#+-A=+—BItEE
28. INVENTORIES 28. #&
2021 2020
B85 —ECEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Finished goods RN MR 921 1,384

As at 31 December 2021, an allowance was made for A TET—F+"HA=+—H &
estimated irrecoverable inventories for approximately FAEWEZ EZFEFEEBERENOAR
RMB7049,000 (2020: RMB6,025,000). #7049,00070c (ZE-_ZF : AR

6,025,0007T) °
29. TRADE RECEIVABLES 29. [EULERTR

2021 2020

g8 ZTTEFHF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AEBTRT

Trade receivables FE AR R 15,067 19,813
Allowance for doubtful debts RAREE (10,775) (17.992)
4,292 1,821

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, BEZE T FRIZEZIZF+Z
the Group usually does not grant any credit term to B=+—HLEFE  BFRE®IERI

customers unless some special cases. For those special $$IL%TA?A%%}5EHT:.§
case, the Group will granted a credit period less than 120 HLEERHBERAME  AEEF
days. ?f 120K IEE R
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

29. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Contd) 29,

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

FEURERTR (@
FEMRERRR (B BB E > LB
fRHE) ZERE DI |

2021 2020
—EC—F —EC=HF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

0 to 120 days 0Z120H

As at 31 December 2021, an allowance was made
for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of
approximately RMB 10,775,000 (2020: RMB17992,000).

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables:

4,292 1,821

RIB-_—F+-B=+—0H 5
TR AT UL [E] 2 FE U AR RN B 40
AE 10,775,000 (ZE_FF .
AR #17992,0007T) ©

FEWRBR TR R 2 B8R

2021 2020
-5 "=E2=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT ARBETIT

At 1 January n—A—H
Allowance for the year FRERE

Reversal of allowance for the year F R EED
Written off of allowance B E M

At 31 December R+=-B=+—H

290

17,992 16,730

4,126 1,262
(4,659) -
(6,684) -
10,775 17992
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  30. FA{IRRIE &% KR H MU
bi=]

RECEIVABLES B
2021 2020
T CZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Prepayments in relation to HEERBEREZ
advertising services TR ™IE 24,302 269,836
Other prepayments HMEHRIE 100,806 116,653
Deposits b 16,268 13,712
Other loans receivable (note (a), (b)) HMEWERR
(F¥5E(@) ~ (b)) 5,000 10,610
Other receivables restricted ERNEBEEET
for settling settlement obligations Z HhEWRIE 205,413 347951
Other receivables Hh U EIE 52,770 50,556
404,559 809,318
Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE 7137 3,209
Current asset MENEE 397422 806,109
404,559 809,318
Notes: B E -
(@  On 8 January 2021 and 7 June 2021, loans totaling (a) RIBZ—F—-—ANBRZFZ—

RMB5,000,000 were grant to a relative of employee.
The loans were unsecured, interest bearing at 3.7% per
annum and repayable on or before 30 June 2022. The
loans were non-trade in nature. The loans and interests
were fully repaid on 24 February 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, ECL of the above loan has
been assessed by the Group and considered minimal.
The loans are denominated in RMB.

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

FERAtH B—%EIZHER
HE £ AR 85,000,000 2 B o
ZEERABRKIR REFEIT%
SFREBERZEZ_&#,B=1+
BzaiEE ZEERRMER
RNIE__F_A -+ NEEHE
;ﬁo

RIE2_—&F+_A=+—H =K
EEEFE LRERZEHREES
BoURAEM -FMBEERHEUA
RIEETE
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  30. FA{IRRIE &% KR H MU

RECEIVABLES (conta) 18 @)

Notes: (Cont’d) MisE : (#2)

(b) As at 31 December 2020, a loan granted to a subsidiary (b) RIZZZHF+-RA=+—H @\
of an investee company amounting to RMB10,610,000 —EREEARZ B ABME
was guaranteed by a third party and repayable on HZEMRAK®10,610,0007TH—
or before 22 May 2021. The loan is interest free and HE=ZFEFR ARZZ—Fh
denominated in RMB. On 7 April 2021, the loan BZ+ZHHZAIERE - ZERA
repayment date was further extended to 6 April 2022. RERUAREFBH RZIEZ—
The Group had assessed the ECL as at 31 December FMAtH ZERZEBEBE
2020 and no allowance was recognised. The loan was — SR E_ZT __FMBRHe
fully repaid on 30 December 2021. KEFBR _EEF+__A=+—

HEFEAERESER Bl EE
DEB - ZERER-Z—F
+ZR=THEHEN-

As at 31 December 2021, an allowance was made for N_E2-_—F+"HA=+—H" =t
estimated irrecoverable prepayment, deposits and other et A KEIZFBNRIE - ZE K
receivables of approximately RMB8,539,000 (2020: HMEWARBEHEBEOARE
RMBS8,539,000). 8,539,000 (ZZZZH | AR

8,539,0007T) ©

Reconciliation of allowance for prepayments, deposits FETFRIE ~ %5 K H A FEWGRIB
and other receivables: ZHER

2021 2020

- T THF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETRT ARETT

At 1 January n—HB—H 8,539 27576
Allowance for the year FREE - 51

Reversal of allowance for the year F R EED] - (19,088)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 8,539 8,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Cont'a)

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

30. FEIRRIE - #E R H IR

18 @)

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are denominated in the

following currencies:

AEBIATR

HZEREEDUTIIEE

I8~ ¥ R ELAFE URR

HE -

2021 2020
—E-F T _ZTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
RMB AR 400,978 804,420
HKD ATT 1,852 2,061
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE (THE.) 1,511 2,837
Canadian dollar (“CAD") mzXxrx (M=EKX7T) 212 -
Usb =T 6 -
404,559 809,318
31. CAPITALISED CONTRACT COSTS 31. EXLELIMA
2021 2020
T CZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETIT
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts ER/ENNES A
capitalised — Subscription solutions BRME—TRBRAE 186,208 181,712
Fulfilment costs of customisation services & fll iR 75 /B 49 B 2= 12,318 -
Fulfilment costs of third party B AN RBEBARA
payment services 8,024 13,548
206,550 195,260
Analysed as: aNIT=
Non-current assets ERBEE 33,550 24,464
Current assets MBBEE 173,000 170,796
206,550 195,260
Amortisation recognised as selling R & BRI EE TSR 4
expenses related to subscription SETRIMRR S MR
solutions during the reporting period HERRS 243,288 212,842
FEABERAT T FER 293
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_"BA=+—HIEFE
32. LOANSTO EMPLOYEES 32. AEEFHZER

Accrued Accrued
Principal interest Principal interest
balance at as at balance at as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Party Terms of loan Note 2021 2021 2020 2020
RZEZ-F AZEC-E RZB-EE RoB-BE
+ZB=+-B +ZB=+-H +IZIB=+-H +ZB=1+-H
Ll EEREEA i3 2R 2T ZERBER ZIESHHIS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREFT ARETT ARETTT

Non-current

Employee A Unsecured, repayable on 24 December (i) 2,650 - 2,650 -
2026, bearing interest of 0% per
annum in first 5 years and 2.5% per
annum in the remaining years.

fBEA B AR CEAE+ZBZHIA

BB ISE 2 ERIZEA0% RE T EE

ZERER25%
Employee B Unsecured, repayable on 10 June 2025, 500 - - -

and interest free
ESB ERPBR_E_REABTHEER

%8

3,150 - 2,650 -

Notes: BT
(i) The employee is the senior management of the Group. (i) ZRERAEBZSREERE -
ECL of the above loans have been assessed by the Group AEEBNE LIMERZTERES
and considered minimal. All loans were denominated in BB IR REM-PTBEERIEIUA
RMB and non-trade in nature. RESHERBIEEZHE -
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_S-_—F+-A=t+—HIEE
33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON- 33. FEWHIE A B IR R B
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS — AR 2 =718
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND A RELATED
COMPANY
(a) Amounts due from non-controlling (a) FEUKPEATRIFEIERAG R
shareholders of subsidiaries are as FIEWMTF -
follows:
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2021 1 January 2021 during the year
RZEZ—&
+ZB RIT—_—F
=+—H —H—A FRARS
Name Y ZAEER ZFEER KEEEH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFRT ARBTT ARBTT

Mr. JOONG Chi-Wei R STE 260 260 260
Non-controlling FEFERG A% BRH

shareholder H 1,012 - 1,012

1,272 260 1,272
The amounts were unsecured, interest free and ZHIEAEILRE R ERAE
repayable on demand. EREE-
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no allowance RIE - FR_EEHF
was made for estimated irrecoverable amount due +-B=+—H > HEMREK
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. Mﬁﬁ@ﬂ?E?“Hzﬁy%Zﬁﬁ
The amounts due are non-trade in nature. AAEIWFRIBEH B o B8
NIBEAIEEZME-
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON- 33. FEWMIB AT IR R
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS —ERAE A B FRIE @
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND A RELATED
COMPANY (cont'a)
(b) Amount due from a related company is (b) FEUR—TFEIRAE A B FRIEYN
as follows: T
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2021 1 January 2021 during the year
RZE_—F
+-B RZT-—F
=+-8 ~A-8 FRRE
Party el 248 CEE KEESH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF AREFTT AREFTT
Related company F RAEE AN BIF 800 452 1,129

The amount was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The amount due is trade in
nature.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no allowance
was made for estimated irrecoverable amount
due from a related company. The amounts were
denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
34. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 34. ZPRHISRITLEER
2021 2020
—E-—&F C—T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®SFrT AR®ETT
For settlement of amounts payable to BRE&ESEEMES
employees EEE] 844 24,474
Frozen by a PRC District People’s EhE—HME ARISRERS
Procuratorate to facilitate legal RIEAREAREE
investigation not related to the Group W2 AERE - 30,436
Pledged as security of banking facilities EHRERTTRENRER 1,107 3,504
1,951 58,414

All restricted bank balances were denominated in RMB.

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into foreign
currencies and from foreign currencies to RMB is subject
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

PRAEZRAEIRITEHREUARES
EE

LiEFRARBRIARINE KRB
INERMBARBREBE(PEINE
BRI R(EE - EER M EEE
RED
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

35.

36.

298

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

The Group places mandatory reserve funds with the
People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC") and the amount is
determined by the PBOC from time to time. The amount
is interest bearing (note 9).

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2021, no bank balances was
exclusively designated for the purpose of fulfilling the
Group's settlement obligations as set out in note 42
(2020: RMB99,864,000).

Bank and cash balances of the Group deposited with
banks in the PRC and denominated in the following
currencies:

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

35.

36.

FIR AP RERITRRIE
AEBREEEBEERETEA
RIRFT (TREIARIRTY) » ZAUER
PEIARRIT R B - ZAER 5t
8 (f5E9) o

IRITRIRELEER
R_E_—F+_B=+—H
HEIRTHER (CTE_ZF . AR
99,864,0007T) U0 FE42FF AL Z T A
FAEBEHEETRE

AEEFRNAREBETILUTIE
WEHEZIRITRIREHEER -

2021 2020
-5 —ZTFF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥FT ARBETT

HKD BT 615 633
RMB AR 243,227 658,616
UsD ET 374,967 961,703
618,809 1,620,952

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

FEFBARBERRAINERE
SNE R/ ARERBE(PEINE
EIRFRA) R (G~ EER I EEE
RED e
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEE
37. TRADE PAYABLES 37. FE{JERTX
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date }T&CHEE% RZREKEREHFE 2
of receipt of goods, is as follows: IREE DU -
2021 2020
— T —F C"TTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 397 383
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H - -
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H - -
Over 365 days 365H M E 2,365 4,013
2,762 4,396
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are RIEZ—FRZIZEZZEF+TA
denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. —t+—B AEBREMERRZEEE
MARIESTHE.
38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 38. TREIRERAKHEHMMEFIE
2021 2020
g ZTTEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Deposits received BWizE 140,803 142,251
Receipt in advance TEU R IE
— advertising services related (note (i) —BRESRT
(P EEa) 3,700 19,639
Receipt in advance — others (note (i) FEW R TE — E A (B EE() 8,181 39,880
Accrued salaries EstTE 194,559 217843
Accrued expenses FEETRES 79,379 87254
Amounts payable to employees FETREIE 1,474 24,514
Consideration payable for a financial assets BIZQF(ET AEE @R
at FVTPL (note (iii)) ZHHBEEZRMAE
(Bt = (i) 10,195 -
Other payables HAFE (I RRIE 120,540 89,5637
558,831 620,918
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g A
777 N

AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont ')

The carrying amounts of the Group's accruals and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

39.

300

HE_Z—

—F+_A=1+—HLEFE

38. TRIRE A KRHEMEMTRIA @

AEERREERKRAMEBNRIEZ
SREIMETS U T EREHE !

2021 2020
B 5 TECZEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BFT
RMB AR 527,875 604,332
HKD BT 10,978 10,393
JPY H 499 209
usD E7T 19,396 5,984
CAD NI 83 -
558,831 620,918

Notes: FsE -

(ii)

(iif)

The amount represented advertising credits received in
advance from social media.

The amount represented transaction fee, top-up amount
for advertisements and promotion fee received in
advance from merchants.

The amount was subsequently paid on 23 February
2022.

AMOUNTS DUETO NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts were unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The amounts due were
denominated in RMB and trade in nature.

39.

(i)

(i)

(ii)

ZARIRE TR R W Z B

SR

ZHEERZGE EEREEER
FRAENB RN HEEE -

“+=Hx% e

L—= — —

FEAT B B 22 B IR B AR R AR

18

ZRARERIT S RERARERE
B FMBUAREBSELAES

ME-
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE-S-—#+-A=+—BItEE
40. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 40. S8981E&E
2021 2020
B85 —ECEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Billings in advance of BAOEEZIRATIER
performance obligation —sIRRR A
— Subscription solutions

Contract liabilities mainly arise from non-refundable
advance payments in relation to subscription solutions
made by subscribed merchants while the underlying
services are yet to be provided.

Movements in contract liabilities:

738,938 667607

GHERTEREIHABRIEMHA
SIBIMR D A Z AR RETAN
o AR RA AR (M R iRt

BMNaRZES !

2021 2020
-5 "=E2=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT ARBETIT

Balance at 1 January R—B—HBz#&eR 667,607 454,273
Increase in contract liabilities as a result =E =S

of billing in advance of provision of RT3 28 2 1R B UK

Subscription Solutions a0 1,045,144 1,261,285
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of S&4IE&EREREN

recognising revenue during the year W& Rk (973,813) (1,047951)
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HZ#&8% 738,938 667,607

The amount of billings in advance of performance
received that is expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year is RMB55,446,000 (2020:
RMB56,371,000).

FEEEAMRAT T —FFH

FERNR—FEBRIABAZERW
BRI A AR 55,446,000
T (ZTEZZEF . ARM56,371,000

7o) °©

301



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

41.

302

LEASE LIABILITIES

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

41. HE&R

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHEMAR RIEEECRZRAE
2021 2020 2021 2020
- ZE2IZF ZET-H ZEIERF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT ARETT ARETR ARETT
Within one year —ER 68,951 33,235 48,284 19,170
In the second to fifth years, E_EFEFEERE
inclusive (BEEEWE) 198,595 177,631 150,076 112,445
After five years FEMUE 79,848 122,716 75,292 110,646
347,394 333,582 273,652 242,261
Less: Future finance charges RIS W (73,742) (91,321) N/A N/A
Present value of lease obligations TAE&ERE 273,652 242,261 273,652 242,261
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 731218 8 A ZIHA
within 12 months (shown rEZ2HIE
under current liabilities) V=R
TTR) (48,284) (19,170)
Amount due for settlement RI2ER&EIRER
after 12 months 2B 225,368 223,091
The carrying amounts of the Group's for lease AEBBEZRABELDUTIEE
denominated in the following currencies: 5HE -
2021 2020
—E-—F C"E-EE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARETIT
RMB AR 272,991 240,187
HKD HATT 661 2,074
273,652 242,261
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BHEZ

42. SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS 42.

Settlement obligations represent payables to merchants
for the third party payment services that the Group
collects from the payment service providers of
consumers. The amounts are due for settlement on
demand and is denominated in RMB.

TGRS {—BLEE

n\l:l %E{i

EEEEEAEREMNE =AM
RFERBEHEE Z X RBHE
B UEN 2 RUE - ZERIAAEEKE|
S TUARBE

43. DEFERRED TAX 43. RIERIE
Capitalised
Intangible contract
Tax losses assets costs Total
] Za 1L
RIEFE BEEE ASOHTE 8%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBTT AREFTRT AREBTT
At 1 January 2020 RN_E"%
—A—H 167491 (244,604) (16,541) (93,654)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for 5t A/ (&) R
the year (note 13) B (FEE13) 28,214 28,810 (11,738) 45,286
At 31 December 2020 and N_E"TF
1 January 2021 +ZA=+—HK
BT —fF
—HF—H 195,705 (215,794) (28,279) (48,368)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss for ~ (3&#H) /st AFER
the year (note 13) B (FEE13) (126,933) 87559 (1,500) (40,874)
At 31 December 2021 K2 —F
+ZA=+—H 68,772 (128,235) (29,779) (89,242)
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

43.

304

DEFERRED TAX (Cont )

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for consolidated statement of financial position purpose:

HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

43. EIEFRIA @)
UTREaMBRREMERZ
EIERRTRAS BR AT

2021 2020
T -5 _"ET_=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETRT ARETT

Deferred tax assets LL%’ZIETE
Deferred tax liabilities RILIRIEEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of RMB2,784,571,000 (2020:
RMB1,634,928,000) available for offset against future
profits.

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax assets of
RMB68,772,000 (2020: RMB195,705,000) were
recognised in respect of unused tax losses of
RMB458,480,000 (2020: RMB1,304,699,000) arising
from a major subsidiary. The directors have exercised
their judgement to assess that there will be sufficient
future taxable profits available to offset against such
unused tax losses. These tax losses will expire from 2025
t0 2027 (2020: from 2024 to 2030).

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB2,326,091,000
(2020: RMB330,229,000) of the Group due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
will expire from 2022 to 2031 (2020: from 2021 to 2030).

68,772 195,705
(158,014) (244,073)
(89,242) (48,368)

RIREHR > ZAEBETARIKHE R
KaMzAxEBBREBEAARK
2,784,571,00070 (ZE-ZFF 1 AR
#1,634,928,0007T) °

N _E_—F+_"_HA=+—H Bt
—EEENBABDELEZREBAR
I5 518 A R #5458,480,0007T (Z &
—EHF AR¥81,304,699,0007T) i
SRIERIEE E A R #£68,772,00070

(ZZ—ZF : AREK195,705,000

7o) c BEBERHE T ERKEE

REMERR SR BN IRHEARS
BRIEEE ZEMNEHERFRN_Z
THEEE_tLE(CEEE
TETEF"E=TF) T

5 R 2K i F) 2R R 2 & 5] T8 R
Mo ERAEBRR TARK
2,326,091,00070 (ZE-FF | AR
#330,229,0007T) HAIRILRIBE
E-ZERMEBEBEN_ZE"FF
TEEF(CEIZFE 2T

FE-B=TH) 3.
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

44. SHARE CAPITAL 44. jg#
2021 2020
—EZ-&F TR
Number of Number of
shares Amount Amount shares Amount Amount
RHHE it ] &E  R0#E S e
Note ‘000 HK$'000 RMB'000 '000 HK$'000 RMB'000
fizE T TErT ARETR T FET ARETR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of ~ EIREE0.01ETT
HK$0.01 each ZERER 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 200,000
Ordinary, issued and L@ E&TRK
fully paid: e
At 1 January n—B—H 17,253,403 172,534 144,981 15,465,807 154,658 128,665
Share issued under  IRBEE21T
placing B 1n (a) - - - 1,240,000 12,400 11,324
Exercise of share TR
options 6,600 66 55 27596 276 243
Exercise of warrant  {T{EsRRREE
shares 3] 47blvii) - - - 520,000 5,200 4,749
At 31 December ®+=RH
=+—H 17,260,003 172,600 145,036 17253,403 172,534 144,981
Note: B EE -

(a) On 8 April 2020, the Company entered into placing
agreement with 2 placing agents in respect of
1,240,000,000 new shares of the Company to be
allotted and issued at HK$0.64 per share. The placing
was completed on 17 April 2020 and the net proceeds
from the placing was approximately HK$784,077.000
(approximate RMB716,052,000).

PEAEARAF

SRS —FER

(a)

NE_ZEFNANH xAFH
MG E N IEM IR ER0.648 T
T Bp 3% K 397 2.1,240,000,00088 7
NBFRDEIUERERZ - LER
RZE2E_ZEFNA++tHEM &
E B RIEFEELA784,077000%
7t (K9 AR 1716,052,0007T) °
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SHARE CAPITAL (Cont'd)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem
existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital.

Net debt, includes interest-bearing bank loans, other
borrowings, accruals and other payables, less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of the Group’'s equity excluding non-
controlling interests. The Group’'s policy is to maintain
a low debt-to-adjusted capital ratio and this policy is
unchanged. This policy will be reviewed on an annual
basis.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

44.

B @)

FEEEAEE BB MEAE
B> BB IC A BB B ERS
£ B HE TP T 2 AR B 4 P 22 R (B4R o

AEEZARLLAREERTER A
EERBEECERREZEERBRE
EZREEE BIBEAREEIL MU
AR RERUHREBRERRE &
E AR E BT B
K BEMES BRREEHN
HEBELUREET -

FEBREHHEHEELALXE
EEEE R - ZERBBEFHIHRUE
ABREARS

BB PREES BRITER  HitE
B FRREAKEMEMRIERRE
RBEHFEY) EHBERBELRE
EEm (FEEIFERER) ZFTA
o o AEE Z BURA MR RERH
MABERLER ZBERFRIF A E -
ZHERRGFEETER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

44. SHARE CAPITAL (conta)

BEZ_—HF1+_R=t—HLEFE

44. B @)

2021 2020

—E-—fF CZZ-TH

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTn ARETT

Accruals and other payables FEIRE R REMERIE 558,831 620,918

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEY (711,527) (1,751,730)

Excess cash and cash equivalents HBrEIREMIREEEY (152,696) (1,130,812)
Total equity excluding non-controlling R AR XA

interests (T EiEFFERER 1,346,466 3,858,795

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BRHKCHABRERILR N/A RiEH N/A 3 B

The externally imposed capital requirements for the REBEBABHEFENE I L

Group is to have a public float of at least 26% of the
Company's shares in order to maintain its listing on the
Stock Exchange. Based on information that is publicly

available to the Company and within the knowledge of Fr &0

the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public.

PEAEARAH

e

o
/NS

FEER/D25% o

il BSNER NN 2 E AR B R B RET
ED2BRERB RN
REBEARBMELAFRENARES
RAEXRBBHTREE

NRFFRE -
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45. OTHER RESERVES

308

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

45. Hfthf#fE

Financial ~ Subsidiary's
assets at treasury
Capital Statutory Exchange FVTOCI share
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
BRATE
A
At 2@
k#lkz HWEARZ
EXfiE EERE ERMHE MBEERE EEROEE Lh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTr  ARBTr ARETn ARETn ARETn  ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RZE_EE-F—-H (59,517) 8,060 74,027 (56,304) (7) (33,741)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ENAEE - - (89,737) 5,703 - (84,034)
Release of FVTOCI upon disposals REERERRATESAE
Eth2EhER - - - (721) - (7211)
Acquisitions of interest in a subsidiary without WE-ENBATZRE
change of control (note 491c) & (d)) (EEHIREE) (H5H49()RK0) 560,717) - - - - (560,717)
Changes in equity for the year EREREE (560,717) - (89,737) (1,508) - (651,962)
At 31 December 2020 RIEZFE+-A=1+-H (620,234) 8,060 (15,710) (657812) 7 (685,703
At 1 January 2021 R_E_-&F-F—H (620,234) 8,060 (15,710) (57812) 7 (685,703)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZERNLRE - - (13,746) (45,015) - (58,761)
Further acquisition of a subsidiary without change ~ E—F I E—HRE AT
of control (note 49(b) (EEHRES) (H75490) (1,331) - - - - (1,331)
Changes in equity for the year EREZES (1331) - (13,746) (45,015) - (60,092)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_-F+ZA=1+-H (621,565 8,060 (29,456) (102,827) (1) (745,795)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46. AT ZBAFHFRRR KL HE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE EE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) ZFREZHFFRRER
Company
As at 31 December
m+-B=+—H
2021 2020
—E-F EZTEZ2HF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

M ARBTRT  AREBTT

Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment #12 ~ & /5 Ko 5% 64 99
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 717 2,003
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AT ZKRE 681,142 4,063,870
Amounts due from AN ENGIEE]
subsidiaries - 174,108
Financial assets at FVTOC| ¥ A EFT AT EM
2EW @R
MREE 1,740 42,354
683,663 4,282,434
Current assets MEEE

Prepayments, deposits and ~ TEITIE T &

other receivables Hh g IE 864 876

Amounts due from AN PNGIE ]
subsidiaries 1,033 47773
Bank and cash balances IRITRIBREEER 350,076 414,874
351,973 463,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46. AT ZBMFHFIRRR KL HE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE SE e
COMPANY (cont'd)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) FTATZHBIRRAR @

Company (Cont'd)

As at 31 December

BH+=ZB=+—H
2021 2020
2B ZTEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
s AR®Fx ARETFT
Current liabilities mEEaE
Accruals and other payables FEIRE A K&
H iR IE 10,935 10,349
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEfTHIEB A S FNIA 25,972 26,747
Lease liabilities HEaE 661 1,393
37568 38,489
Net current assets MBEERE 314,405 425,034
Total assets less current HMEERTHERE
liabilities 998,068 4,707468
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 681
- 681
NET ASSETS BEFE 998,068 4,706,787
Capital and reserves B R#EE
Share capital [N 44 145,036 144,981
Reserves B 46(b) 853,032 4,561,806
TOTAL EQUITY R ARER 998,068 4,706,787
Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March RZE__F=A_-+NH
2022 and are signed on its behalf by: REEZFHE WHTHES
REE
Mr. Zhu Ning Mr. Yu Tao
KERE BIRRTE
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (conta)

(b) Reserves movement of the Company

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

46.

TATIZ IR AR B
S5

(b)

T AT Z#EEE

Shares
held for Shares Financial
Share Share Share Award asset at
premium  Contributed option Award Scheme FVTOCI  Exchange Warrant - Accumulated

account surplus reserve Scheme reserve reserve reserves reserve loss Total

BATE

AR

B 2ENER

wEstE  RARE  ZHBEE BRiEE
RiVERE  BARER BRERE FEZRE  HIRE #E  ERER HE  RHER E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARETR ARBTn ARETrn ARETn ARBTn ARETr ARETn ARETRn ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RZE-%£-B-H 5,025,838 61,582 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 - 81,264 T (1605439 3,570,099
Total comprehensive income for the year  ER2ERALE - - - - - 10,144 96,875) - (44,995) (131,726)
Issuance of placing shares (note 44(a)) A7 (Hf544(a)) 704,728 - - - - - - - - 704,728
Exercise of warrants IR 338,062 - - - - - - (77 - 337278
Exercise of share option EERE 24,497 - (5.267) - - - - - - 19,230
Release upon lapsed of share option RERELNERR - - (54,975) - - - - - 54,975 -
Equity-settled share-based payments R BROTAE - - 29,400 - 32,797 - - - - 62,197
Fully-vested Award shares transfer HER\BREERRRBRG
10 awardees - - - 61,065 (61,065) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FRERES 1,067277 - (30,842) 61,065 (28,268) 10,144 (96,875) (774) 9,980 991,707
At 31 December 2020 RZEZFF+ZR=+-8 6,093,115 61,582 33492 (75,524) 50,067 10,144 (15,611) - [159%,459) 4561806
At 1 January 2021 RIZZ-5-F-H 6,093,115 61,582 33492 (75,524) 50,067 10,144 (15,611) - [159%459) 4561806
Total comprehensive income for the year - ER2ERAKE - - - - - 40,096) 36,549 - (3762433  (3765980)
Exercise of share option EERE 5,309 - (1233) - - - - - - 4076
Release upon lapsed of share option REREXUERR - - 81) - - - - - 81 -
Equity-settled share-based payments REEEROZHHE - - 13437 - 39,693 - - - - 53,130
Full-vested Award shares transfer HER\EEEUFBRERNA
10 awardees - - - 32,39 (32,396 - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year ENELEE 5309 - 12123 32,39 7297 40,096) 36,549 - (3762362 (3,7087H)
At 31 December 2021 RISZ-F+ZA=1-8 BB G 45615 UBL8 G (9% 2098 - BES)  ERE
311
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_"BA=+—HIEFE
47. RESERVES 47. {#fE
(a) Group (a) =&EE
The amounts of the Group's reserves and NEBHFEBESBLAEEEFHN
movements therein are presented in the GeBEmkEMEEERAR
consolidated statement of profit or loss and URGEEmEERES

other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REEEKRBEHN

(i) Share premium account (i) B17 @ AR
Share premium represents premium arising B aEiERZBAS
from the issue of shares at a price in excess EHEE 2 BREITRRD
of their par value per share and is not FMEAZ "B -Znl
distributable but may be utilised in paying A DIK ERAE T
up unissued shares of the Company to be ENJEINE " EN I N/N=TE -l
issued to the shareholders of the Company ThD > BEBUEABRE
as fully paid bonus shares or in providing ARBEITTERBE
for the premiums payable on repurchase of B EARERRD
shares. B mE B

(i) Contributed surplus (i) BAEER
The contributed surplus of the Group arose KEB ARG
as a result of the Group reorganisation ZEEZFREHERT
implemented in preparation for the Bin EmETZER
listing of the Company's shares in 2000 BMHPTES > IePTULHE
and represented the excess of the then MEBABERZAEE
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries EREBHAATRI
acquired, over the nominal value of the share MZR e EEFEPTE
capital of the Company issued in exchange TRAEBZEZLE-
therefore.
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

47. RESERVES (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAF

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(i11)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 4(u) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess
of the fair value of the Group's share of
net assets over the purchase price and
the premium arising from acquisition. The
amount is retained in the consolidated
statement of financial position until the
disposal of the subsidiaries.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve, which is non-
distributable, is appropriated from the
profit after taxation of the Group's PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with accounting policies set
out in note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

e

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

47.

iR @

(b)

EEEERERN @

(1)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

EREE

BREREBERERS
B B ¥R AR MY 5E 4 (u) T R
RSB RN AT FRIEPR
RN ESTBR R E
R fEsHR T AREE R
B2 RTEREREHER
ZRFEe

BEX#r
BEARBIEAEREG
EEFMEZATERH
BEERBBEEZ &
BZER - TRNEGS
MBERIERFRE BEE
MEBATHERL-

AR
AERBBERB IR
ThEE B A& B PRI
B AR RFEPEERE
PR ARt R Z PRI &
Al o

ERE
ERREHEEREEER
BEINEBVBRERZ
FTBEINEERE - %A
BEGEMBERERN
AP & 5T R AR
o
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

47. RESERVES (Conta)

314

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(vii)

Warrant reserve

Warrant reserve represents the net
proceeds received from the issue of
warrants of the Company. The reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share
premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants.

On 6 July 2015, the Company issued
530,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue
price of HK$0.002 per warrant pursuant to
a subscription agreement. Each warrant
entitles the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at an initial
subscription price of HK$0.72 per share at
any time within 5 years commencing from
the date of issue of the warrants.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
520,000,000 warrants were exercised and
the net proceeds were HK$374,400,000
(approximately RMB342,027.000).

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE
47. #E @
(b) fEEEEREN @
i) ERARIEEE EE

SOREBIEEEITAR
BlE0 IR SR W Z P15
IR ER o BRI
TERREERERE
BRAS e B 10 i BB o

RZZE—HEFELAR
B> X RBRBEZDB W
FRETESHRIR
HEE0.002H 70 > 1T
530,000,00019 3F £
SRR ERE - B E
T RA AER B
RRBREZETHBR
Est A FRERHE
By L REEERKR0.72
BB -RkEkEE
0.01 BT EEAR -

BE_Z_ZTF+_
B=+—BL=EE"
520,000,0000% 57 f% 1
HEEITE OB
18,3 %8 43374,400,000
B (AR
342,0270007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

47. RESERVES (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAF

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(viii)  Shares held by Share Award Scheme and

Shares Award Scheme reserve

The Group has adopted Share Award
Scheme as set out in note 48(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. When
the Company allots shares to the Trustee of
the Share Award Scheme, it would deduct
the same value of allotted shares from the
equity and is presented as “Shares held for
Share Award Scheme”. When the Trustee
of the Share Award Scheme transfers the
Company's shares to the awardees upon
vesting, the value of Awarded Shares are
credited to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme”, with a corresponding adjustment
made to “Share Award Scheme reserve”.

(ix)  Financial assets at FVTOC/ reserve
The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the
fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI held
at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 4(l) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SR —EER

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

47.

iR @

(b)

EEEERERN @

(viif)

(ix)

R172ZB) 51 BIFF 15 /R 17
RR17Z R E 1
rEBCHRMEGH
75 R R MY 5E48(b) P &
Z R EEETEl - B
A B\ R R ST E
AL YN 3 4Vl S
=i B mNFRAE Y
ok EBE L2
75 TR R D SRy 51 845
Bz - ERMDE
LGS IPASEYNIN
R AR B RINEZRET
AR ANE o R0 2
BEES A THER D SR
SEFAZRG)  TH
TRz {0 B2 By 5t 81 5 )
R E -

B FEGAFRAME
B am iR Z BB E
#
BATFESATEEME
BN R B EE R
EEIEN RS AR
BT ESATEME
BERmRZHBEEZ
Rt AT EEFEE
WIZER G IR
A(VPREL 2 & 5T R E
1TRRIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted two share option schemes,
namely, Share Option Scheme 2012 and Share
Option Scheme 2019.

Summary of terms

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. KR IIRRIE

(a) FERRRESHE
AATRGTIBRE R
M- EBRESIR
—E—NERRIE S

Details Share Option Scheme 2012 Share Option Scheme 2019
B3 —_ZT—_FEREE —_T—hFERIESE
1. Purposes To provide incentives and rewards To enable to grant options to the eligible
B8 to eligible participants who participants as incentives or rewards for
contribute to the success of the their contributions to the Group.
Group's operations. EANTIOEERZEERLBIRE (F
MHEREREBRINERNEE AREFAREBEFFER ZEZRISER -
Rz 8 B%2EERHRE AR
2. Eligible Eligible participants include full- Eligible participants include (i) any
participants  time and part-time employees, employee or proposed employee,
BB executives, officers, directors, manager or officer (whether full or part
Z2HE business consultants, agents, time) of the Company or any of its

316

legal and financial advisors of the
Company and the Company's
subsidiaries.
BERZEZBEARERATREA
BB ABl 2 2B R RBES
THRAB -SHRBE-EE %7
sasAEER ~ IR AR R B SRR
5 o

subsidiaries; (ii) any director (including
executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any advisors,
consultants, contractors, distributors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, joint venture, promoters and
service providers of any member of the
Group.
SERSHEARENA QTS EHEAIMNE
REZEHAEENETEE KIEH SR
AB (R BaERE) (AR FHEE
A EB AR 2 AR ES (BIFHITHIEH
TRAHEIUES) ;(iRERERKEE
NE)ZAEEIRER N B A N KB ~ D E
mHESRE - B EBEBY 58
2 e A R ARFS MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Summary of terms (Cont’d)

Details

B8

Share Option Scheme 2012
—_T—_FERIEHE

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE
48. BRIPEZTIAE @

(a) FERRIESE @
X ZE (B

Share Option Scheme 2019
—_T—hFERIESE

3. Maximum
number of
shares
=3Yodh

28

e

The Company may grant
options to the participants to
subscribe for ordinary share of
HK$0.01 each, subject to, when
aggregated under this scheme
and any other share option
schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from
time to time.

RAB R M2 EERTBRE
MR BEeSREE. BTz BB
% EZE B BRI EREBAS
B AR B H SRS 2
OB R ARG %R TNEEE
NEF BTN ARRB0% °

The maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised
under the scheme and any other inventive
or option scheme(s) of the Company must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time
to time. No options may be granted under
this scheme if any grant of option will
result in such 30% limit being exceeded.
IR B A 51 8 K A BME ] L A2 B sK
ERES S EREMBEFITR A
RATEERERAE 1T LT P] SEAC 38 R 31T
ZERABRERHBESHNEBELR
RE)VNF BTN 230% o HEAE T
FE B 1 I S BB B 5% 30% I PR EE » B NS
RIBAR BRI B

The total number of shares which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under this
scheme and any other incentive or option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date of approval of this
scheme.

RIRBE A 5T 8 e A~ BRI H A BB 5
ERES N TRE ZMEBRIEETT
fEMel o BT RN ER > &
AEBBHERFEZHEE TR Z
10% e
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Summary of terms (Cont’d)

Details

B8

Share Option Scheme 2012
—_T—_FERIEHE

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. RRAASZ(IRRIE (@)
(a) FEARMESHE @)
HABEE (8

Share Option Scheme 2019
—_T—hFERIESE

4. Maximum
entitlement
of each
participant
FH2HEE
CE=X =
=31 (=]

5. Option
period

FE AR HARR

318

The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to
each eligible participant within
any 12-month period, is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further
grant of shares options in

excess of this limit is subject

to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.
FER+ZEB BN mE
SENRSEHERLBRE R
AEITRMESEE > UEARF
FPERSEEETRN Z1%4
fRoE—T IR LBEILIREE Z #E
REHEBN IR KSR -

The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable
by the directors, and commences
after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later
than five years from the date of
the offer of the share options.
PRt HEERE Z TR ESR
EoRETHEBERERG BEEE
EEHEREZ BEStAFERNT

+
4o

The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible
participant within any 12-month period,
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of shares
options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.
PER+ZERHIREN ML aEKS
MERUEBERES R IETRO&RS
B MEBENEANEEETRN 2
1% E—T R LBAEIIRE  BRER
RIREAGERERLE

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors,
and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not
later than ten years from the Offer Date of
the share options.

PR HBREZ THEHHESRAE  RNE
TRBHREMRAG BEEEREEZZEEA
HARE ST+ A TeAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Summary of terms (Cont’d)

Details

B8

Share Option Scheme 2012
—_T—_FERIEHE

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE
48. FRIPEZATIAE @
(a) FERRIESE @

Share Option Scheme 2019
—_T—hFERIESE

6. Exercise
price

TEE

7. Remaining
life of the
scheme
el
TR EHA

e

The exercise price of the share
options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the
Company's shares on the date
of the offer of the share options;
(ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date
of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer.
FERETEERERRTE A5
BRTIEERSE (K ABRK
MR EEREERE BB
PRz BB (VR AB RN N E
EEZFEHBHAAESEEET
B3P 2 IR E 5 K(i) AR
RN EZRLBHAZEE

The scheme became effective

on 3 May 2012 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 5 years
from that date.

FEER _E——_FRB=H%E
0 BRIESITEUESEST BRI
ZHESFRER

The exercise price of the share options

is determinable by the board of directors
and must be at least higher of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date, which must be

a Business Day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company's
share. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on the grant of a share option.
ERETEERESS AT B4BERT
HEEREE (A ABRMIEZRED
HHR CEREXER) THXPIE HRERRR
Nz WHE (R AB RO N EEEER
HEHBRAESEHTEHIMEHRE
RFH) 2 FHWHE ; Kl AB KN Z
HE - NELEREN AT MEERE
AT 0

The scheme became effective on 12 June
2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

FEIERN ZE—NFATZHER bR
JEBTECHSER] ) BRIBZ HIESH104E
APEEE
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

320

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted
to a connected person, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’'s shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

HE_Z—

48.

—&+=A=+—HiEE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

Rl st @
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5t EIERA)
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BAIEREBRE BFX
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e Sk AR+ — 18 B A
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Rifel 81T 10 20.1% ° 8¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAF

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)
(Cont'd)

Other disclosure

The fair value of share options granted is
recognised in profit or loss taking into account
the probability that the options will vest over the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of the options
the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded in the share premium account. At
the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve is
transferred to retained profits. Lapsed options,
prior to their exercise date, are deleted from the
outstanding options. All equity-settled share-based
compensation expense is settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

e

B=

48.

I+ _"A=1+—HIEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)
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FHEIERA) (&

=R lubid
FrRbiEREZ A FERS
KBRS ER BN R B
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

322

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)
(Cont'd)

Other disclosure (Cont’d)

The grantees may exercise the options in whole
or in part by giving exercise notice to the grantor
at any time during the option period provided that
the grantees shall exercise the options to acquire
the option shares in accordance with the following
vesting schedule:

Vesting schedule for Share Option Scheme 2012

One year after the grant date 30%
Two years after the grant date 30%
Three years after the grant date 40%

Vesting schedule for Share Option Scheme 2019

At 1 July 2020 25%
At 1 July 2021 25%
At 1 July 2022 25%
At 1 July 2023 25%

HE_Z—

48.

—F+_A=1+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

Rl st @

BlEs (B F—_FER
BB —F—FBRE
FHEIERA) (&

HAhiKEE (8)

AR AR R BREREANT
IR > BB AR H A S
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A1 7 AR AN BRI LT ER
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—_E-_FEREEERE
BFER

BREBMES—F%  30%
BREBHESMESE  30%
BEROAHES=F%  40%

—E-hEFRRESIRER
By &=

N _E_EFLH—H 25%
R_E2-—FtB—H 25%
AT F+H—H 25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

. , ae s -
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI B BENT
following:
At 31 December 2021 — Share Option Scheme /7"_ EZ—F+Z/H=+—
2019 ZE—NFREREE
Number of share options
BREHR
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RZB--F
_ _ RZIBZ-F EW@J?H{ _ + B
RitA%H It %R —B-H FRRH k% ERITHE =+-A
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E-hERRERE
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
KAFEE-RERYE
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZE-NETETIEE “ETZELA-HEZE_MEABZTH 1.00%7T
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ET-EtA-AEZCMENASTHE 1008
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
RTCEEA-HEIEIMEREZTH  1008T
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
RTCEEE-HEIEIMEREZTHE 1008w
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of the Company
FAFEMESR
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
“2-nE+BTMA 2ZEEA-HEZECMERRSTHE 090#T
1 July 2021 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
ZT-EtA-BEZECMERA=THE  090#T
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
RCCEEE-HEIEIMEREZTH  090ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
CECCECA-HECSIMERAZTHE 090ET
50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
FEAEARAT — T —£4F 323



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Cont'd)

At 31 December 2021 — Share Option Scheme

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FERRIESTE @@
BEMERZBREFFEOT

(&)

KB+ =F=A4—

2019 (Cont’d) HZE— 1 FER#E:1E (B)
Number of sdl_rare options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RZB--F
) . RI8=-% FnEE/ ) +2A
RitAH It IR —-B-H FREL k% ERITHE =+-A
Share Option Scj]eme 2019
ZE-hERRENE
Senior management of the Group
FEESRERE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000
“2-hE+A-H RTZEEA-HEIEIMEREZTH  0T5ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
RT-5tA-HEZEIMEREZTH  07T5ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
TR CEtA-HEISIMERAZHH 07587
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
TZTCELR-AECZOMERAZTR 0758
37502,000 - - - 37502,000
Employess of the Group
rEEES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 21,152,000 - - (6,600,000) 14,552,000
“2-nE+A-H ZRTZEEA-HEIEIMEREZTHE  0T5ER
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (250,000) - 30,250,000
ZEC-FtA-HEIZRIMEBZ1H 07587
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (1,250,000) - 29,250,000
TZTTEtA-AE-ZOMERAZR 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (1,250,000) - 29,250,000
“ECCEtA-BEZE-MERBAZTH 07587
112,652,000 - (2,750,000)  (6,600,000) 103,302,000
Total share options for Share
Option Scheme 2019 300,154,000 - (2,750,000)  (6,600,000) 290,804,000
ZETnERREHEZ
EREay

For Share Option Scheme 2019, if the options
remain unexercised up to 30 June 2024, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

Rl st @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
(#)

RoFEZFFF =1~

2012 H——E——FER#EHZ
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during  lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIB_Z%
RIZZ2E FRIE/ +ZA
REBH (g 78 —-B—H FRE ESVL ERTTHE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2012
"B EEREE
rs and Chief Executives
=4po | 8
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - {20,100,000) N -
“Z-RERAT-H ZE-AFZA-BEZZIZESEHH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - (20,100,000) N -
ZE-tFZA-HEZZRIZESETH 12587
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 26,800,000 - (26,800,000 N -
Z2-\FZR-HEZZZZE/EHH 12587
67000,000 - (67000,000) N -
Other employees
EfhES
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 10,710,000 - (10,710,000) N -
Z-RERAT-H ZE-AFZA-BEZZIZESEHH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 10,710,000 - (10,710,000) N -
ZE-tFA-HBEZZRIZESETH 12587
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 14,280,000 - (14,280,000 N -
Z2-\FZR-BEZZZZE/EHH 12587
35,700,000 - (35,700,000 N -
Total share options for Share
Option Scheme 2012 102,700,000 - (102,700,000) N N
- EREREHEZ
REREEY
FEEMARAEN T SFH 325



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ T _—F+_A=+—HIEFE
’ Fo .
48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont'a) 48. MRINZITTRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FHERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as YRR BRSBTS
following: (Cont d) (#)
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme HRIE_FF+_/F=+4—
2019 H——ZF— N FERIEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during  lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIBZBE
RZBZEE ERzm/ +ZA
RHBH g 78 —-A—-A EREE ESVL ERTTHE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
“B-hERREE
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
ANFEE-KERSE
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZZ-NEFTETEE CETRFELA-HEIZRIMERESTH 10087
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
T2 -FtA-HEIZIMEREZTH 10087
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
T2 TECA-HEIZRIMEREZTH 10087
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
CECCELA-HEIZRIMEREZTH 10087
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of the Company
FAFEMES
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - (10,000,000) 5,000,000
“Z-NEFTETEE TETRECA-HAEIRIMESESTE 090ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
TET-FLA-HEIZRIMESEZHE 00T
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
TETTECA-HEIRIMESESTE 090ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
TETCECA-HEIRIMESRESHE 00T
60,000,000 - - (10,000,000 50,000,000
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ZT G+ _A=+—HILEFE

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAF

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme
2019 (Cont’d)

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

Rl st @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
(#)

RZFEZFFF A=+~
H—-—F—FRRE: )

(&)

Number of share options

BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIZZEE
) RIZZRE . EREE/ +Z8
BHBH 765 7@ —A—H EREE ES ENTE =t+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
“Z-NEREREHD
Senior management of the Group
rEESRERE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - (7498,000) 3,752,000
“Z-hETR-H ZEIZELA-AEIZIMEREZTHE 075ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
ZEC-FLA-HEISIMERAZHHE 0758
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
TECCRELA-HECSIMERAZHHE 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
TECCRELA-HECISIMERASHHE 0758
45,000,000 - - (7498,000) 37502,000
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

. , AES =
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as HEMER BREREBNT
following: (Cont’d) (#)
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme KIEZEFf —/H=+—
2019 (Cont'd) H——ZF— N FERIEZ)
()
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIZZEE
) RIZZRE . ER3IE/ +Z8
BHBH 765 7@ —-A—-fA EREE ES ENTE =t+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
“Z-NEREREHD
Employess of the Group
rEEES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (250,0000  (10,098,000) 21,152,000
“Z-nEFTR-H ZEIZELA-AEIZIMEREZTHE 075ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TEC-FtA-HEISIMERAZHHE  075ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TECCEEA-HEISIMERAZHHE 075ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TECCEEA-HEISIMERAZHHE 075ET
126,000,000 - (32600000  (10,098,000) 112,662,000
Total share options for Share
Option Scheme 2019 331,000,000 - (3,250,000  (27596,0000 300,154,000
Z-NEERENE
ERELy
Total share options for both
schemes 433,700,000 - (105,950,0000  (27596,000) 300,154,000

mipsr 8 BREEH
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Cont’d)

HE_ZT_—

—F+ZB=1+—HLFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a)

Rl st @

BERRZBREFBENT

(#)

2021

TEZ—F

Share Option Scheme 2019
ZE-hFEREE

Weighted
Number of average
share exercise
options price
INHEFES
BRREHE T1EE
HK$
BT
Outstanding at the beginning FHERITEE

of the year 300,154,000 0.86
Exercised during the year FRTE (6,600,000) 0.75
Lapsed during the year FREN (2,750,000) 0.75
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ FER B RITE 290,804,000 0.86

Exercisable at the end for the year ~ FE XA F1T1E 129,804,000
329
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

330

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)
Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Cont’d)

Details of the share options outstanding during the

year are as follows:

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a)

Rl st @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
(#)

FARBERTERREFEN
T

2020
ZZ°%F
Share Option Share Option

Scheme 2012 Scheme 2019 Total
- EEREE “E-hERRERE st

Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average Number of
share exercise share exercise share
options price options price options

MiETH TS
BREYR TRE  BREHE TEE  BREHE

HKS HK$

AT AT
QOutstanding at the beginning of the year ~ E#iH K174 102,700,000 125 331,000,000 085 433,700,000
Granted during the year FREH - NA R B - N/A FEH -
Exercised during the year ERITE - N/A R (27596,000) 0.80 (27596,000)
Lapsed during the year FREN (102,700,000) 125 (3,250,000) 075 (105,950,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year ERHRTE - NAKRER 300,154,000 0.86 300,154,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FRAFITE - 54,904,000 54,904,000

The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share option exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2020 for share option scheme
2019 is HK$3.42 (2020: HK$1.27).

gz_z_ZE+_A4
—t+—HIEFE ZZE—NF
RN ETEERRE
ETEHBZ MEFEHRD
BRA342BT (CE_TE:!
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Cont’d)

During the year, 6,600,000 share option have been
exercised (2020: 27,596,000 share option). The
options outstanding at the end of the year have
a weighted average remaining contractual life of
share option scheme 2019 is 2.5 years (2020: 3.5
years for share option scheme 2019). The exercise
prices range from HK$0.75 to HK$1.00 for share
option scheme 2019.

e

B=

48.

I+ _"A=1+—HIEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

Rl st @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
6=

F£/6,660,0001) A%
DETE(ZCE T &F .
27,596,00017 FE R HE) - —F
— W EEREFERNERM
RITEBREZNEFITF
BANERA2E (CEZE
F .- NFHERESES
3.66F) c ZE—NFEREIHES
BT EEEHEA0.75ETE
1.008 7T o
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ T _—F+_A=+—HIEFE
48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 48. RPZ(IFIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI  BREFBEOT
following: (Cont'd) 6=
The fair value of Share Option Scheme 2019 was “E-hEFERESEZA
calculated using Binomial Option Pricing Model. TEMERAZEARAEES
The inputs into the model are as follows: IRBVETE o Z IR A 2 3 A 3R
mr
Share Option
Scheme 2019
Grant date REBH —ZT—-NEF
FERGRE ST 2
Share price of the Company on grant date ~ ARABREH HEFZ RE HK$0.48
— HK$0.50
0.48%7T
Z0.508 7T
Exercise price T16E HK$0.75
— HK$1.00
0.75%87T
Z1.0087T
Expected volatility TR 18 71.91%
- 71.97%
71.91%%E71.97%
Expected life TEHAE AR 4.7 years
4.7
Risk-free rate mRE A= 1.348% to
1.452%
1.348% & 1.452%
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company’s share
price over the previous 5 years.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

PEAEARAF

Share Award Scheme

On 31 May 2018 (“Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the Share Award Scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) aimed to recognise the
contributions by Eligible Persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for
continuing operation and development of the
Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date unless early terminated by the Board.

The Board can make award of Shares of the
Company to Selected Participants, but must not
make any further award of unvested Shares which
would result in the number of Shares awarded
by the Board under the Share Award Scheme
representing 10% or more of the issued Shares
from time to time without Shareholders” approval.
The maximum number of Shares which may
be subject to an award or awards to a selected
participant in any 12-month period shall not in
aggregate exceed 1% of the issued Shares.

No award shall be made by the Board and no
instructions to acquire Shares shall be given by
the Board to the Trustee under the Share Award
Scheme where any director is in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Group or where dealings by directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the
GEM Listing Rules and all applicable laws from
time to time.
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

334

(b)

Share Award Scheme (Cont'a)

Subject to the relevant Share Award Scheme
Rules, (1) the Company can issue and allot
Shares to the Trustee from time to time under
general mandates granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at general meetings of the Company
from time to time (unless such issue and allotment
of Shares has otherwise been approved by the
Shareholders) for future awards; or (2) in case
where the Board have selected certain Eligible
Person to be Selected Participant(s), the Company
shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after the
grant date, for the purposes of satisfying the grant
of awards, issue and allot Shares to the Trustee
under general mandates granted or to be granted
by the Shareholders at general meetings of the
Company from time to time (unless such issue and
allotment of Shares has otherwise been approved
by the Shareholders) and/or transfer to the Trust
the necessary funds and instruct the Trustee to
either (i) subscribe Shares to be issued by the
Company or (ii) acquire Shares through on-market
transactions at the prevailing market price. The
Trustee must hold the Shares until they are vested
in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules. When the Selected Participant has satisfied
all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the
time of making the award and become entitled to
the Shares forming the subject of the award, the
Trustee will transfer the relevant vested Shares to
the Selected Participant.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Conta)

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and
powers in respect of any Shares held under the
Trust (including, but not limited to, the Awarded
Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares

and scrip Shares).

First Awards

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a total
of 551,522,400 Awarded Shares (“First Awards”)
were granted and out of which, none was granted
to the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the First Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements were received. The fair value of
awarded shares granted was HK$0.62 per Awarded

Share.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_ T _—F+_A=+—HIEFE
48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 48. RPZ(IFIE @
(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd) (b) BADIZRIETE @

Second Awards B

On 19 November 2018, the Board announced the RZE2E-—NFE+—B+nh
granting of another lot of 314,376,000 Awarded H - EZ2E5mMRE5 it
Shares and subsequently reduced to 304,247200 314,376,000z BN IR 17 » &
Awarded Shares (“Second Awards”) on 24 BR_ZE—NF—AZ+M@
January 2019, none was granted to the directors Hm /> E304,247, 2008 42 B
of the Company. The Company received all Bfn (T8 Zx42Eh)) » HApr
approvals and allotted Second Awards to Trustee BERTARBER - AREE
on 1 February 2019, but the grantees acceptance BEMEHE TR _ZT—H
were not received until 15 March 2019. Also on FTA—HEAEABEALES
15 March 2019, the Board adjusted the number “RERRMD O EEIZE
of Awards Shares previously announced and —NF=ZA+HHEHAEERE
granted additional 23,064,800 Awarded Shares to AR SN M ZE—NF
58 grantees using lapsed shares of First Awards —B+haB EEgRAELA
and Second Awards held by Trustee in the Trust EHE 2 RER DT UR
Fund. The fair value of the Second Awards granted SEATEEREESHFEZE
was calculated based on the market price of REBKREZRER 2R
the Company's Share at the measurement date BS 15 m58%4 & 5 A 5 H EE4h
that all relevant approvals in connection with the 23,064,800 22 B A& 15 © PRI
GEM Listing Rules requirements and acceptance HEZRRBzRATFETHIR
from the Eligible participants were received. The BARBRMRSTEEHRZ
fair value of Second Awards shares granted was MEFE LEIZEBRGEM
HK$0.52 per Awarded Share. EHRARTE 2 A ER T

EREERSEBZN FIE
HE_RERMRMHZAFE
AHEREERH0.528 T e

On 5 May 2019, the Board passed a resolution R E-NFRARH EF
to modify the vesting schedule of 80 grantees BiBBE—IHRE  BK80%
of Second Awards, which resulted in immediate FEZARBARAZEER
and full vesting of 154,897600 Awarded Shares. REER > B 27154,8976000% 4 Eh
Other than that there was no other modification RDBR 2 EERE - PRIt 2
of vesting conditions that will results in the Sh > B E A g B 1R ER B
acceleration of vesting. Z BB IR IER
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Conta)

Third Awards

On 21 August 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 7,814,400 Awarded Shares (“Third
Awards”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by Trustee in
the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Third Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair value of Third
Awards granted was HK$0.51 per Awarded Share.

Third Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 3 tranches. The first tranche
representing 50% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 2 years
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of first day of employment. The second and third
tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and
would be vested after completing the third year
and fourth year of continuous service to the Group,
respectively.
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fourth Awards

On 1 July 2020, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 45,120,000 Awarded Shares (“Fourth
Awards”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by the Trustee
in the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Fourth Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fourth
Awards granted was HK$1.37 per Awarded Share.

Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second, third and fourth tranches
each represent 25% of the awards, and would be
vested in the second, third and fourth anniversary

from the date of grant, respectively.

338

HE_Z—

48.

—&+=A=+—HiEE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(b)

AR S2@hEtEl (@

B ZE
RN_E_EF+HA—H EF
FEB-EREZE U
ANEGEHEEERFEZERX
BB R 2 KRR
742 H45,120,000/% 22 B IS 19
(T YR 42E)) » HAp i
BFERRBES -FIIREEN
TR AFEDREBEAR
BARMREEEHzmES
B> I EEERMGEM MR
AIRERET2HAZER
Z T AERHLE - FriR tH 58 Y
TR AFEAESRER
F&1R1.378 7T 0

RYET2HAZENRE
BhnAaftt o H— (L IEE 2
25%  BREE2HEER
HEPERAEETER A
—FHEERBEEREBF
B REOMBGEEE
25% R BEH AR
BB RFENEEBEFHE
B o

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Conta)

Fifth Awards

On 30 December 2021, the Board passed a
resolution to grant 36,200,000 Awarded Shares
("Fifth Awards"”) by using the lapsed shares held
by the Trustee in the Trust Fund, of which none was
granted to the directors of the Company. The fair
value of the Fifth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s share
at the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fifth
Awards granted was HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

Fifth Awards granted to the selected participant

was fully vested on 31 December 2021.
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(b)

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 48. BRIPZITRIE @
Share Award Scheme (Conta) (b) BRIPIZENETE @
Fifth Awards (Cont'd) FEHIEZE (B)
Movements in the number of Awarded Shares held SEREAMEZHEIRMDEE
by the Trustee are as follows: BEIUNT .
Number of Number of
Awarded Awarded
Shares Shares
REIRMEBE HEIRMHEE
2021 2020
—E-—F _—E_ZF
At the beginning of the year ] 164,083,800 282,990,600
Vested and transferred B 5B s (52,212,200) (118,906,800)
Lapsed BR3 (6,134,700)  (22,486,400)
Returned Shares BEEERGD 6,134,700 22,486,400
At end of the year REXR 111,871,600 164,083,800
Vested but not transferred as at RERERBEFREE
the end of the year 48,144,000 3,641,000
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(c)

(d)

PEAEARAH

Youzan Technology — Stock Incentive
Plan 2019

Youzan Technology has a Stock Incentive Plan
and Qima Teamwork Inc. is the special vehicle
that holds the shares of Youzan Technology
for the purpose of attracting, retaining and
providing additional incentives to employee's
and consultants of Youzan Technology. As at 31
December 2021 and 2020, Qima Teamwork Inc.
held 106,428,391 and 106,428,391 shares of
Youzan Technology, respectively.

Under the arrangements and rules of the Stock
Incentive Plan 2019, upon the grant and vesting
of the share awards with relevant grantees, Qima
Teamwork Inc. shall issue its own shares to the
relevant grantees in accordance with the rules of
the Stock Incentive Plan 2019. Since the adoption
of Stock Incentive Plan 2019, no grant of share
awards has been made by the Company and
Youzan Technology thereunder.

Youzan Technology — Share Award
Scheme A

During the year, Youzan Technology has proposed
to amend and substitute Youzan Technology — Stock
Incentive Plan 2019 by Youzan Technology — Share
Award Scheme A.
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48. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(d) YouzanTechnology - Share Award

Scheme A (Cont'd)

On 6 May 2021, all effective conditions of Share
Award Scheme A have been satisfied, and
accordingly, the amendment and substitution of
the Stock Incentive Plan 2019 by the Share Award
Scheme A has become effective. Qima Teamwork
Inc. shall transfer all 106,428,391 shares of Youzan
Technology hold by it to a trustee (“Trustee
A"), who shall hold such shares on trust for the
proposed grantees under Share Award Scheme A.

As at 31 December 2021, shares of Youzan
Technology held by Qima Teamwork Inc. are not yet
transferred to Trustee A and share awards has been
granted under the Share Award Scheme A.

49. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 1 January 2020, QMI further acquired 42.63%
equity interest in Youzan Japan, a company
incorporated in Japan with cash consideration
of JPY97000,000 (approximate RMB6,215,000).
Upon completion, the Group owned Youzan Japan
52.63% equity interest and obtained the control of
Youzan Japan. Youzan Japan is principally engaged
in providing operation services for merchants
and integrated new retail solutions for beauty
industries in Japan. The acquisition is for the
purpose of diversifying the Group's revenue base

overseas.
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(a)

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

49. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 49. ZBREREHRKRMTE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contd)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont'a) (a) WEE—MHERBAR @
The fair value of the identifiable assets and RER HEFTUWEYouzan
liabilities of Youzan Japan acquired as at the date of JapanAl H A BEREBEZ R
completion, is as follows: FEDOT
RMB'000
AE®BFT
Net assets acquired: FrNiR B ERE :
Trade receivables & IS BR =X 127
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FETRIE & &
Hth U R IE 1,314
Amount due from a shareholder FEW —44 B R TRIE 4,886
Bank and cash balances RIT AR 10,328
Trade payables FETERFR (1,822)
Accruals and other payables FEIRE B R EMERIE (934)
Borrowings EEX (2,136)
Current tax liabilities BPHAIRIE &R (586)
1,177
Non-controlling interests FEER R (5,295)
Goodwill (note 21) e (f15E21) 1,029
6,911
Satisfied by: UTFFAERE
Carrying amount of pre-existing interest BEEMEZEREE
(note 7(b)) (MI5E7(b)) 696
Cash consideration previously paid as deposit fcalEAZES O ZIRENE 6,215
6,911
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHBEEZIRETRAFLE .
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FTNEIRE RIRSEEY 10,328
343
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49. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

344

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont'd)

The fair value of trade receivables, prepayment,
deposits and other receivables and amount due
from a shareholder acquired is approximately
RMB127000, RMB1,314,000 and RMB4,886,000
respectively. All of the contractual cash flows are
expected to be collected in full.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Youzan
Japan is attributable to the expected synergies of
the combination.

Youzan Japan contributed approximately
RMB97000 to the Group's revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2020. Youzan Japan incurred
approximately RMB4,227000 to the Group's loss
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Further acquisition of a subsidiary
without change of control

On 16 April 2021, QMI and the non-controlling
interest shareholder of Youzan Japan entered into
second capital injection agreement with Youzan
Japan in relation to subscription of enlarged share
capital of Youzan Japan by considerations of
RMB7895,000 and RMB1,389,000 respectively.
Upon completion, QMI's equity interest in Yauzan
Japan increased from 52.63% to 66.65%.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

49. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

PEAEARAH

Acquisition of equity interest in a
subsidiary without change of control

- 26,606,296 of Youzan Technology’s
shares

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company has contracted to acquire additional
26,606,296 Youzan Technology's new shares
with cash consideration of US$ 45 million
(approximately RMB 306,728,000). Upon
completion on 27 May 2020, the Company's equity
interest in Youzan Group was increased from
50.47% to 50.76%.

Acquisition of equity interest in a
subsidiary without change of control

— 35 million of Youzan Technology s
shares

On 16 September 2020, the Company entered
into Share Subscription Agreement with Youzan
Technology, in relation to the subscription of 35
million Youzan Technology’s new shares, with cash
consideration of US$160 million (approximately
RMB1,085,138,000). Upon completion on 16
September 2020, the Company’s equity interest
in Youzan Group was increased from 50.76% to
51.9%.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 49. FEBREREBMKRME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont'a)
(e) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (e) BMEBEIEBELEZEERIK
financing activities (Cont'd) F=))
Early
termination
Interest of leases
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent Exchange 31 December
2021 flows of leases (note 11} concession difference 2021
RERL I5I-%
ZEC-F HER 8k +ZR
-B-R e &R (HzEn) figEh ERER =t+-A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ABBTR AREFn ARETR ARETR ABETR ARETR
Lease liabiities (note 41) ) 22,261 (43,059) 52,434 2,642 (586) (o) 21365
Early
termination
Interest of leases  Acquisition
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent of Exchange 31 December
2020 flows of leases [note 11} concession  subsidiaries difference 2020
RERL 51T
“ZI%E HEER &R e 28
-A-B  ReRg  HEMR () #eE%  WELT  EREE =+-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  A\RETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR
Otherloan HHER 1337 (204489) - 8361 - (5.213) - -
Borrowing [EEN - (2,136) - - - 2,136 - -
Lease liabites (note 41) BESE (1) 21,625 (73910) 87204 19525 6,039) - (144 242261
416,962 (280,631) 87204 27886 (6,039) (3.077) (144) 242,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 BE_Z_—F+_-_B=+—HILFE
49. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 49. ZEBREREHMERME @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conta)

(f) Total cash outflow for leases ( FHERERHLELE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements GERERBRPAEZE
of cash flows for leases comprise the following: BE®HROENATEIE:

2021 2020
-5 ZE-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Within operating cash flows REREMREN 35,355 29,456
Within investing cash flows KEREMREN - -
Within financing cash flows MEREMREN 20,417 54,385
Exchange difference bE 7 = RB 40 144
55,812 83,985

These amounts relate to the following: ZESHEETIRIEERM !
2021 2020
g ZTIEF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

Lease rental paid ENEEEE 55,812 83,985
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

348

(a)

The Group provided transaction services to
facilitate the transactions process between
merchants and consumers. In connection with
provision of such service, Hangzhou Youzan
entered into a payment service agreement with
Beijing Gaohuitong (a subsidiary of the Group),
pursuant to which Beijing Gaohuitong, a licensed
payment company, provided settlement service to
the Group's merchants.

After consulting the Group's legal counsel,
transaction service in the past provided by
Hangzhou Youzan (“Past Transaction Service”)
might be deemed as having engaged in payment
activities without licence by the relevant authority
in China under Administrative Measures for the
Payment Services Provided by Non-Financial
Institutions ((GFEREBEZTRBEERE))
and may give rise to the risk of being required to
terminate such practice according to the relevant
PRC regulations. Furthermore, according to
Measures for Banning lllegal Financial Institutions
and lllegal Financial Business Activities ((3E;% &R
WRENIEZEMERTHEGEIDE)) that remain
in force during the year ended 31 December 2020,
confiscation of illegal gains and administrative
fine in the range of one time to five times of any
illegal gains from such operation (in case of no
illegal gains, administrative fine of RMB100,000 to
RMB500,000) could be imposed by the relevant
regulatory authorities.

HE_Z—

—&+=A=+—HiEE

50. TABE

(a)

AEBERMRZWRF > LUE
EBREBEEZBNRS
AR o LR RFB M S °
WEEHIERSESR (A&H
Z M BB 573 AR 1
&I RS ES (—EF
X AAR) AEEBHKRE
HEERT -

B ER A RERRE
MNEERBEREZRS
R (HMBERZRF) A8
WHEIA B ERPIR R CF R
WIBSZ I IRBEEIE) RS
RACFFRIMEE AT ERS P B
TEIRERBEAERE R
BEREQIEILBERTZ B -
SN RERBE_T T F
+ZRA=+—HLEEEENZ
GEE BN IE LS/
EBAPEGEIE) AR
EEBPI R R WIEEFR 1S K B
UBEREBEMAIFEAMEH
—EELENTERIAR CRE
JEEFTSRY AT UAR
100,0007% E A K #500,0007T
BYITEREIRR) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (cont )

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAF

(Cont’d)

Hangzhou Youzan had not been determined by
the relevant regulatory authorities as engaging in
payment activities without licence. In February
2021, Hangzhou Youzan has ceased providing
transaction service. After consulting the Group's
legal counsel, the Directors are of the view that,
based on that Hangzhou Youzan ceased providing
transaction service, (i) the likelihood that current
business operations of Hangzhou Youzan would
be penalised for having engaged in unlicensed
payment activities is low, and (i) the likelihood
that Hangzhou Youzan would be retrospectively
penalised for having engaged in unlicensed
payment activities is low. As a result, the Directors
are of the opinion that material financial impact to
the Group because of the Past Transaction Service
is not probable.

In November 2020, Hangzhou Youzan and its
merchant had a legal dispute with third parties for
copyright infringements. The third parties sued for
infringement of their products and claimed the
merchant and Hangzhou Youzan for damages of
RMB1,233,000. Management and the Group's
legal department assessed the likelihood of the
claim as low and the maximum compensation, if
any, could be RMB1,233,000. The Directors are of
the opinion that it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle
the case, and therefore disclosed as contingent
liabilities.

e

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

50. SABE®

(a)

(b)

#)
MINBEEREERHEES
FEEARKHIREZN
EH RN _E_—F_F M
NEBERFILRERZIRE
RBAARER 2 A EEME
ERMNEERFLEHRKS
R > EERA (IMINEE
R EBKERNLEREH
A EBMTES Z A6
Mo KM B BERRERL
5T Al 2 A ZEF =38 M B 51
Z A REMRE AL EE
A BERZRBAGHAE
BiERERTHETE-

RIZEZEF+—H NE
BREBRMEFREESRA
B RBRERBUMD - ZFE=
FEFEEEER TAEX
RMINEERBEZEEA
K #1,233,000 0 - EEE K
REBEBBPATHREZ
AIEEMRE REEE WA)
BJEEA AR #1,233,0007T °
EERATHILERKATRE
BEER R R HIbRE
AYREE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (cont )

350

(c)

(d)

In January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan and a merchant
had a legal dispute with third parties for the portrait
rights. The third parties sued for portrait rights
and claimed the merchant and Hangzhou Youzan
for damages of RMB1,000,000. Management
and the Group's legal department assessed the
likelihood of the claim as low and the maximum
compensation, if any, could be RMB1,000,000. The
Directors are of the opinion that it is not probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the case, and therefore disclosed
as contingent liabilities.

In September 2021, Hangzhou Youzan and
its merchants had a legal dispute with third
party for patent infringements. The third party
sued for patent infringements and claimed the
merchants and Hangzhou Youzan for damages of
RMB1,000,000. Management and the Group's
legal department assessed the likelihood of the
claim as low and the maximum compensation, if
any, could be RMB1,000,000. The Directors are of
the opinion that it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle
the case, and therefore disclosed as contingent
liabilities.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

50. SABE®

(c)

(d)

NZEZ—F—F mNEHE
FR—2ERpEGRERAE =
FREXRUD -F=AH
BRIERLFRER > WEE KK
MNEBRBBEBEARE
1,000,0007c - BB R AE
B AP TR 2 A A
HRE REEE WA) A5
# NE 1,000,000 %
RATHEILEERKAIEES
B om0 EIE R AT
Z=LEE

RIZEZ—FhAB MMNEHE
REBRMEFFHEEASE =
FEEEREUM - ZE=FI
FEFEE W EERRN
MNEEREBEEEEARE
1,000,000 cc BB R AE
B AP RB 2 A A
HRE REEE A) A5
A ANER#1,000,000c &%
RATHEILEERAATEER
BBEM M AL ERNK
Z=REE

frREXFIRBEEN R _—F
+TTR=t—H xEETEAME
KRG E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

51.

52.

PEAEARAH

COMMITMENTS

Commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting
period but not yet incurred are as follows:

B=

51.

I+ _"A=1+—HIEFE

R
RRERETNEBEREEZE
RAEEWMT :

2021 2020

—BC -5 ZTEHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR+ AR®ETT

Equity investment in a company R—E AR Z REKRE 6,787 6,787

Property, plant and equipment e =Yk 1,061 3,278

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 52. KEHEZHE

The Group as lessee TEBEREBA

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2021 and
2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed in note 20.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had not entered
into any new lease which are not yet commenced. At 31
December 2020, the Group entered into a lease for an
office that are not yet commenced, with non-cancellable
period of 3 years with an extension option and the total
future undiscounted cash flows over the non-cancellable
period amounted to RMB17497000.

e

AEETEHITUMAERELES
ZHEBEE- R B —FR"Z"
TE+"_A=+—H EfEEHES
B0 R EZEREERZ
FEHAHEE S BB

RN _E_—F+_B=+—H =
ST ET IR EARBBZMA
BE-REZEF+ZA=+—8>
REBAB—BEHRERAZWAEL]
YHAE A EEE R A3FE ) W AT
HAEEIE R Al EA 2 R AR R Bh
RIRSREAREEA ARKE17497000
FTo
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

53. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

352

(a)

In addition to those related party transactions and

HE_Z—

balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following

(a)

53. RNt AR5S

—&+=A=+—HiEE

PRz G BRREMIBOPR

WEE Z R 75 2 5 RS R Sh 0

FEEREFRNEERBLS A

material transactions with its related parties during MTFEARXRS :
the year:
2021 2020
—_E-—F “ETEHF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AREFTT
Technology services fee paid to BN —EREBAEZ
a related company ATRBE - (1,188)
Dividend income from an associate RE—EBEABZ
Iz B - 3,625
Loan to an employee B—%EEFHZER 500 -
Loans to a related company FAE—EEBAT
during the year EHZ B
— Principal borrowed during the year —FRBAZERE - 500
— Repayment during the year —FREXR - (1,300)
Advertising service fee received from  B—E B A BUWEZ
a related company EER%E 566 2,915
Revenue from a related company RE—EEAB AR 2 WaE 4,901 6,031
Revenue from an associate RKE—EHBE AT 2 WS - 516
Administrative expenses paid to a non- B —REM B AT FEIERE
controlling interest of a subsidiary Bz ITHHX (1,928) (1,684)
Commission paid to associates BEUBMEAR 2 HE (4,401) (2,293)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

53. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conta)

(b)

(c)

On 1 March 2021, a subsidiary of the Group,
Beijing Gaohuitong, entered into an agreement
with a related company, to provide payment
service to this related company with nil
consideration.

The remuneration of directors and other members
of senior management during the year was as
follows:

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

53. FBAEtARH @

(b)

(c)

NZEZ—F=B—H &&
Br—EHBABRLRSE
BB AR L
UEREBZEAR AR RHE
SATERFS

ESkHMSHREEAER
FRZFHEMT

2021 2020

T CZTIZTHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AR®TFIT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances TETEAL R 2R, 19,998 25,418

Equity-settled share-based payments P&#E4E & I& 10 S 718 9,275 23,725
Retirement benefit scheme RIREA ST B HRR

contribution 364 235

29,637 49,378

54. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD 54. iREHIBSEMH

(a)

PEAEARAH

On 11 January 2022, the Company entered into
placing agreement with a placing agent in respect
of 810,792,000 new shares of the Company to
be allotted and issued at HK$0.385 per shares.
The placing was completed on 18 January 2022
and the net proceeds from the placings was
approximately HK$309.01 million. Details are set
forth in the Company’s announcements dated 11
January 2022 and 18 January 2022.

e

(a)

RZZEZ_-_F#—H+—8>
KRB E—ZEERIEMZL
FPR0.385B T T K
1722810,792,0008% 22 B #
RO ETIIEkEEmZE -BER
R_E - _F—HF+/\HE
R EREMSREFENS
309,010,0008 7T  sE 1B H N
XABHBHAE T - _F—
B+—HEZE-__F—H8
+N\BZAE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

54. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

354

(b)

(c)

(d)

On 21 January 2022, a subsidiary of the Group,
signed shareholder agreement and capital
injection agreement with Company | and its
existing shareholders for acquiring Company's |
of approximately 16.7% of equity interest with a
consideration of RMB10 million.

On 19 January 2022, Hangzhou Youzan paid
RMB10 million for acquiring certain preferred
shares of Company J.

On 22 February 2022, the Company announced
to grant 350,845,480 Awarded Shares under
the Share Award Scheme to 716 employees of
the Group. The same number of new shares of
the Company were allotted and issued to the
Trustee on 2 March 2022 at the issuing price
of HK$0.28 each. Provided that the selected
employees providing continuous service to the
Group, the aforementioned awards will fully vest
on 30 September 2023 or at the attainment of
certain key performance index targets, whichever
is earlier. Details are set forth in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 February 2022.

HE_ S _—F+_A=1+—HI=EFE

54, FMEHHEZEH @

(b)

(c)

(d)

RIE2EZZHF—BZ+—8>
—EAREENB AR ERE
REREREZEZERE HH
FoFEWZ  MKERARIZ
216.7%KR#E AEBEAARE
10,000,0007T °

ATECCHFE—RB+HAB )
MNBEESZ T ARTE10,000,000
TUWRBEATIZ0.9% 8 %

fg°

RWIEZZHF”"RB”-+=H>
KNNF)EHIRIERMD R &
B AER7TI6CLEERTE
350,846,4800% #Z BN IR 17 - 48
B#EBZARABMBMHER
“EC_EFEZRAHAMUER
EE0.28B T 2 BT B K
BOFZEAMEERERED
AEBEREFERT > Lol
BN —_E-_=FnB=+
HZ® R ERE TREBENIE
BeXHaEE (UREEAS
) cHBHEHNAATBHES
_EC_F-HA-+"HzZ

INEE
AN =
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FHEHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=+—ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--F “Z°%2FE “Z-hF ZEBE-N\EFE “ZT—+tE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
RESULT E
Revenue W 1,569,991 1,820,723 1,168,857 586,287 179,761
Cost of sales HEMA (617728)  (738,639) (575,455) (388,076) (157187)
Gross profit £ 952,263 1,082,084 593,402 198,211 22,574
Investment and other income BEREMBA 63,786 76,937 29,727 18,523 1,324
Other gains and losses, net Hitnlis &R E518 35 (2,186,924) 1,569 (198,992) (40,284) 38,790
Selling expenses HERY (959,106) (781,882) (543,215) (182,366} (20,594)
Administrative expenses THAX (355,312)  (241,4398) (196,797) (190,118) (104,359)
Equity-settled share-based payments fe s B R in 2 (TFIE (53,130) (62,197) (136,428) (250,148) (18,891)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE (124,964) (193,143) (193,366) (136,310) 1,673
Other operating expenses A8 EmR% (609,294)  (445165)  (349,927)  (189,589) (36,225)
Loss from operations BEEE (3,252,681) (563,235 (995596  (772,081) (115,708)
Finance costs HHME (22,642) (27:886) (22,044) - -
Share of losses of associates, net EIEBE AT 2R B (217) (1,161) 5,289 (12) (1,517)
Fair value change in financial assets at fair AT AT ATTERE
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (B RAFESAEERZR) 2
UHREEZ AT EES 23,758 - - - -
LOSS BEFORE TAX [E3n) o] (3,251,782)  (592,282)  (1,012,351)  (772,093) (117225)
Income tax (expenses)/credit sk () /% (41,238) 46,629 96,782 46,186 393
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FREE (3,292,020)  (545,653) (915,569) (725,907) (116,832)
TEEEERAT —T - F4H 3565



FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FFIAEEE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=+—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EC-F B2 %E “ZT-NFE “EF-N\FE 5—tE&E
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Attributable to: MNTFALEEESS
Owners of the Company EUNSIEZZPN (2,509,498)  (294,671) (591,874)  (431,459) (97027)
Non-controlling interests JEER R (783522)  (250,982) (323,695  (294,448) (19,805)
(3,293,020)  (545,653) (915,569)  (725,907) (116,832)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE AERIEERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,872,975 12,212,480 10,498,860 6,683,935 1,159,690
TOTAL LIABILITIES Bes (5536,152)  (7582,381)  (6,599,813)  (2,799,469) (133,216)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS El32 g (9,643) 771,304 240,579 556,027 (8,120)
356
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